Copyright

by

Daniel M. Kircher

2017

The Dissertation Committee for Daniel M. Kircher Certifies that this is the approved version of the following dissertation:

ETHANOL EXPERIENCE ELICITS CIRCUIT SPECIFIC ADAPTATIONS OF VENTRAL HIPPOCAMPAL-ACCUMBENS GLUTAMATERGIC SIGNALING

Committee:

Richard A. Morrisett, Supervisor

R. Adron Harris

Rueben A. Gonzales

Boris Zemelman

ETHANOL EXPERIENCE ELICITS CIRCUIT SPECIFIC ADAPTATIONS OF VENTRAL HIPPOCAMPAL-ACCUMBENS GLUTAMATERGIC SIGNALING

by

Daniel M. Kircher

Dissertation

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of

The University of Texas at Austin

in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

The University of Texas at Austin December, 2017

Dedication

To Margaret, the light of my life, without her steadfast support and love this work may never have been completed. To Ruby, an amazing friend and faithful companion; you will be missed.

Acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge my dissertation committee members for their time and effort on my behalf:

Richard A. Morrisett, Ph.D.R. Adron Harris, Ph.D.Reuben A. Gonzales, Ph.D.Boris Zemelman, Ph.D.

I would like to acknowledge my supervisor Dr. Richard A. Morrisett for accepting me into his lab. In addition for providing some life lessons on attitude and drive, at times much to his chagrin I am sure.

I would like to acknowledge current and former members of the Morrisett lab for their training and support and for generally helping to make me better as a scientist: Tavanna Buske M.S., Heather Aziz M.S., Rafael Renteria Ph.D., Esther Maier Ph.D., Regina Mangieri Ph.D., Daniela Carrizales, and Joel Shillinglaw. With special thanks to Rafael Renteria Ph.D. and Esther Maier Ph.D. for helping to train me in electrophysiology.

I would like to acknowledge the support I received from the Waggoner Center for Alcohol and Addiction Research for supplemental financial support and funding for three years via the Bruce-Jones Fellowship. Finally I would like to acknowledge my friends and my family for supporting me every step of the way along this, at times difficult, process of completing my doctorate.

ETHANOL EXPERIENCE ELICITS CIRCUIT SPECIFIC ADAPTATIONS OF VENTRAL HIPPOCAMPAL-ACCUMBENS GLUTAMATERGIC SIGNALING

Daniel M. Kircher, Ph.D.

The University of Texas at Austin, 2017

Supervisor: Richard A. Morrisett

The purpose of this study was to determine the effects of ethanol exposure and consumption on the expression of plasticity of D1 dopamine receptor expressing (D1R) medium spiny neurons (MSNs) in the nucleus accumbens (NAc) shell receiving glutamatergic input solely from the ventral hippocampus (vHipp). Drd1a-tdTomato mice on a C57BL/6J background were injected bilaterally in the vHipp with a viral vector in order to express channelrhodopsin (ChR2) in vHipp terminals that synapse onto shell D1R-MSNs. Blue LED light stimulation was used to selectively depolarize ChR2 expressing vHipp terminals in the NAc shell, resulting in light-evoked EPSCs originating from vHipp. In voltage clamp experiments, we found that an induction protocol pairing 1 Hz blue light stimulation with postsynaptic membrane depolarization produced LTD in the vHipp to NAc circuit that is NMDA receptor dependent. In this study we found acute application of ethanol in vitro uniquely alters plasticity in the vHipp to NAc circuit. Low to moderate intoxicating concentration of ethanol blocked light evoked LTD expression which is in contrast to previous observations. Ethanol consumption in rodents impaired vHipp-Shell plasticity as well as resulted in altered glutamatergic signaling, and the insertion of Ca2+ permeable AMPA receptors (CPARs) D1R-MSNs post synaptic

membranes. These findings suggest that the vHipp to NAc circuit is highly sensitive to ethanol treatment and may constitute a critical neuroadaptation that leads to the expression of ethanol dependence.

Table of Contents

List of Figures xiii
List of Illustrationsxv
CHAPTER 1:
BACKGROUND1
Alcohol1
Alcohol dependence1
Societal impact
current treatment approaches
models of alcohol dependence
Human Alcohol Use Phenotypes6
Laboratory Animal phenotypes7
mesocorticolimbic system and reward9
Dopamine9
Nucleus Accumbens10
drug reward13
synaptic plasticity and drug dependence14
Synaptic Plasticity Mechanisms15
Excitatory Signaling15
Long-term Potentiation17
Long-term Depression17
Presynaptic LTD
Plasticity in the Nucleus Accumbens
Nucleus Accumbens Plasticity and Drug Dependence
Psychostimulants
Ethanol25
Differential role of MSN subtypes in plasticity and addiction26
The Ventral Hippocampus

Ventral hippocampal input to the nucleus accumbens and adaptations to drug exposure
Representative Brain Slices for Electrophysiological Recordings
Hypothesis and Aims
Overall Project Rationale
Specific Aims
Chapter 2:42
Ventral Hippocampal-Nucleus Accumbens Shell Glutamatergic Signaling Is Altered By In <i>Vitro</i> and <i>In Vivo</i> Ethanol Exposure42
Abstract
Introduction43
Methods46
Animals46
Stereotaxic Injections
Two Bottle Choice Drinking47
Chronic Intermittent Ethanol48
Blood Ethanol Concentrations
Brain Slice Preparation49
Patch Clamp Electrophysiology49
Data Acquisition and Analysis50
Results
Optogenetic isolation of the ventral hippocampal to NAc shell input is capable of expressing LTD and this opto-LTD is NMDA receptor dependent
Acute <i>in vitro</i> ethanol exposure inhibits ventral hippocampal-accumbal glutamatergic plasticity
CIE vapor exposure induced escalation of volitional ethanol intake in mice
Ethanol consumption and CIE induced escalation of intake disrupts ventra hippocampal-accumbal glutamatergic plasticity54
Ethanol consumption does not alter ventral hippocampal-accumbal NMDA receptor activity

Ethanol consumption alters Ventral hippo signaling	ocampal-Accumbal glutamatergic
Ethanol consumption leads to the insertion AMPARs into ventral hippocampus	on of calcium permeable s-accumbal D1R-MSN synapses
discussion	
Accumbal Plasticity as an Engram of Dep	pendence67
Increases in ventral hippocampal-Accum alterations in AMPAR expression	bal Glutamatergic Signaling and
Chapter 3:	71
Other Works in the Lab: Accumbal Plasticity as an F Probability	Engram of Alcohol Use
Abstract	71
Introduction	72
Lentiviral mediated disruption of GluA2 Subur Modulates CIE-Enhanced Ethanol Intake	nit AMPAR Internalization
Methods	77
Animals	77
Stereotaxic injections	77
Two Bottle Choice	
Chronic Intermittent Ethanol	
Blood ethanol concentrations	
Brain slice preparation	80
Patch clamp electrophysiology	80
Data acquisition and analysis	
Results	
Lentiviral expression of a peptide m GluA2 AMPAR subunits prev LTD	nimic of the C-terminus tail of vented expression of NMDAR-
Viral mediated GluA2-3Y peptide e escalations in ethanol consum	expression disrupts CIE induced ption after a period of abstinence.
Discussion	

Examination of Accumbal plasticity in a genetic mouse model of binge-like drinking
Methods
Animals
Stereotaxic Surgery for labeling D1R-MSNs
Chronic Intermittent Ethanol
Blood ethanol concentrations
Brain slice preparation90
Patch clamp electrophysiology90
Data acquisition and analysis91
Results
Ethanol naïve HDID and HS/NPt mice do not differ in the passive properties of NAc Shell D1R-MSNs or basal glutamatergic signaling in the accumbens
CIE vapor exposure enhances excitability of NAc Shell D1R-MSNs in both HDID and HS/NPt mice93
CIE vapor exposure alters accumbal glutamatergic signaling and differentially alters synaptic plasticity in HDID and HS/NPt mice
Discussion97
Chapter 4100
Concluding remarks and future direction100
References111

List of Figures

Figure 1. A diagram of the experimental design and optical low frequency
stimulation paired with membrane depolarization of D1R-MSNs induces
NMDAR-LTD in vHipp-Shell circuit60
Figure 2. Acute <i>in vitro</i> ethanol exposure abolishes the expression of NMDAR-LTD
in glutamatergic plasticity of vHipp-Shell D1R-MSNs61
Figure 3. CIE vapor exposure induced escalation of ethanol intake. In vivo ethanol
consumption reduced the magnitude of glutamatergic plasticity (Air) and
CIE-enhanced intake abolished glutamatergic plasticity of vHipp-Shell
D1R-MSNs62
Figure 4. Ethanol experience enhances glutamatergic signaling in vHipp-Shell
circuit
Figure 5. Ethanol experience enhances presynaptic glutamatergic signaling but not
NMDAR function64
Figure 6. Ethanol experience results in the insertion of CPARs into vHipp-Shell
synapses65
Figure 7. Viral mediated expression of the GluA2-3Y peptide blocks NMDAR-LTD
expression in D1R-MSNs of the NAc shell
Figure 8. GluA2 c-terminus peptide mimic disrupts CIE induced enhancement in
ethanol consumption after an abstinence period
Figure 9. CIE vapor exposure enhances excitability of D1R-MSNs from HDID and
HS/NPt mice94
Figure 10. CIE vapor exposure results in differential expression in NMDAR-LTD in
D1R-MSNs from HDID and HS/NPt mice

Figure 11. CIE vapor exposure does not altered paired pulse ratio of EPSCs in either	
HDID or HS/NPt animals96	
Figure 12. CIE vapor exposure enhances sEPSC frequency in D1R-MSNs from	
HDID and HS/NPt mice97	

List of Illustrations

Illustration 1. Induction and expression of NMDAR-dependent synaptic depr	ession.
	19
Illustration 2 . Alterations in accumbal plasticity following different ethanol	
experiences	30
Illustration 3. Representative sagittal brain slices containing the nucleus accu	mbens
	34

CHAPTER 1: BACKGROUND

ALCOHOL

The alcohols are a class of organic hydrocarbon compounds which contain a hydroxyl moiety (e.g. functional group). Ethanol, or ethyl alcohol, is frequently referred to by the lay public as "alcohol" and consists solely of two-carbon alcohol. It is a highly volatile, flammable, colorless liquid with a slight characteristic odor and is the sole alcohol fermented and distilled for alcoholic beverage consumption by humans. Ethanol is a psychoactive drug which humans have produced and consumed since the Neolithic Era over 7000 years ago (Chrzan, 2013). Alcohol consumption plays an extraordinarily important behavioral, pharmacological, economic and societal role and constitutes one of one of the most widely used and abused psychoactive agents by humankind.

ALCOHOL DEPENDENCE

Drug dependence is a chronically relapsing disorder that is characterized by three main domains (1) compulsion to seek out and take a drug, (2) loss of control in limiting intake of that drug, and (3) the emergence of a negative emotional state (e.g., dysphoria or anxiety) typical of a motivational withdrawal syndrome when drug access is prevented (Koob & Volkow, 2010). Loss of control of drug use is a hallmark of drug dependence and is clinically separate from limited, occasional use, of an abusable drug (Koob & Le Moal, 1997). It is important to note that excessive drug use (i.e. alcohol abuse) does not always lead to alcohol dependence. Alcohol abuse and dependence exist on a continuum

whereby excessive alcohol intake in alcohol abusing individuals can lead to alcohol dependence in those individuals. Alcohol dependence consists of two major components: (1) a genetic predisposition, whereby 40-60% of the vulnerability to dependence can be attributed to genetic factors (Goldman et al., 2005; Hiroi & Agatsuma, 2005) and (2) the abuse component, whereby excessive alcohol consumption leads to dysregulation or alteration of the function of brain signaling systems that manifest themselves into the drug dependent behavioral state.

According to the Center for Disease Control (CDC, 2012) more than 50% of Americans over the age of 18 consume alcohol regularly and approximately 1/3 of 18-24 year olds meet the criteria for an alcohol use disorder (AUD) (National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism [NIAAA], 2005). As of 2012 around 17 million adults ages 18 and older had an AUD and an estimated 855,000 adolescents could be diagnosed with an AUD (NIAAA). According to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 5th edition (DSM-V) a person can be diagnosed with an AUD if they exhibit behavior across a number of loci. These loci include: 1) prolonged or excessive alcohol use, 2) persistent desire or unsuccessful efforts to control use, 3) excessive time allocated to use and seeking of alcohol, 4) craving or a strong desire to use, 5) neglecting responsibilities in order to use, 6) continued use despite negative consequences, 7) giving up normal activities in order to use, 8) use during physically hazardous conditions, 9) use despite physical or psychological issues caused or exacerbated by use, 10) formation of tolerance to the effects of alcohol, and 11) expression of withdrawal symptoms. Anyone meeting any two of these 11 criteria during the same 12 month period can receive a diagnosis of an AUD. The severity of an AUD can be classified as mild (2-3 symptoms), moderate (4-5), or severe (6 or more) depending on the number of criteria met.

SOCIETAL IMPACT

Excessive alcohol consumption is associated with a number of serious health related problems that include but are not limited to: liver cirrhosis, forms of cancer, unintentional injuries, violence, and fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. According to the CDC (2004) excessive alcohol consumption is responsible for on average 79,000 deaths, and 2.3 million years of potential life lost each year in the US. Deaths from alcohol use include over 19,000 from alcoholic liver disease and over 30,000 alcohol-induced deaths, excluding accidents and homicides that occur per year (CDC, 2004). All told alcohol related deaths are the third leading cause of preventable death in the United States (Mokdad et al., 2004). In addition to the lives lost due to excessive alcohol consumption there is a high economic burden produced by excessive use. Some of these costs are related to increased healthcare costs, increased crime and criminal justice system costs, and lost worker productivity via missed work or diminished work output. The economic cost of excessive drinking has been conservatively estimated to be over \$220 billion dollars per year, on a per capita basis costing approximately \$746 per person (Bouchery et al., 2011). These costs have significantly increased compared to prior estimates of \$148 billion and \$184.6 billion from 1992 and 1998 (Harwood et al., 1999) suggesting that costs are increasing year to year. Given the high societal cost of AUD in the United States, our government should devote more resources and funding towards both treating individuals who suffer from an AUD and working to prevent excessive alcohol intake.

CURRENT TREATMENT APPROACHES

As stated above approximately 17 million adults in the United States have been diagnosed with an AUD. Unfortunately only a paltry 20% of AUD sufferers seek treatment for their alcohol abuse or dependence (Cohen et al., 2007; Dawson et al., 2005;

Huebner & Kantor, 2011). A significant impediment to treatment of alcohol dependent individuals is that complete termination of alcohol use, or going "cold turkey", can produce seizures in these dependent individuals. Ethanol is a potent modulator of inhibitory GABA signaling within the brain (Kumar et al., 2009). Repeated excessive ethanol use results in a downregulation of inhibitory signaling. During withdrawal from ethanol there is an upregulation of excitatory signaling coupled with a dearth of inhibitory signaling which results in a signaling imbalance that predisposes an ethanol dependent individual to seizures. Benzodiazepines, allosteric modulators of GABA_A receptors, are the primary treatment given to dependent individuals to prevent withdrawal induced seizures. While these pharmacological agents are effective at preventing withdrawal seizures they are not effective at maintaining abstinence from alcohol and their use is contraindicated with alcohol consumption as they have a potentially synergistic effect on inhibitory signaling. This synergistic effect can lead to enhanced effects of alcohol, in particular inhibition of the respiratory system leading to death.

There have been several pharmacotherapies that have at least some efficacy in promoting abstinence from ethanol consumption in humans. Currently there are three FDA approved pharmacotherapies to treat AUD patients. These therapies fall into two main types of treatments: aversive medications, a drug in this category is meant to deter a patient from drinking, and anti-craving drugs, which are meant to reduce a patients desire to drink.

Disulfiram (Antabuse) is an alcohol dehydrogenase inhibitor and is the primary aversive medication used in treatment. When disulfiram is onboard subsequent consumption of alcohol will result in a build-up of acetaldehyde causing a negative aversive reaction in the user. Unfortunately the effectiveness of this treatment is limited to compliant patients (Chick et al., 1992) as many patients will stop taking disulfiram due to its negative effects.

One of the two main anti-craving drugs is acamprosate (Campral) which is believed to be a partial agonist for the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor; however the exact mechanism of therapeutic action is in debate. Acamprosate has been approved for use in Europe since 1989 and was approved by the FDA in 2004. There is some evidence that Acamprosate treatment has some ability to aid the maintenance of abstinence although findings have been mixed (Bouza et al., 2004; Mann et al., 2004). The other main anti-craving agent is naltrexone which is a mu opioid antagonist that was FDA approved in 1994. Naltrexone is believed to suppress the rewarding properties of alcohol via its effect on the opioid receptor. naltrexone treatment has been shown to reduce the number of drinks consumed as well as heavy drinking days (Anton et al., 2006; O'Malley et al., 1992; Pettinati et al., 2006). This suggests that naltrexone may be a useful adjunct in a harm reduction strategy employed for mild AUD sufferers or individuals that abuse ethanol. However, evidence suggests that Naltrexone is less effective for the maintenance of alcohol abstinence (Assanangkornchai & Srisurapanont, 2007).

Another therapeutic approach has been to use a combination of these approved drugs; for example the combination of acamprosate and naltrexone may be a more effective treatment then either alone (Anton et al., 2006; Kiefer et al., 2003). Acamprosate and disulfiram is another combination therapy that appears to be more effective than using a single drug (Besson et al., 1998). While all three of the FDA approved drugs listed here have shown some efficacy in a subpopulation of patients that suffer from an AUD, these drugs leave much to be desired in the ability to prevent

relapse and maintain abstinence. New pharmacological targets are needed in order to find effective pharmacotherapies that assist AUD patients in preventing relapse.

MODELS OF ALCOHOL DEPENDENCE

Human Alcohol Use Phenotypes

Alcoholism is a neuroadaptive disorder; repeated series of exposure and withdrawal from ethanol produce neural adaptations that lead to a persistent negative affective state as well as an alteration in the function of key motivation systems within the brain. These adaptations underlie excessive alcohol drinking and relapse following periods of abstinence. In the United States the most common drinking pattern seen in individuals who abuse ethanol is binge drinking. According to the NIAAA (2004) binge drinking is the consumption of 5 or more drinks for men and 4 or more drinks for women within a 2 hour period. This pattern of consumption readily produces blood ethanol concentrations (BECs) greater than 0.08% or 80 mg/dL which is considered the legal limit for intoxication within the United States. Excessive alcohol use is a hallmark exhibited in human AUD and any animal model employed should exhibit an excessive ethanol intake phenotype.

In humans, acute withdrawal from alcohol use produces a generalized nervous system hyperexcitability. This hyperactivity within the brain can lead to tremors, seizures, and autonomic nervous system hyperactivity. Following withdrawal, individuals can undergo periods of abstinence where they may display anxiety, low mood, and disturbed sleep. In protracted abstinence minor or normally insignificant challenges can produce negative affect and craving which can lead to relapse (Sinha & Li, 2007).

Laboratory Animal phenotypes

The critical phenotypes that animal models of AUD should exhibit are excessive voluntary intake of ethanol to a level that produces intoxication and relapse, or behaviors that mimic relapse following periods of withdrawal or abstinence. In the past a major impediment to producing valid animal models of AUD is that many rodents will not voluntarily consume sufficient quantities of ethanol to generate the blood ethanol concentrations necessary to produce dependence. However, in the past few decades there have been a number of approaches to generate animals that model excessive alcohol intake. Some examples of animal models that display these phenotypes include ethanol exposure procedures designed to increase self-administration of ethanol and selective breeding for ethanol intake,

In animal and clinical studies the amount and duration of alcohol exposure play a critical role in the development of dependence and the expression of withdrawal (Finn & Crabbe, 1997). One of the major behavioral approaches used to increase volitional intake is through limited access paradigms. These paradigms involve animals being given repeated access to ethanol for a limited amount of time determined by the experimenter. There is evidence that a greater severity of withdrawal symptoms is consistently observed when chronic ethanol exposure is delivered in an intermittent rather than continuous fashion (Becker, 1998). These restricted access paradigms typically occur during some portion of the animals dark cycle as rodents are nocturnal and consumption behaviors are greatest during their dark cycle (Rhodes et al., 2005). Drinking in the dark (DID) is a limited access model of binge drinking. Animals are given access to a 20% ethanol solution for a 2 hour period that starts 3 hours into their dark cycle. Ethanol consumption is measured for 3 consecutive days and on the 4th day animals have their access increased

to a 4 hour period. BECs are measured immediately after the 4 hour access on the final day. Using this model animals that consume ethanol will achieve BECs greater than 100mg/dL and exhibit behavioral evidence of intoxication (Thiele & Navarro, 2014).

Another approach to generating laboratory animals that consume high quantities of ethanol is via selective breeding. Selective breeding for a high drinking phenotype has been used to successfully produce lines of mice that display some aspects of alcohol dependence such as excessive ethanol consumption or high BECs. The C57BL/6J mouse strain in particular has been well established to voluntarily consume high doses of ethanol, whereas other strains such as the DBA/2J strain will avoid alcohol (Rosenwasser & Fixaris, 2013; Shelton & Grant, 2002; Yoneyama et al., 2008). Another line of selectively bred mice that exhibit high BECs are the high drinking in the dark (HDID) mice. Mice that exhibited high BECs following the DID procedure were selectively bred together. Subsequent generations of these mice consume excessive quantities of ethanol in the DID paradigm and have high BECs following limited accesses to ethanol (Barkley-Levenson & Crabbe, 2014), these mice may be useful for genetic analysis of the binge drinking phenotype.

While the drinking models discussed thus far are capable of analyzing a dependent individual's progress to sustained high levels of ethanol consumption, they have not been designed to determine how the subjects become dependent. One approach to inducing dependence in laboratory animals is through the use of ethanol vapor inhalation, termed chronic intermittent ethanol (CIE) vapor exposure. CIE involves an intermittent pattern of four 16 hour bouts of ethanol vapor exposure interspersed by 8 hour withdrawal periods. This approach has been shown to reliably model the escalation in ethanol intake that occurs in humans who suffer from AUD and is considered a model

for the formation of alcohol dependence in laboratory animals. (Becker & Lopez, 2004; Griffin et al., 2009; Griffin Iii et al., 2009). Several studies in mice have demonstrated increased alcohol responding or drinking in dependent compared with non-dependent animals (Chu et al., 2007; Dhaher et al., 2008; O'Dell et al., 2004; Rimondini et al., 2002; Roberts et al., 2000; Sommer et al., 2008).

The enhanced ethanol consumption during withdrawal in dependent animals is capable of producing BECs and brain ethanol levels that are directly comparable to levels that are seen following forced chronic procedures (Griffin Iii et al., 2009; Roberts et al., 2000). Similar to what has been observed in human AUD, animals with prior ethanol dependence exhibit exaggerated sensitivity to the effect of ethanol associated cues as well as stressors that enhance alcohol-seeking behavior (Xiu Liu & Weiss, 2003; Sommer et al., 2008). This exaggerated sensitivity is persistent and has been observed up to several months after the last ethanol exposure (Becker & Lopez, 2004; Sommer et al., 2008; Valdez et al., 2002). These findings support the idea that during periods of abstinence, there is an enhancement in the biological substrates that underlie relapse which in turn perpetuates the addicted state.

MESOCORTICOLIMBIC SYSTEM AND REWARD

Dopamine

Dopamine is a neurotransmitter released from neurons in the midbrain region called the ventral tegmental area (VTA). The VTA has extensive projections to regions known to be involved in reward processing and guiding goal-directed behaviors (Grace et al., 2007; Ikemoto, 2007; Wise, 2004). There are 5 dopamine receptor subtypes; the signaling of each is mediated by G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs). The dopamine

receptor subtypes are grouped into 2 main classes based on the G-protein that the receptor is coupled with (Neve et al., 2004). The Dopamine D1-like family, which includes the D1 and D5 receptors, is coupled to G_s and G_{olf} proteins. Activation of these receptors leads to the activation of adenylyl cyclase (AC) and subsequent increases in protein kinase A (PKA) activity, increases in in PKA activity are generally excitatory. The other family of dopamine receptors is the D2-like family, which includes the D2, D3, and D4 receptors. These receptors are coupled to G_{i/o} proteins. Activation of D2-like receptors leads to inhibition of AC and subsequent decreased PKA activity which is generally inhibitory. D2 receptors G-protein activation can also lead to the activation of G protein coupled inwardly rectifying potassium (GIRK) channels. Activation of GIRK associated D2 receptors leads to the opening of the GIRK channel resulting in potassium influx into a cell thereby hyperpolarizing the cell. One of the main targets of VTA dopamine projections is the nucleus accumbens (NAc). It has been shown that activation of D2 receptors potently inhibits neurons within the NAc (O'Donnell & Grace, 1996). It has also been shown that D1 receptor stimulation potentiates glutamatergic, the main excitatory neurotransmitter, drive onto NAc neurons thereby increasing activation of these neurons (C. Cepeda et al., 1998). In addition, locally applied antagonist for the dopamine receptors indicate that D2 antagonism increases NAc neuron firing whereas D1 antagonism decreases cell excitability in the NAc (West & Grace, 2002).

Nucleus Accumbens

The NAc is part of the ventral striatal complex and is the site where cortical and alocortical information is integrated with motivational signals derived from limbic regions. The NAc's output is responsible for regulating appropriate goal-directed behaviors (Groenewegen et al., 1999; Mogenson et al., 1980; Nicola et al., 2000; Wise, 2004). The NAc receives excitatory glutamatergic afferents primarily from the hippocampus, basolateral amygdala (BLA), cerebral cortex, and thalamus. The primary projection from the NAc is to the ventral pallidum. The NAc can be divided into two main sub sections, the core and the shell (Humphries & Prescott, 2010b).

The core is the central region surrounding the anterior commissure (AC) and is located beneath and is morphologically similar to the dorsal striatum (Zahm & Brog, 1992). The projections from the core are primarily to the dorsolateral portion of the ventral pallidum, the entopeduncular nucleus and to the substantia nigra. The core is innervated by the dorsal portions of the prelimbic cortex and the dorsal agranular insular areas (Brog et al., 1993). The core also receives projections from the anterior portion of the BLA (Groenewegen et al., 1999) and the dorsal subiculum (Brog et al., 1993). The shell of the NAc occupies the most ventral and medial portions of the region (Zahm & Brog, 1992).

The shell projects to VTA dopamine cells that in turn project to the core. The shell is innervated by the ventral portion of the prelimbic, infralimbic, medial orbital, and agranular insular corticies (Berendse et al., 1992; Brog et al., 1993). The shell also receives input from the posterior portion of the BLA (Wright et al., 1996) as well as a preferential projection from the ventral subiculum of the hippocampus (Brog et al., 1993; Groenewegen et al., 1987). There is a medial to lateral series of spiraling projections that allow limbic associated structures to influence neurotransmission in successively more motor-related parts of the basal circuitry (i.e. moving from NAc shell, to core, and finally to the dorsal striatum) (Haber et al., 2000; Susan R. Sesack & Grace, 2010).

There are four main cell types expressed in the NAc: 1) giant aspiny cholinergic neurons, 2) medium aspiny GABAergic neurons which are fast spiking neurons

colocalized with parvalbumin, 3) low threshold spiking neurons that express nitric oxide, somatostatin, and neuropeptide Y (NPY), and 4) Medium Spiny Neurons (MSNs). MSNs are GABAergic and are the primary neurons expressed in the shell and core, composing roughly 90-95% of the cells in these regions (Meredith, 1999). Projecting axons, from MSNs, have local collaterals that contact dendrites of neighboring MSNs and are capable of lateral inhibition (Wilson & Groves, 1980). A critical characteristic of MSNs is their bistable membrane potential which includes both an "upstate" at about -50 mV and a "downstate" at about -80 mV (O'Donnell & Grace, 1995). Inputs from the hippocampus are a critical driver for depolarization of the membrane of the cell towards the -50 mV "upstate". This change in potential is crucial for the cell to fire. Population activity in the ventral hippocampus (vHipp) is correlated with the upstate in NAc neurons (Goto & O'Donnell, 2001b). In the depolarized upstate, MSNs display a greater excitability. Excitatory transmission from other inputs such as the prefrontal cortex (PFC) and the amygdala are capable of initiating action potentials (APs) during the upstate generated by vHipp activity (O'Donnell et al., 1999). It has been postulated that ensembles of NAc neurons simultaneously go into the depolarized upstate whenever a situation arises that demands the attention of the animal, this ensemble activation being the direct result of activation of attention related dopamine pathways (Goto & O'Donnell, 2001a).

There are two distinct sub families of MSNs within the NAc depending on dopamine receptor expression. These sub families include the D1 dopamine receptor expressing (D1R-MSNs) family and the D2 dopamine receptor expressing (D2R-MSNs) family. The D1R-MSNs are co-localized with the signaling peptides dynorphin and substance P, whereas D2R-MSNs are co-localized with enkephalin (X. Y. Lu et al., 1998; Zhou et al., 2003). D1R-MSNs and D2R-MSNs of the NAc have a similar projection

pattern to the direct and indirect pathways of the dorsal striatum (Humphries & Prescott, 2010a; Susan R. Sesack & Grace, 2010; Smith et al., 2013). In this pattern D1R-MSNs project to the substantia nigra pars reticulata and the VTA from the core and shell respectively, as well as to the ventral pallidum. Accumbens D2R-MSNs from the core and shell project primarily to the ventral pallidum. However, there have been recent findings that suggest that the classical direct and indirect pathway observed in the dorsal striatum is not exactly replicated in the NAc. This architecture does not apply to mouse NAc projection to the ventral pallidum (Kupchik et al., 2015).

DRUG REWARD

Most drugs of abuse, including ethanol, activate the mesocorticolimbic dopamine system and lead to an increase in extracellular dopamine in the NAc (Doyon et al., 2003; Imperato & Di Chiara, 1986; Weiss et al., 1993). Dopamine signals released by a given stimulus are thought to exert their influence on responses to subsequent stimuli that follow the initial triggering one. All drugs of abuse elicit, to some extent, an incentive arousal state as a result of their ability to increase extracellular dopamine in the NAc shell (Di Chiara et al., 2004). Dopamine released from the ventral tegmental area (VTA) has been described in a number of ways over the years. For instance it is believed that mesolimbic dopamine has a role as a motivational learning signal (Spanagel & Weiss, 1999); that dopamine is a signal of pathological associative learning in addiction (Di Chiara, 2002); is a neural substrate of incentive salience (Berridge & Robinson, 2003); or is a signal that informs about the predictability of reward related to cues associated with drug availability (Fiorillo et al., 2003).

The mesocorticolimbic system is arranged in such a way that cortical neurons are likely promoters of goal-directed behaviors. In this general scheme, information from the vHipp provides spatial, contextual information, and emotional memories, the PFC provides executive control (including the ability of task switching and response inhibition), and the BLA communicates information regarding conditioned associations and emotional valance (Ambroggi et al., 2008; Gruber et al., 2009; Ito et al., 2008; Kalivas et al., 2005; M. E. Wolf, 2002). Therefore, cortical activation of the NAc direct circuits leads to disinhibition of appropriate action plans that facilitate reward acquisition whereas, cortical activation of indirect circuits is likely to inhibit motor plans that are maladaptive for obtaining reward (Mink, 1996; Redgrave et al., 1999, 2011).

The shell subregion of the NAc is critically involved in various aspects of drug reward (Ikemoto, 2007; Rodd-Henricks et al., 2002; Sellings & Clarke, 2003). The shell of the NAc can be considered the entryway for input into the striatum. There is evidence that the transition to an addicted state follows neural adaptations that occur first in the shell, then the NAc core, and finally in the dorsal striatum. The striatum of non-human primates is organized into a series of parallel circuits that are linked in an ascending spiral to the dorsal striatum (Haber et al., 2000). The architecture of these circuits is such that shell neurons project to core neurons which in turn project to dorsal striatum neurons; adaptations of these circuits produced by drugs of abuse are likely responsible for the transition from goal-directed to habitual behaviors during the development of drug dependence. Therefore, improving our understanding of the synaptic adaptations that underlie these neural circuit modifications could greatly improve our understanding of how these complex habitual behaviors are formed and expressed.

SYNAPTIC PLASTICITY AND DRUG DEPENDENCE

Synaptic plasticity of neural circuits allows for the reorganization of synapses in response to an ever changing environment. The two best characterized forms of synaptic plasticity are long-term potentiation (LTP) or long-term depression (LTD). Both are mechanisms for modulating synaptic strength in an experience-dependent manner. LTP involves a long lasting increase in synaptic strength. LTP was first described in the hippocampus where high frequency stimulation of the performant pathway inputs to the dentate gyrus resulted in a long-lasting enhancement of excitatory synaptic transmission (Bliss & Lomo, 1973). LTD is a long-lasting decrease in synaptic strength and the first reliable means of inducing this form of plasticity were described in 1992 involving depression of CA1 hippocampal cells following low frequency stimulation of the Schaffer collateral projection to CA1 (Dudek & Bear, 1992). Both of these processes are believed to be involved in learning and memory. The long lasting adaptations that are responsible for LTP can reinforce some inputs whereas the adaptations that underlie LTD can reduce inputs. Some of the major forms of synaptic plasticity, including their induction mechanisms, which have a known relationship to drug exposure, will be discussed below. These forms of plasticity have been observed in various brain regions of mouse, rats, and non-human primates.

Synaptic Plasticity Mechanisms

Excitatory Signaling

The majority of synapses that undergo LTP and LTD communicate using the excitatory amino acid, L-glutamate, as their neurotransmitter. Glutamate acts on a number of different receptors including: α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptors (AMPARs), N-methyl-D-aspartate (NDMA) receptors (NMDARs), kainate receptors, and metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs) (Collingridge et al., 2009). The majority of fast excitatory synaptic transmission is mediated by AMPARs. AMPARs are

ionotropic receptors composed of tetramers of the GluA1-4 subunits. Most AMPARs contain the GluA2 subunit which undergoes RNA editing that produces a glutamine (Q) to arginine (R) switch at the Q/R site of the pore-lining region. This RNA editing at the Q/R site is critical in the electrical properties of these receptors. GluA2-containing AMPARS have the positive arginine in the pore-line region that prevents calcium (Ca²⁺) influx as well as intracellular polyamines from blocking the pore at positive potentials which results in a linear (ohmic) current voltage relationship. In contrast, AMPARs that lack GluA2 subunits are Ca²⁺ permeable, have a higher conductance, and are blocked by endogenous intracellular polyamines in at high voltage potentials resulting in an inward rectifying current voltage relationship.

NMDARs are voltage activated cation channels which have slower kinetic properties compared to AMPARs. NMDARs are heterotetramers composed of two obligatory GluN1 subunits and two GluN2 subunits, of which there are 4 subtypes (GluN2A-D). NMDARs require binding of both glutamate and the co-agonist glycine in order for the channel to open. At resting membrane potentials, extracellular magnesium (Mg²⁺) blocks the receptor pore. Depolarization of the cell removes the Mg²⁺ block allowing cations including Ca²⁺ to enter the cell. In this way NMDARs act as coincident detectors; two inputs are required for NMDAR activation, sufficient postsynaptic depolarization and synaptic release of glutamate. Activation of NMDARs and the elevation of intracellular Ca²⁺ are critical for the induction of many forms of plasticity. NMDARs are triggers for synaptic plasticity; however, they do not determine the direction of change in synaptic efficacy. Activation of NMDARs can lead to LTP or LTD (C. Lüscher & Frerking, 2001).

Long-term Potentiation

NMDAR-dependent LTP is induced in experimental conditions via high frequency stimulation (HFS; 100 Hz), traditionally via afferent electrical tetanus stimulation. This stimulation pattern is believed to drive sufficient glutamate release to result in AMPAR mediated depolarization of the post synaptic neuron sufficient to remove the Mg²⁺ blockade and allow NMDARs to be activation. Activation of NMDARs during HFS allows Ca²⁺ to enter the postsynaptic cell. Elevation in postsynaptic Ca²⁺ leads to an intracellular signaling cascade that includes the activation of Ca²⁺-calmodulin kinase type II (CAMKII). Activation of CAMKII by Ca²⁺ ultimately results in the insertion of postsynaptic AMPRs into the membrane resulting heightened excitability and potentiation of the synapse (C. Lüscher & Frerking, 2001; Nicoll & Malenka, 1999) (Illustration 1).

Long-term Depression

NMDAR-dependent LTD can be experimentally induced using a weak activation of NMDARs, via low frequency stimulation (LFS, 1-3 Hz), traditionally using afferent electrical stimulation. LFS results in a small to moderate rise in intracellular Ca²⁺ levels (lower levels then HFS) which leads to a distinct intracellular signaling cascade than that of LTP. Ca²⁺ that enters the postsynaptic terminal via NMDARs, binds to calmodulin and leads to the activation of protein phosphatase 2B (PP2B, aka calcineurin). Calcineurin in turn dephosphorylates inhibitor-1, leading to the activation of protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) (Mulkey et al., 1993). Active PP1 is then capable of dephosphorylating serine845 on AMPAR subunit GluA1, which leads to the subsequent removal of these AMPRs from the synapse via a clathrin- and dynamin-dependent process (C. Lüscher et al., 1999; Selig et al., 1995). Active PP1 is also capable of targeting GluA2 subunit containing AMPARs for removal (Stockwell et al., 2016). The decrease in synaptic strength is due to the removal of postsynaptic AMPARs (Illustration #1). In the NAc the most well described form of NMDAR-LTD involves the removal of GluA2 subunit containing AMPARs. Following activation of PP1 Clathrin adaptor proteins, such as Brag2, bind to the C-terminus of the GluA2 subunit. The GluA2 expressing AMPAR is then internalized via a clathrin-coated vesicle with the assistance of dynamin proteins (Beattie et al., 2000; Malenka, 2003). This interaction of the adaptor proteins with the intracellular C-terminus of GluA2 subunits is critical for the expression of NMDAR-dependent LTD in the NAc. Disruption of this interaction is capable of preventing the expression of LTD (Brebner et al., 2005b; Jeanes et al., 2014a; Scholz et al., 2010).

A second major form of postsynaptic LTD is mGluR-dependent LTD. The canonical signaling pathway for this form of plasticity is via activation of group I mGluRs (G_q protein signaling) which leads to the hydrolysis of phosphatidylinositol to generate inositol triphosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol (DAG). IP3 and DAG can trigger a number of intracellular cascades including activation of protein kinase C (PKC) and release of Ca²⁺ from intracellular stores. This can lead to a decrease in synaptic strength through a variety of distinct mechanism including the removal of AMPARs form the postsynaptic membrane (Kauer & Malenka, 2007).



Illustration 1. Induction and expression of NMDAR-dependent synaptic depression.

A) Low-frequency conditioning stimulation paired with postsynaptic depolarization produces LTD of AMPAR-mediated EPSCs. This form of LTD relies on activation of NMDARs and influx of Ca2+. Ca2+ influx recruits clathrin and adaptor proteins to bind to the intracellular tail of the GluA2 subunit C-terminal, resulting in internalization of GluA2-containing AMPARs. (B) The artificial peptide GluA23Y mimics this tail of the GluA2 subunit, saturates adaptor proteins, prevents AMPAR internalization, and therefore occludes formation of LTD. Adapted with permission from *Renteria et al. Int. Rev. Neurobiology* 126 (2016) 441-465.

Presynaptic LTD

Presynaptic plasticity involves a long term decrease in the probability of neurotransmitter release. One of these forms of presynaptic LTD that is commonly observed in the NAc involves the activation of endocannabinoid (eCB) CB1 receptors (CB1Rs). CB1Rs are $G_{i/o}$ linked GPCRs and are the most abundant GPCR expressed in the brain. A rise in postsynaptic Ca²⁺ via activation of postsynaptic voltage gated Ca²⁺ Channels (VGCCs) or release from intracellular stores by activation of postsynaptic mGluRs leads to the production of eCB (Kauer & Malenka, 2007). These eCBs produced in the postsynaptic neuron are released and act as a retrograde signal that activates presynaptic CB1Rs. Activation of presynaptic CB1Rs results in a reduction in adenylyl cyclase and PKA activity that decreases vesicular release of neurotransmitter. In the NAc a prolonged moderate efferent electrical stimulation (13 Hz) induces eCB-LTD (Hoffman et al., 2003; Robbe, Kopf, et al., 2002).

Plasticity in the Nucleus Accumbens

NMDAR-dependent LTD is the most frequently reported form of synaptic plasticity observed in the NAc. Different patterns of LFS of synapses on NAc MSNs are capable of producing at least three forms of LTD in the NAc; induced by the different mechanism discussed above. The first form is the most commonly seen NMDAR-LTD (aka 1 Hz-LTD), requires activation of NMDARs, is induced via LFS (500 stimuli at 1 Hz) paired with postsynaptic depolarization to -50 mV. The reduction in synaptic strength is expressed via a reduction in postsynaptic AMPAR expression, in particular AMPARs expressing GluA2 subunits (Brebner et al., 2010; Jeanes et al., 2011a; Thomas & Morrisett, 2000). Two forms of presynaptic LTD, independent of NMDAR activation, have been observed in the NAc: 1) requires eCB signaling generated by postsynaptic

group I mGluR activation (Robbe, Kopf, et al., 2002); 2) is mediated by presynaptic mGluR2/3 activation that leads to the inhibition of Ca2+ channels via cAMP/PKA pathway and subsequent reduction in transmitter release (Robbe, Alonso, et al., 2002). The presynaptic forms of LTD are expressed as a decrease in glutamate release and are induced by higher frequency of LFS (10-13 Hz) than that used in 1Hz NMDAR-LTD.

These various forms of LTD and LTP have been reported at glutamatergic NAc MSN synapses (Cooper et al., 2017; Hikida et al., 2016; Christian Lüscher & Malenka, 2011a; Malenka, 2003; Morisot & Ron, 2017; Scofield et al., 2016; van Huijstee & Mansvelder, 2015; Marina E. Wolf, 2010), and it is believed that these long-term adaptations in efficacy of glutamatergic signals to the NAc contribute to optimization and shaping of its functions. According to the Artola-Brocher-Singer rule, induction of LTP or LTD depends on the ability of the postsynaptic membrane to reach different sequential thresholds that lead to the induction of either LTP or LTD (Artola & Singer, 1993). In the case of NMDAR-mediated increases in postsynaptic Ca2+ levels at least three potential concentrations can be reached: high Ca2+ (leading to LTP induction mechanisms), intermediate (no plasticity induction, or maintenance of current synaptic strength), or low Ca2+ (leading to LTD induction) (Cho et al., 2001). In this configuration glutamatergic input to the NAc can lead to various states of plasticity that may control the final output of signals from the NAc that function to gate salient information and ignore unwanted impulses through the activation or depression of target MSNs (Berretta et al., 2008). Abnormal behavior may result from a shift in the overall synaptic plasticity equilibrium present in the NAc produced by repeated exposure to drugs of abuse.
Nucleus Accumbens Plasticity and Drug Dependence

Synaptic plasticity in the NAc appears to be critical for encoding behavioral responses produced by repetitive drug exposure. As stated previously NAc MSNs are normally quiescent neurons whose activity depends predominantly on excitatory inputs from cortical and limbic regions. Given the accumbens role as the entry point for information into the striatum, alterations in glutamatergic synaptic plasticity onto MSNs in the NAc can have pronounced impact on the output of striatal circuits.

Psychostimulants

Some of the earliest work examining drug induced alterations in the primary observed form of synaptic plasticity within the NAc, NMDAR-LTD, was first described by Thomas et al. in 2001 who discovered occlusion of NMDA-LTD in mice sensitized to the locomotor response to psychostimulants following repeated daily IP injections of Furthermore, a variety of glutamatergic synaptic changes were observed cocaine. including a decrease in the AMPA/NMDA ratio, the ratio AMPAR-mediated to NMDAR-mediated currents, and a decrease in AMPAR mediated miniature excitatory post synaptic current (EPSC) amplitude, together suggesting a decrease in the number of postsynaptic AMPARs present at the synapse. NMDAR-LTD was likely occluded due to those AMPARs that would have been internalized by the LFS having already been internalized during the repeated cocaine exposure. In abstinent (21 days) mice that had previously self-administered cocaine via operant condition also exhibit a long lasting disruption in the expression of NMDAR-LTD in the NAc core (Martin et al., 2006a). Repeated exposure to psychostimulants can produce an increased density of dendritic spines in NAc MSNs (Martin et al., 2006a) and this increase in spine density may potentially be more robust in D1 receptor expression MSNs following cocaine exposure (Dobi et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2011; Xiuwu Zhang et al., 2007). In addition to the alteration in synaptic spines, cocaine-induced increases in miniature EPSC frequency, an indirect measure in postsynaptic AMPAR density, have been observed in D1-MSNs of the NAc shell (Kim et al., 2011) but not in the core (Dobi et al., 2011).

Shortly following repeated cocaine exposure an increase in the number of "silent" synapses, those lacking detectable AMPARs but containing NMDARs, has been observed in the NAc shell (Huang et al., 2009). These "silent" synapses are likely synaptic spines that have undergone AMPAR removal leaving only the NMDARs present at the membrane. The increase in "silent" synapses may play a role in the decreased AMPA/NMDA ratio observed at a similar time point of exposure (Kourrich et al., 2007a) and appears to peak towards the end of exposure and disappears following withdrawal from drug exposure (Huang et al., 2009). These silent synapses are likely not lost during withdrawal but are instead "unsilenced" by the reinsertion of AMPARs onto the membrane (Conrad et al., 2008a; Dobi et al., 2011). Furthermore, during this unsilencing process, a specific subtype of AMPAR is being selectively inserted into the membrane of synapses during protracted withdrawal. Specifically calcium permeable AMPARs lacking GluA2 subunits (CPARs) are being inserted onto the postsynaptic membrane following withdrawal from cocaine (Conrad et al., 2008a). These GluA2 lacking CPARs are identified by their unique current voltage relationship at depolarized potentials using a rectification index (ratio of AMPA mediated current at negative membrane potential to the current at a positive membrane potential). The insertion of these CPARs likely increases synaptic drive onto NAc MSNs during abstinence as evidence suggest that selectively blocking CPARs with an intra-NAc infusion of the specific antagonist NAPSM attenuates drug seeking in response to cocaine-associated cues (Conrad et al.,

2008a). Finally, cue induced craving for drug intensifies during withdrawal and that this incubation of craving involves the accumulation of CPARs s (Loweth et al., 2014).

Disrupting the internalization of AMPARs from synapses (thereby preventing LTD expression) prevents the expression of behavioral sensitization to amphetamine (K. Brebner et al., 2005b) and selective activation of D1-MSNs in the NAc appears to enhance cocaine sensitization and conditioned place preference (CPP) for a cocaine paired environment. In contrast selective activation of D2-MSNs reduced behavioral sensitization and CPP (Conrad et al., 2008a). The importance of the alteration in NAc LTD produced by psychostimulants is further supported by a study of self-administration of cocaine in rats (Kasanetz et al., 2010a). Rats that self-administered cocaine were divided into two groups, those that would reliably self-administer (addicts) and those that would not (non-addicts) decided by their score on three addiction-like behaviors. LTD in the NAc was impaired but gradually recovered in non-addict animals but was persistently impaired in addicted animals. Selective in vivo depotentiation of cocaine-induced locomotor sensitization (Vincent Pascoli, Turiault, Lüscher, et al., 2012).

In sum, within the psychostimulant literature there appears to be a modest reduction in spine density during exposure to psychostimulants mediated by a reduction in AMPAR expression, the formation of "silent" synapses, and the occlusion of LTD expression at synapses on NAc MSNs. Following withdrawal and abstinence from drug exposure there is an enlargement of spines which is associated with the insertion off CPARs, and increased excitatory tone onto NAc MSNs; which may contribute to escalations of drug seeking observed during periods of protracted withdrawal (Kasanetz et al., 2010a). A challenge does of psychostimulants results in the reemergence of silent

synapses and the loss of LTD expression at NAc MSN synapses (Scott J. Russo et al., 2010).

Ethanol

While there is a large body of evidence for the neuroadaptive responses produce by psychostimulants, it is critical to note that neural adaptations produced by chronic ethanol exposure are likely due to both shared and distinct mechanisms. Indeed ethanol is a potent modulator of plasticity and both *in vitro* and *in vivo* exposure to ethanol can disrupt the expression of plasticity (McCool, 2011). Ethanol has a unique inhibitory action at NMDARs (Lovinger et al., 1989, 1990). Prior work from our lab indicates that ethanol is capable of inhibiting NMDARs in the NAc (Maldve et al., 2002; Tao A. Zhang et al., 2005); this effect on NMDARs likely influences the neuroadaptive changes in NAc glutamatergic function produced by ethanol exposure which are distinct from the psychostimulants previously discussed. Our lab was the first to report a disruption in NAc shell NMDAR-LTD following *in vivo* ethanol exposure. Chronic intermittent ethanol (CIE) vapor exposure reverses the polarity of synaptic plasticity in the NAc shell; a LFS induction protocol that normally produces NMDAR-LTD instead produced synaptic potentiation 24 hours following CIE exposure that persist for up to 72 hours into withdrawal from vapor (Jeanes et al., 2011b).

NMDAR-LTD is also attenuated in mice that exhibit behavioral sensitization to the locomotor effects of ethanol (Karina Possa Abrahao et al., 2013), a subset of Swiss Webster mice showed locomotor sensitization to daily IP ethanol injections and an attenuation of NMDAR-LTD was observed in the NAc only in ethanol sensitized mice but was not observed in non-sensitized mice. This effect was believed to be due to a dampening of NMDAR function as measured by a decrease in the expression of NMDAR NR1 subunits in the sensitized animals.

Additionally the NMDAR-LTD has been observed to be disrupted in the NAc of ethanol dependent rats (Spiga et al., 2014). Rats were given an ethanol enriched diet for 20 days and following withdrawal from this ethanol exposure a disruption in NAc MSN plasticity was observed in conjunction with a loss of long thin dendritic spines and a decrease in NMDAR function. In sum, ethanol is a potent modulator of synaptic activity within the NAc and this effect is likely due to ethanol's ability to inhibit NMDARs.

Differential role of MSN subtypes in plasticity and addiction

With the development of bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) transgenic mouse lines that express a fluorophore linked to either the D1 or D2 dopamine receptor promotor (Matamales et al., 2009; Valjent et al., 2009) researchers may now begin to tease apart the role that each subpopulation plays within the NAc. In the dorsal striatum the electrophysiological properties of D1 MSNs differ from that of D2 MSNs (Carlos Cepeda et al., 2007; Day et al., 2008; Valjent et al., 2009). Similarly in the NAc core, which is believed to be morphologically similar to the dorsal stratum, the D1- and D2-MSNs have different electrophysiological and synaptic properties (Grueter et al., 2010b) including excitability, the basal frequency of miniature EPSCs, and the NMDA/AMPA current ratio was higher in D2-MSNs than in D1-MSNs

With a difference in the basal electrophysiological properties observed between D1- and D2-MSNs it would be no surprise that differences in synaptic plasticity would be observed between these two sub families. In the NAc core, a LFS protocol produced LTD, dependent on the activation of CB1Rs and the vanilloid transient receptor potential channels TRPV1, only in D2-MSNs and not in D1-MSNs (Grueter et al., 2010a). This

TRPV1-dependent LTD in D2-MSNs was insensitive to occlusion by cocaine treatment (unlike NMDAR-LTD).

A single dose of cocaine also differentially modulates NMDAR-LTP in D1-and D-2 MSNs of the NAc shell (Vincent Pascoli, Turiault, & Lüscher, 2012). In mice that are cocaine naïve, a HFS protocol can produce NMDAR-LTP in both D1-and D2-MSNs. After a single cocaine IP injection LTP is disrupted only in D1-MSNs. Using an optogenetic approach, with blue light activation of channelrhodopsin (ChR2) to selectively stimulate particular cells of interest, LTD induced through LFS of excitatory efferents to the NAc and reverse the cocaine induced LTP. Disrupting this synaptic adaptation produced by cocaine prevented the expression of cocaine induced behavioral sensitization.

Our lab previously reported that CIE vapor exposure disrupts NMDAR-LTD in the NAc shell MSNs of C57Bl/6J mice. Twenty four hours after a single four day bout of vapor exposure (16 hours on, 8 hours off) a LFS induction protocol that normally induces NMDAR-LTD, instead produced LTP (Jeanes et al., 2011b). To determine if this effect by ethanol is differentially expressed in MSN subtypes DRD1a-eGFP transgenic mice on a Swiss Webster background were obtained (Jeanes et al., 2014) thereby allowing the selective recording from D1 receptor expressing MSNs or D1 receptor lacking MSNs believed to be D2-MSNs. NMDAR-LTD was expressed only in D1-MSNs in the NAc shell and not in the D1 lacking MSNs. Twenty four hours after ethanol vapor exposure there was a reversal in the expression of plasticity for both cell types. Specifically, the LFS pairing protocol had no effect in vapor exposed D1-MSNs but did elicit LTD in vapor exposed D2-MSNs that did not exhibit LTD in the naïve state. Over a two week period, the expression of plasticity was gradually restored to levels observed in naïve animals; a gradual return of LTD following LFS in D1-MSNs and a gradual loss of LTD expression following LFS in D2-MSNs. Given the difference in expression of plasticity observed between the C57Bl/6J and DRD1a-eGFP mice on a Swiss Webster background (flip in expression of LTP instead of LTD following CIE in C57Bl/6J mice and merely the loss of LTD in Swiss Webster mice), coupled with the difference in drinking observed between these strains; we have postulated that according to the Artola-Brocher-Singer rule the sequential thresholds needed to reach plasticity differ between these mouse strains. We also suspect that the difference in neural adaptations produced by ethanol underlie the differences observed in drinking between these two mouse lines.

Selective manipulation of D1- and D2-MSNs has been observed to differently modulate drug related behaviors. D1-and D2-MSNs in the NAc have distinct roles in reward and aversive behaviors (Hikida et al., 2010, 2013; Lobo et al., 2010). CPP for cocaine or food reward was significantly reduced by selective blockade of D1-MSNs, which suggest a crucial role of these neurons for reward learning. Selective blockade of D2-MSNs prevents the expression of aversive behaviors. Activity of these subtypes of neurons have also been observed to have opposing roles in drug induced locomotor sensitization, where inhibition of D1-MSNs or and activation of D2-MSNs prevents the expression to the locomotor effect of cocaine (Chandra et al., 2013).

More recently, work from our lab indicates that a single 4 day bout of CIE vapor (16 hours on, 8 hours off) produces differential alterations in MSNs from td-Tomato mice expressing a fluorophore under the D1 receptor promotor on a C57Bl/6J background (Renteria et al., 2017). Following 24 hour withdrawal from a single bout of vapor the two neuronal subtypes exhibited a reversal in the expression of plasticity; the induction protocol that produced LTD in D1-MSNs of naïve mice instead produced LTP following

vapor withdrawal. In D2-MSNs of naïve mice our pairing protocol produced no change in current amplitude and instead produced LTD following withdrawal from vapor. In addition to withdrawal induced alterations in synaptic plasticity a general increase in excitability as well as NMDAR function was observed in D1-MSNs following vapor exposure. Together, these findings and information discussed above suggest that ethanol treatment initially suppresses NMDAR function followed by a rebound enhancement in NMDAR function during withdrawal which is likely in part responsible for the change in plasticity and excitability of D1-MSNs observed during withdrawal.



Illustration 2. Alterations in accumbal plasticity following different ethanol experiences.

CIE-induced metaplasticity of glutamatergic transmission differs between NAc shell D1 MSNs following exposure to CIE Vapor (left panel) or CIE Vapor and 2BC consumption (right panel). (A) In slices from ethanol–naïve mice, NMDAR-dependent LTD is observed in D1 MSNs following low-frequency stimulation (LFS) paired with postsynaptic depolarization to -50 mV. LTD is expressed via removal of AMPARs from the postsynaptic membrane. (B) Following in vivo CIE exposure the same LTD induction protocol that was applied to ethanol–naïve slices induces LTP of glutamatergic transmission onto D1 MSNs, presumably via insertion of AMPARs into the postsynaptic membrane. (C) Following CIE Vapor exposure that produces ethanol dependence (escalation in volitional intake) the ability to elicit LTD is lost. Adapted with permission from *Renteria et al. Int. Rev. Neurobiology* 126 (2016) 441-465.

THE VENTRAL HIPPOCAMPUS

The hippocampus likely does not act as a unitary structure (Moser & Moser, 1998). Instead it appears that the dorsal and ventral portions of the hippocampus take on different roles. Anatomical studies reveal that the input and output connections of the dorsal hippocampus (dHipp) and the ventral hippocampus (vHipp) are distinct (Swanson & Cowan, 1977). In addition, spatial memory appears to depend on dHipp and not vHipp (Moser et al., 1995); whereas, vHipp and not dHipp lesions alter stress responses and emotional behavior (Henke, 1990). Manipulations of vHipp tend to decrease fear and anxiety (Kirsten G. Kjelstrup et al., 2002; Maren & Holt, 2004), and increase motivation for food (Ferbinteanu & McDonald, 2001).

For a comprehensive review characterizing the differences between the vHipp and the dHipp see Fanselow and colleagues (2010). Briefly, the ventral CA1 and ventral subiculum (vSub) share massive bi-directional connectivity with nuclei of the amygdala. Both send direct projections to the central nucleus of the amygdala which may have the potential to mediate the vHipp contribution to fear learning (Maren & Holt, 2004) as well as the expression of anxiety (Herman et al., 2005; McEwen et al., 1997; Rodrigues et al., 2009). The large reciprocal connection with the amygdala structures implicates the vHipp in emotional responses and memory related to emotion. The ventral CA1 as well as the vSub and the medial band of the lateral and medial entorhinal cortical areas, gives rise to projections to the shell of the NAc (Groenewegen et al., 1996) which plays an important role in reward processing (Wassum et al., 2009b) and motivation of feeding behavior (Kelley, Baldo, & Pratt, 2005; Kelley, Baldo, Pratt, et al., 2005).

The use of modern techniques to selectively target these subregions indicates a role for the vHipp in contextual retrieval of memory in reward related contexts. The

consolidation of contextual memory was only impaired when inactivating the vHipp indicating that vHipp principle neurons are a key driver for synaptic consolidation of memory (Zhu et al., 2014). Robust deficits have also been observed in the retrieval and expression of contextual biconditional discrimination memory following selective and transient post-acquisition inactivation of the vHipp but not the dHipp. The loss of retrieval during inactivation of the vHipp was accompanied by a decrease in anxiety relevant behaviors and indicates that the vHipp is necessary for the contextual retrieval and expression of cue-reward memories (Riaz et al., 2017b).

Information from the hippocampus is involved in mediating drug-seeking behaviors (Fuchs et al., 2005; Riaz et al., 2017b). Lesions of the vHipp decrease signtracking behavior and increase goal-tracking behavior during the acquisition of Pavlovian conditioned approach training (Fitzpatrick et al., 2016). The loss of glutamatergic input from the vHipp to MSNs in the NAc may be responsible for this decrease in sign-tracking behavior by disrupting gating and outflow of NAc signals (French & Totterdell, 2002) suggesting that enhanced glutamatergic signaling from the vHipp could promote signtracking like behavior. Striking similarities exist between behaviors produced by Pavlovian sign-tracking procedures and key symptoms of drug abuse (T. W. Robbins & Everitt, 2002; Tomie et al., 2008; Tomie & Sharma, 2013). In addition to the change in Pavlovian conditioning, inactivation of the ventral CA1 selectively inhibits cocaine seeking without affecting food-induced reinstatement or locomotor behavior (Lasseter et al., 2010; Rogers & See, 2007). The ventral CA1 region is a likely site at which the persisting 'memories that sustain addiction' may be encoded (Nestler, 2001). Indeed, persistent changes in synaptic transmission and LTP occur in the CA1 region of the vHipp following extended access to cocaine self-administration in rats (Keralapurath et al., 2017). These results are consistent with the conclusion that withdrawal from extended access to cocaine self-administration results in a chronically potentiated state within the ventral hippocampus that is mediated by an increase in AMPAR at Schaffer collateral synapses onto CA1 region of the vHipp. This increased activity at the CA1 likely has important functional implicates for the activity of vHipp projections to other brain regions following repeated drug exposure.

Ventral hippocampal input to the nucleus accumbens and adaptations to drug exposure

The main glutamatergic input to the nucleus accumbens originates from the vHipp (Britt et al., 2012). This projection is potentiated following extended withdrawal from non-contingent (Britt et al., 2012) or contingent (Pascoli et al., 2012) cocaine exposure. The adaptations in glutamatergic signaling from the vHipp to the shell of the accumbens following cocaine self-administration was specific to D1 expressing MSNs and was not apparent in D2 expressing MSNs. When assessed following a short (3 day) withdrawal from repeated non-contingent cocaine exposure a depression of vHipp input onto D1R-MSNs was observed (MacAskill et al., 2014). Regardless of the input most studies show that exposure to cocaine potentiates excitatory input onto D1R-MSNs but not D2R-MSNs (Bertran-Gonzalez et al., 2008; Bock et al., 2013; MacAskill et al., 2014; Pascoli et al., 2012). Overexpression of Δ FosB increases behavioral responses to cocaine but decreases excitatory input onto D1R-MSNs (Grueter et al., 2013). This decrease in excitatory drive has been hypothesized to be due to an increase in silent synapses, with potentiation occurring after the silent synapses mature (Lee & Dong, 2011). Together this suggests that that there is depotentiation of glutamatergic input from the vHipp onto shell D1R-MSNs that occurs briefly after the initiation of withdrawal from cocaine and is followed by a potentiation in glutamate following extended withdrawal that is driven by the maturation of silent synapse. To date no research has been conducted to examine the impact of ethanol exposure on vHipp input to the shell of the NAc.

REPRESENTATIVE BRAIN SLICES FOR ELECTROPHYSIOLOGICAL RECORDINGS

From each animal typically two sagittal brain slices that contained the NAc shell were prepared from each hemisphere. Care was taken to ensure that similar thickness (230-250µm) and orientation was maintained for the slices on each experimental day. Recordings were conducted in the shell of the NAc in slices that did not contain dorsal striatal tissue and in the most rostral and ventral areas away from the anterior commissure. We believe that the recordings represent MSNs only from the NAc shell subregion and in particular the more lateral regions of the shell.

Illustration 3. Representative sagittal brain slices containing the nucleus accumbens



Hypothesis and Aims

OVERALL PROJECT RATIONALE

Glutamatergic function within the brain's reward system is altered by exposure to drugs of abuse. Drug craving persists for long after cessation of drug taking and can even be enhanced during periods of prolonged abstinence (Grimm et al., 2001; Lin Lu et al., 2004). This increased craving for the drug can lead to relapse, which is a hallmark of addiction. Craving and the subsequent risk of relapse are likely encoded by drug induced alterations of synaptic function that occur within the brain's reward system following chronic exposure. The NAc, and in particular the shell subregion, is a critical constituent of the reward circuit. The NAc has an important role as an integrator of cortical and subcortical information whose output influences behavior. Neuroadaptations produced within the NAc contribute to the formation of drug dependence (Christian Lüscher & Malenka, 2011b) and drug induced adaptations of this brain region can subsequently influence reward seeking behavior as well as the motivational aspects of reward. The most commonly observed form of glutamatergic synaptic plasticity observed in the NAc is NMDAR-LTD. Several reports have shown that in vitro and in vivo drug or alcohol exposure alters the expression of this form of LTD; indicating that this form of plasticity is highly sensitive to drug and ethanol exposure and that synaptic neuroadaptations in the NAc produced by ethanol and other drugs of abuse likely underlies the formation of dependence (Abrahao et al., 2013; Brebner et al., 2005; Jeanes et al., 2014; Jeanes et al., 2011b; Kasanetz et al., 2010a; Mao et al., 2009; Martin et al., 2006a; Renteria et al., 2017; Shen & Kalivas, 2012; Spiga et al., 2014; Thomas et al., 2001).

Expression of NMDAR-LTD is disrupted following *in vivo* ethanol exposure in a cell subtype specific manner (see above). This initial characterization was completed

using DRD1a-eGFP transgenic mice on a Swiss Webster background that do not voluntarily consume ethanol (Jeanes et al., 2014). Therefore, work in our lab switched to using a reporter mouse line on a C57Bl/6J background, as there is an abundance of literature supporting the voluntary consumption of ethanol in these mice. DRD1a-tdTomato mice on a C57Bl/6J background were chosen to allow us to better understand how alterations in NMDAR-LTD contribute to an escalation in volitional ethanol intake.

The chronic intermittent ethanol (CIE) exposure paradigm has been wellestablished to induce ethanol dependence and increase volitional ethanol intake (Becker & Lopez, 2004; Griffin et al., 2009; Griffin Iii et al., 2009). CIE was used to induce an escalation in ethanol volitional intake in tdTomato mice and alterations in NMDAR-LTD were examined in the NAc following an increase in ethanol drinking in a cell specific manner. Animals underwent two bottle choice (2BC; 2 hour access to 15% EtOH or H₂O) drinking interspersed with three bouts (4 days, 16 hours on, 8 hours off) of CIE ethanol vapor or air (control) exposure. Animals exposed to ethanol vapor significantly escalated their 2BC ethanol intake. NMDAR-LTD was assessed at 24 hours, 1-2 weeks, and 3 weeks after the last 2BC drinking session. It is critical to note that prior work examined alterations in NMDAR-LTD 24 hours after CIE vapor exposure (Jeanes et al., 2014; Renteria et al., 2017). Twenty four hours after the last drinking session a LFS pairing protocol failed to induce NMDAR-LTD expression in NAc shell D1-MSNs. This loss in LTD expression persisted for up to 2 weeks and was recovered after 3 weeks which correlates to the duration of increased volitional ethanol intake following CIE vapor exposure (Renteria et al., 2017). There was no change in NAc core D1-MSN plasticity during any of these time periods following last ethanol consumption. A significant increase in sEPSC frequency and decrease in the paired pulse ratio was also observed in D1-MSNs of the shell, indicating an increase in presynaptic release of glutamate at those synapses. A significant decrease in the rectification index was observed in D1-MSNs of the NAc shell was observed at 24 hours after last ethanol intake that persisted for up to two weeks and returned to air control levels after three weeks. This rectification of the current voltage (IV) relationship of AMPAR mediated EPSCs suggests the insertion of CPARs into D1-MSN shell synapses following withdrawal in mice that escalated their volitional intake. Adaptions produced by CIE-induced enhancement in ethanol intake were not observed in NAc core D1-MSNs suggesting that the shell and not the core is critical for these initial adaptions associated with drinking escalation.

The NAc shell D1-MSNs receive dopamine input from the VTA which encodes salience of environmental stimuli (Humphries & Prescott, 2010a) as well as excitatory glutamatergic inputs from the vHipp, mPFC, and BLA. These glutamatergic inputs provide specific and distinct information in the context of reward-related situations. Specifically the vHipp signals contextual relevance, the BLA provides emotional valence, and the mPFC conveys action outcome information (Berridge & Kringelbach, 2013; Robbins & Everitt, 1996). Alterations in NAc LTD produced by repeated drug exposure, as discussed above, are critical for drug related behaviors. Manipulations of drug induced plasticity in accumbens MSNs can prevent the expression of drug related behavior. Blocking drug induced alterations of NMDAR-LTD in MSNs prevents the expression of behavioral sensitization to the motor effects of amphetamine (Brebner et al., 2005; Choi et al., 2014) and disrupts escalation in volitional ethanol intake following CIE (see chapter 3). In addition, optogenetic manipulation of plasticity in D1R-MSNs in the NAc has been shown to disrupt behavioral sensitization to cocaine (Pascoli et al. 2012). These

findings further corroborate the critical importance of drug induced alterations of NMDR–LTD in NAc MSNs to the formation of drug related behavior and dependence.

The findings discussed above were the result of experiments that utilized electrophysiological techniques involving electrical stimulation of glutamate release from all available inputs to the NAc. However, drug induced adaptations in glutamatergic signaling of a single glutamatergic input may be masked during these experiments. The wide adoption of optogenetic tools allows for isolation of specific neural circuits and will allow us to examine plasticity in an input specific manner. Currently there is still a dearth in research examining input specific adaptations of glutamatergic projection to the NAc following ethanol exposure. Recently an elegant study conducted by Pascoli and colleges (2014) used optogenetic tools to isolate the vHipp and mPFC glutamatergic inputs to the accumbens and examined synaptic alterations following cocaine self-administration and withdrawal. Extended withdrawal from cocaine produce input specific alterations in NAc MSNs including an increase in the AMPA/NMDA ratio in MSNs receiving isolated vHipp input, indicating an increase in the AMPAR component that was not observed in isolated mPFC inputs. A 1 Hz stimulation protocol (NMDAR-LTD) in slice normalized (abolished) cocaine-evoked increases in the AMPA/NMDA ratio at this input. In addition, in vivo optogenetic LTD induction protocols were conducted prior to cue induced reinstatement procedures. One Hz stimulation of the vHipp-D1R-MSNs produced a reversal of cocaine withdrawal-evoked potentiation of glutamatergic signaling and resulted in a significant reduction in cue-associated lever pressing. These findings indicate the likelihood that repeated drug exposure and withdrawal produces input specific synaptic adaptations and reversal of these adaptations may alter drug associated behaviors.

It is currently unknown if ethanol exposure produces distinct input specific synaptic adaptations of glutamatergic transmission in the accumbens. Previous work in the cocaine literature indicates that exposure and withdrawal produces input specific alterations in glutamatergic transmission in the shell of the accumbens. However, the mechanism of action of cocaine and alcohol is different and it is highly likely that input specific neuroadaptations produced by these two drugs will differ. The NAc shell receives the densest glutamatergic input from the vHipp and this input produces larger EPSCs at MSNs than input from either the mPFC or BLA (Britt et al., 2012; O'Donnell & Grace, 1995). In addition photostimulation of this pathway is capable of reinforcing instrumental behavior (Britt et al., 2012). Also as discussed above the vHipp plays a role in reward processing and is critical for the expression of reward context associations. For this reason we propose selectively targeting the vHipp input to NAc shell by using optogenetic tools to determine if binge-like ethanol exposure is capable of producing synaptic alterations in this isolated circuit. If ethanol exposure produces synaptic alterations in this isolated circuit it would be initial evidence to support our hypothesis that glutamatergic input from the vHipp plays an important role in the development of ethanol dependence and the expression of ethanol dependent behaviors. To our knowledge using optogenetic methods to isolate input specific neuroadaptations produced by chronic ethanol exposure has not been attempted.

SPECIFIC AIMS

<u>Specific aim 1: Establish whether vHipp to NAc shell synapses show properties similar to</u> <u>those previously documented via standard local shNAc electrical stimulation *in vitro*.</u> Findings discussed above indicate that synaptic alterations in the NAc are critical for drug related behaviors. The use of optogenetic tools will allow us to dissect the neural adaptations that occur in an isolated glutamatergic input to the NAc shell circuit in order to examine how this circuit is altered by alcohol exposure. Exposure and withdrawal to other drugs of abuse produces input specific synaptic alterations of the NAc and *in vivo* manipulations of synaptic plasticity in these isolated inputs prevents the expression of drug related behavior (Hearing et al., 2016a; Joffe & Grueter, 2016; Pascoli et al., 2014). However, it is unknown if alcohol selectively alters excitatory transmission or plasticity to the NAc shell in an input specific manner.

Aim 1.1: Verify that activation of selective glutamate release from terminals from the vHipp is capable of eliciting plasticity in NAc shell D1-MSN synapses.

<u>Aim 1.2:</u> Characterization of synaptic plasticity in the isolated vHipp to NAc shell D1-MSN synapses following acute *in vitro* ethanol exposure.

Specific Aim 2: Determine the neural adaptations in isolated vHipp to NAc shell D1R-MSN synapses elicited by chronic ethanol experience and withdrawal.

Research conducted in our lab indicates that withdrawal from two bottle choice (2BC) ethanol exposure interspersed with CIE exposure increases the rectification index (insertion of GluA2-lacking AMPARs) and results in a loss of LTD expression for up to two weeks after last exposure (Renteria et al., 2017). However, this work examined global changes in excitatory inputs to D1R-MSNs following CIE exposure. We are interested in the expression of ethanol induced adaptations in isolated glutamatergic inputs. Using the viral insertion of channelrhodopsin into vHipp excitatory output neurons with terminals present in the NAc shell we will be able to selectively stimulate

glutamate release from these terminals locally and determine whether specific neural adaptations are produced in this circuit following *in vivo* ethanol exposure and withdrawal.

<u>Aim 2.1:</u> Determine alterations in NMDAR-LTD in the vHipp to NAc shell D1-MSNs circuit after an escalation in ethanol drinking.

<u>Aim 2.2:</u> Determine changes in glutamatergic signaling in vHipp to NAc shell D1-MSNs circuit after an escalation in ethanol drinking.

Chapter 2:

Ventral Hippocampal-Nucleus Accumbens Shell Glutamatergic Signaling Is Altered By In *Vitro* and *In Vivo* Ethanol Exposure

This chapter written in the style for submission to Addiction Biology.

Authors: Daniel Kircher, Heather Aziz, Richard Morrisett. Daniel Kircher created the study design and conducted all experiments. Heather Aziz conducted breading of animals and assisted with animal behavior. Richard Morrisett contributed to the study design.

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this study was to determine the effects of ethanol exposure and consumption on the expression of plasticity of D1 dopamine receptor expressing (D1R) medium spiny neurons (MSNs) in the nucleus accumbens (NAc) shell receiving glutamatergic input solely from the ventral hippocampus (vHipp). Drd1a-tdTomato mice on a C57BL/6J background were injected bilaterally in the vHipp with a viral vector in order to express channelrhodopsin (ChR2) in vHipp terminals that synapse onto shell D1R-MSNs. Blue LED light stimulation was used to selectively depolarize ChR2 expressing vHipp terminals in the NAc shell, resulting in light-evoked EPSCs originating from vHipp. In voltage clamp experiments, we found that an induction protocol pairing 1 Hz blue light stimulation with postsynaptic membrane depolarization produced LTD in the vHipp to NAc circuit that is NMDA receptor dependent. In this study we found acute application of ethanol in vitro uniquely alters plasticity in the vHipp to NAc circuit. Low to moderate intoxicating concentration of ethanol blocked light evoked LTD expression which is in contrast to previous observations. Ethanol consumption in rodents impaired vHipp-Shell plasticity as well as resulted in altered glutamatergic signaling, and the insertion of Ca2+ permeable AMPA receptors (CPARs) D1R-MSNs post synaptic membranes. These findings suggest that the vHipp to NAc circuit is highly sensitive to ethanol treatment and may constitute a critical neuroadaptation that leads to the expression of ethanol dependence.

INTRODUCTION

Chronic drug and alcohol exposure produces alterations in glutamatergic signaling and plasticity within the nucleus accumbens (Christian Lüscher & Malenka, 2011b; McCool, 2011). One of the most critical forms of plasticity that has been observed to be altered by drug exposure within the NAc is NMDAR-dependent long-term depression (LTD). A growing body of literature suggests that chronic exposure to psychostimulants, heroin, and alcohol can result in altered or impaired expression of NMDAR-dependent LTD in the NAc (Abrahao et al., 2013; Jeanes et al., 2014b; Jeanes et al., 2011b; Kasanetz et al., 2010a; Mao et al., 2009; Martin et al., 2006b; Renteria et al., 2017; Renteria et al., 2017; Shen & Kalivas, 2012; Spiga et al., 2014; Thomas et al., 2001). The mechanisms by which drugs of abuse produce neuroadaptations of glutamatergic signaling likely overlap with the mechanisms necessary for the expression of NMDAR-LTD.

The alcohol dependence model currently employed by our lab is the chronic intermittent ethanol (CIE) vapor exposure model. This model reliably induces alcohol dependence, as indicated by an increase in voluntary ethanol consumption (Becker & Lopez, 2004; Jeanes et al., 2011a; Renteria et al., 2017). Ethanol vapor exposure alone is capable of altering the excitability of D1-MSNs as well as increasing NMDAR activity 24 hours after last vapor exposure (Renteria et al., 2017). CIE vapor exposure also disrupts plasticity in a cell subtype and strain dependent manner. Twenty four hours after

vapor exposure NMDAR-LTD is occluded in D1-MSNs from mice on a Swiss Webster background; whereas an identical pairing protocol produces LTP in D1-MSNs from mice on a C57BL/6J background. This difference in LTD expression is likely related to the fact that one group of animals readily consumes ethanol (C57BL/6J) while the other does not (Swiss Webster). Interestingly, in both strains of animals D2-MSNs that show no LTD in the naïve state instead expressed LTD 24 hours after last vapor exposure Jeanes et al., 2014; Renteria et al., 2017).

The CIE vapor model readily increases volitional ethanol consumption, associated with a loss in LTD expression in D1-MSNs of the NAc shell, but not core. Disruptions in plasticity persisted for up to two weeks and returned to air control levels three weeks after the last ethanol drinking session (Renteria et al., 2017). This alteration in LTD expression mirrors the time course of escalated drinking observed following CIE exposure (Becker & Lopez, 2004; Griffin et al., 2009). The loss of LTD was also accompanied by a change in the rectification index of AMPAR mediated currents in D1-MSNs of the shell. 24 hours after the last drinking session D1-MSNs from ethanol vapor exposed animals exhibited rectified AMPAR currents at positive holding potentials (Renteria et al., 2017). The presence of rectification is a possible indication that GluA2 subunit lacking, also referred to as Ca2+ permeable, AMPARs (CPARs) have been inserted into the synapse. This changed in rectification was observed for up to two weeks after the last drinking session and returned to control levels after 3 weeks. Changes in rectification as well as insertion of CPARs into the synapse is also produced by withdrawal from cocaine administration (Conrad et al., 2008b; Loweth et al., 2014; Marina E. Wolf & Tseng, 2012).

The above studies were conducted using electrical stimulation of all available glutamatergic inputs to the NAc MSNs. Recent work in the psychostimulant field indicates that selective adaptations are produced by drug exposure depending on which glutamatergic input to the NAc is assessed (Joffe & Grueter, 2016; Pascoli et al., 2014; Pascoli, et al., 2012; Stuber et al., 2012). Our primary goal was to characterize neuroadaptations in an isolated glutamatergic input from a single brain region projecting to the shell that may contribute to excessive ethanol consumption. We chose to initially asses glutamatergic input from the ventral hippocampus (vHipp) due to that regions strong anatomical and functional relationship with the NAc. The NAc receives major inputs from the hippocampal ventral subiculum (Groenewegen et al., 1987) as well as the ventral CA1 (Britt et al., 2012) to the shell of the accumbens. The accumbens requires hippocampal stimulation in order for its neurons to depolarize and assume an activated state (O'Donnell & Grace, 1995). Neurotransmission in accumbens-hippocampal circuitry has been implicated in triggering relapse in addiction (Kalivas et al., 2005).

In this study, we used Drd1-tdTomato mice on a C57BL/6J background injected with a viral vector to express the light activated cation channelrhodopsin (ChR2) in the primary output (glutamatergic) neurons of the ventral hippocampus in order to selectively stimulated glutamate release from a single input onto D1-MSNs in the shNAc. In the present study we aimed to determine how alterations in AMPAR mediated signaling and the disruption of NMDAR-LTD in an isolated glutamatergic projection to the shell contributes to excessive alcohol consumption.

METHODS

Animals

Mice were heterozygous BAC transgenic mice in which the tomato fluorophore expression was driven by dopamine D1 receptor (Drd1a-tdTomato from Jackson Laboratories) gene regulatory elements. All animals used were male. Transgenic mice were back crossed in the C57BL/6J line. Mice were single housed after surgery. All animals were kept in a temperature and humidity controlled environment with a 12 h light/ 12 h dark cycle (lights on at 0700 h). Animals were given a minimum of 3 days of recovery from surgery prior to light reversal (lights on at 2100 h). All procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Texas at Austin.

Stereotaxic Injections

AAV2-CaMKIIa-hChR2 (H134R)-eYFP or AAV2-CaMKIIa-eYFP (for control mice) produced at the University of North Carolina (Vector Core Facility) was injected into the vHipp of 5- to 6-week-old mice. Anesthesia was induced at 3% and maintained at a range of 1.5-2% isoflurane (w/v) (Animal Health International) as determined by depth of animal breathing. The animal was placed in a stereotaxic frame (Kopf) and bilateral craniotomies were performed using stereotaxic coordinates adapted from a mouse brain atlas and then refined by sham injections (for vHipp: anterior-posterior = -2.8; mediallateral = \pm 2.8; dorsal-ventral (from the surface of the brain) = -4.2). Injections of virus (0.55 µl per injection site) were made using graduated pipettes (Drummond Scientific Company), broken back to a tip diameter of 10-15 µm, at an infusion rate of ≈0.05 µl per min. A subset of animals was given two weeks to recover prior to two bottle choice drinking. Another subset of animals was ethanol naïve and remained in their home cage

until electrophysiological recordings. Naïve animals were individually housed at the same time course as the drinking animals and recordings were conducted at the same age as drinking animals. Optogenetic manipulations typically occurred no sooner than 10 weeks after the injection.

Two Bottle Choice Drinking

Two bottle choice (2BC) drinking is a limited access (2 hrs.) paradigm used to measure changes in volitional consumption (Griffin, 2014). Thirty minutes prior to the beginning of the dark cycle (light out 0930 hours) mice are given access to two bottles, one containing a 15% ethanol and tap water solution and the other containing tap water alone. Animals and bottles were weighed prior to 2BC and bottles were weighed after two hour access. Bottle were compared to give the amount consumed (g alcohol per kg animal body weight/2hrs). Two weeks after virus injection a subset of animals underwent 21 days of consecutive 2BC dinking. The last 5 days of this drinking was measured as baseline ethanol consumption. Following this 21 days of drinking animals underwent chronic intermittent ethanol (CIE) vapor exposure (EtOH vapor or air control). Seventy two hours after each bout of vapor exposure 2BC drinking was conducted for 5 days to measure CIE induced changes in ethanol consumption. Drinking data was analyzed using a repeated measures four-way ANOVA with EtOH vapor and Air groups as well as ChR2 and eYFP virus injections as the between subject variables and the drinking session and drinking day as the repeated measures. Further analysis using Bonferroni post hoc tests or one way ANOVAs was used to determine differences in drinking between groups at each drinking session and changes in drinking session vs baseline drinking within each group.

Chronic Intermittent Ethanol

Mice were exposed to CIE vapor or air (control) using a previously established model that has been shown to lead to increases in volitional ethanol consumption in mice (Becker & Lopez, 2004). Ethanol was volatilized by bubbling air through a flask containing 95% ethanol at a rate of 3.5 liter/min. Ethanol vapor was then combined with a separate air steam to give a total flow rate of approximately 4 liters/min. Ethanol enriched air (or air alone for the control group) was delivered to mice in special mouse chamber units with airtight tops (Allentown Inc., Allentown NJ). Each bout of vapor consisted of 16 hours of ethanol vapor exposure followed by 8 hours of withdrawal, repeated for 4 consecutive days. Mice were injected (i.p.) with a loading dose of ethanol (20% v/v, 1.5 g/kg) and pyrazole (68.1 mg/kg) suspended in 0.1M PBS prior to vapor exposure. Air control mice were handled the same as ethanol exposed mice but received an injection of only pyrazole suspended in PBS.

Blood Ethanol Concentrations

Following the completion of each 16 hour vapor exposure tail blood samples of approximately 5 µl were collected upon removal from the vapor prior to withdrawal. BECs were measured using gas chromatography with a Bruker 430-GC (Bruker Corporation, Fremont CA) equipped with a flame ionization detector and CombiPAL autosampler. For each mouse two samples of tail blood were taken and each was added to a 10 ml vial containing 45 µl supersaturated sodium chloride solution. Samples were warmed to 65°C and the solid-phase micro extraction fiber (SPME; 75 µm CAR/PDMS, fused silica; Supelco, Bellefonte, PA) was used to absorb ethanol vapor from each sample. Ethanol peaks determined by GC were analyzed using CompassCDS Workstation software (Bruker Corporation, Fremont CA). BECs of tail blood were calibrated against ethanol peaks from prepared ethanol standards (100-400 mM). Ethanol vapor flow rates and ethanol and loading injections were adjusted to maintain mice within a BEC range of 150-200 mg/dl (37-47 mM) following each 16 hour chambering period.

Brain Slice Preparation

Mice were at least 13 weeks of age at the time of slice preparation. Parasagittal slices (230-240 μ m thick) containing the NAc were prepared using a Leica vibrating microtome. Mice were anesthetized by inhalation of isoflurane and the brains were rapidly removed and placed in 4°C oxygenated artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF) containing the following in (mM): 210 sucrose, 26.2 NaHCO₃, 1NaH₂PO₄, 2.5 KCl, 11 dextrose, bubbled with 95% O₂/ 5% CO₂. Slices were transferred to a non-sucrose based ACSF solution for incubation containing the following (in mM): 120 NaCl, 25 NaHCO₃, 1.23 NaH₂PO₄, 3.3 KCl, 2.4 MgCl₂, 1.8 CaCl₂, 10 dextrose, were continuously bubbled with 95% O₂/ 5% CO₂; pH 7.4, 32°C, and were maintained in this solution for at least 60 minutes prior to recording.

Patch Clamp Electrophysiology

Whole cell voltage clamp recordings were conducted in the nucleus accumbens shell. Cells were identified using a BX50 microscope (Olympus) mounted on a vibration isolation table. Recordings were made in ACSF containing (in mM): 120 NaCl, 25 NaHCO₃, 1.23 NaH₂PO₄, 3.3 KCl, 0.9 MgCl₂, 2.0 CaCl₂, and 10 dextrose, bubbled with 95% O₂/ 5% CO₂. ACSF was continuously perfused at a rate of 2.0 mL/min and maintained at a temperature of \approx 32°C. Picrotoxin (50µM) was included in the recording ACSF to block GABA_A receptor-mediated synaptic currents. The NMDAR antagonist D-

APV (50 μ M) was added to the recording solution for Rectification Index recordings in order to isolate AMPAR mediated currents. Strontium chloride (SrCl₂, 6 mM) was substituted for CaCl₂ in the recording solution for asynchronous EPSC (asEPSC) recordings. Recording electrodes (thin-wall glass, WPI Instruments) were made using a Brown-Flaming model P-88 electrode puller (Sutter Instruments, San Rafael, CA) to yield resistances between 3-6 M Ω . For Plasticity, NMDA/AMPA ratio, Rectification Index ratio sEPSC, and asEPSC recordings, electrodes were filled with (in mM): 120 CsMeSO4, 15 CsCl, 8 NaCl, 10 HEPES, 0.2 EGTA, 10 TEA-Cl, 4 Mg-ATP, 0.3 Na-GTP, 0.1 spermine, and 5 QX-314-Cl. For all recordings, input and access resistances were monitored throughout the experiments. Cells in which input and access resistance varied more than 20% were not included in analysis.

Data Acquisition and Analysis

Whole-cell voltage-clamp recordings were conducted on NAc shell D1-MSNs surrounded by ChR2 expressing terminals. D1-MSNs were identified by the presence of td-Tomato and ChR2 expressing terminals were identified by the presence of eYFP using fluorescent light. Excitatory postsynaptic currents (EPSCs) were acquired using an amplifier (Dagan) filtered at 1 kHz, and digitized at 10-20 kHz with a Digidata 1440B interface board using pClamp 10.6 (Axon Instruments). Light-EPSCs were evoked with local 4 ms blue light pulses from an optic fiber directed at the NAc shell through the microscope objective. A blue light LED (Plexon) was coupled to the objective via a fiber coupler (IS-OGP/OLY, Siskiyou Corporation). Light intensity was adjusted for each recording to elicit EPSCs in a range from 150-250 pA. In experiments for long term plasticity, light-EPSCs were evoked by 4 ms blue light stimulation for at least 10 minutes every 15 seconds, to ensure a stable baseline. To induce LTD, a conditioning stimulus of

500 light pulses (4 ms) at 1 Hz was paired with continuous postsynaptic depolarization to -50 mV. Light-EPSCs were then monitored for 30 minutes after pairing. The magnitude of LTD was calculated by averaging normalized (to baseline) EPSC values from 20-30 minutes post pairing and comparing that to the average normalized EPSCs during the 10 minute baseline. Our criterion for plasticity required that the difference between averaged EPSCs from the baseline and post pairing be greater than 2 standard deviations. Data from each neuron within a treatment group was combined and represented as percent baseline values. Summary data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Data was analyzed using a one-way ANOVA and Bonferroni post hoc test or Student's t test in which statistical significance from baseline for within each group was defined as p < 0.05.

RESULTS

Optogenetic isolation of the ventral hippocampal to NAc shell input is capable of expressing LTD and this opto-LTD is NMDA receptor dependent.

Injection of AAV2-CaMKIIa-hChR2(H134R)-eYFP or AAV2-CaMKIIa-eYFP into the vHipp of male Drd1-tdTomato mice (PD35-PD42) resulted in selective expression of ChR2-eYFP in glutamatergic vHipp output neurons and their terminals present in the NAc shell (Fig. 1 A). The use of the CaMKIIa promotor on the viral vector for ChR2 ensures that the expression of ChR2 is limited to the principle glutamatergic projection neurons from the vHipp. Activation of ChR2 present in glutamate terminals from a single input to the NAc is capable of eliciting EPSCs in MSNs (Britt et al., 2012; Pascoli et al., 2014) and plasticity has been observed at these isolated synapses. In the present experiment we conducted whole cell patch clamp recordings on D1R-MSNs identified via tdTomato expression. Blue light stimulation of ChR2 expressed in vHipp terminals in the NAc shell resulted in light evoked EPSCs. A summary diagram of the electrophysiological experiments can be seen in Figure 1 B.

We have previously seen that NMDAR-dependent LTD is expressed only in D1R-MSNs (Jeanes et al., 2014b; Renteria et al., 2017). A pairing protocol that combined light stimulation (4ms pulses at 1 Hz) with depolarization to -50 mV produced an optogenetic LTD (Figure 1 C-D, 51.14 \pm 0.728 percent of baseline, n = 7, five animals). a single input onto D1R-MSNs is capable of exhibiting plasticity following an induction protocol similar to the electrical stimulation induction protocol that activates all available inputs used in our prior work. We also observed that the perfusion of the NMDA receptor antagonist D-APV onto the slice prior to and during our optical pairing protocol prevented the expression of LTD (Figure 1 C-D, 99.48 \pm 1.629 percent of baseline, n = 5, five animals) confirming that this form of plasticity is dependent on the activation of NMDA receptors.

Acute *in vitro* ethanol exposure inhibits ventral hippocampal-accumbal glutamatergic plasticity

Ethanol is a well-known inhibitor of NMDA receptors and prior work from our lab indicates that it is capable of differentially inhibiting the expression of LTD in the NAc when stimulating glutamate release from all available inputs using electrical stimulation (Jeanes et al., 2014; Jeanes et al., 2011; Renteria et al., 2017; Renteria, Maier et al., 2017). Our aim was to verify that pharmacologically relevant concentrations of ethanol are capable of disrupting LTD of the vHipp to shell D1R-MSN circuit.

Bath application of a moderately to strongly intoxicating concentration of ethanol (40 mM), equivalent to ≈ 0.2 blood alcohol concentration (BAC) in a person and within the range of our target BECs during *in vivo* CIE vapor exposure (described below),

completely inhibited LTD expression (Figure 2, 101.9 ± 2.998 percent of baseline, n = 8, seven animals). Bath application of a low to moderately intoxicating concentration of ethanol (20 mM), equivalent to ≈ 0.1 BAC, also resulted in a loss of LTD expression. A slight decrease in EPSC amplitude was observed but was well below our threshold for plasticity expression (Figure 2, 92.5 ± 1.776 , n = 8, six animals). A one way ANOVA revealed a significant difference in EPSC amplitude as a percent of baseline between both ethanol treatment groups and naïve animals as well as a significant difference in EPSC amplitudes as a percent baseline between 20 mM and 40 mM EtOH treated groups (ANOVA: $F_{(2, 15)} = 172.7$, P < 0.0001, Bonferroni *post hoc* test P < 0.0001, 20 mM EtOH vs naïve and 40 mM EtOH vs naïve, P < 0.05 20 mM EtOH vs 40 mM EtOH0). These findings are in contrast to our previous report using electrical stimulation that did not observe the loss of LTD expression at the low to moderate concentration of ethanol (Jeanes et al., 2011).

CIE vapor exposure induced escalation of volitional ethanol intake in mice

Our initial *in vitro* findings suggest that the vHipp-Shell circuit may be sensitive to ethanol exposure. In order to examine the neural adaptations produced by *in vivo* ethanol exposure within this circuit, animals were allowed to freely consume ethanol and were then subjected to either ethanol vapor or air exposure. An outline of the *in vivo* behavioral experiments is shown in Figure 3a. Two weeks after stereotaxic injection of the viral vector for ChR2-eYFP or control-eYFP mice received daily limited access two bottle choice (2BC) drinking for 21 days prior to the first vapor (or air control) exposure. The last 5 days of drinking were measured as the baseline of consumption and was stable for both air and ethanol vapor exposed groups. CIE vapor exposure produced an escalation in ethanol consumption (g/kg) in the vapor treated animals following each bout

of chambering as compared to baseline intake. No escalation in ethanol consumption was observed in the air exposed mice. There was also no change in intake between animals injected with channelrhodopsin or eYFP (control) virus (Figure 3b). This is supported by repeated measures four-way ANOVA with corrections of sphericity using Greenhouse-Geisser that indicated a significant main effect of vapor exposure ($F_{(2,389,78,841)} = 5.293$ P < 0.001), a significant main effect of drinking session (F_(2.389, 78.841) = 10.439 P < 0.0001), a significant treatment group by drinking session interaction ($F_{(2.389, 78.841)} = 4.371$, P = 0.011), and no main effect of virus injected ($F_{(2,389, 78,841)} = .310$, P = 0.772). Animals injected with a virus that expressed eYFP but not ChR2 were used as a behavioral control and also underwent the same drinking and vapor or air exposure protocol. Those animals that underwent ethanol vapor exposure exhibited an increase in drinking after each vapor session that was not observed in air exposed animals (Figure 3b). Post hoc analysis revealed that ethanol vapor-exposed mice significantly increased volitional ethanol intake versus baseline across all drinking sessions (*P < 0.05 versus baseline, ****P < 0.0001versus baseline). In addition ethanol vapor exposed mice significantly increased their intake in the 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} drinking session as compared to air-exposed mice (^P < 0.05 versus air-exposed, P < 0.001 versus air-exposed). CIE vapor induced increase in volitional ethanol consumption mirror those previously reported in our lab (Renteria et al., 2017).

Ethanol consumption and CIE induced escalation of intake disrupts ventral hippocampal-accumbal glutamatergic plasticity

Several reports have observed a disruption in NMDAR-dependent plasticity after *in vivo* drug or ethanol exposure that is related to drug induced behaviors (Abrahao et al., 2013; Brebner et al., 2005a; Kasanetz et al., 2010b; Pascoli et al., 2011). Prior work from

our lab indicates that persistent long term disruptions in NMDAR-LTD are produced in shell D1R-MSNs following CIE induced escalation of ethanol intake. These findings were collected following electrical stimulation of glutamate release from all available inputs to the shell of the NAc (Renteria et al., 2017). Here, we conducted plasticity recordings 24 hours following the last 2BC drinking session in Drd1-tdTomato animals that had been subjected to EtOH vapor or air exposure.

Ethanol vapor treated animals exhibited a loss of expression of NMDAR-LTD in the vHipp-shell circuit (100.3 \pm 1.676 percent baseline, n = 9, seven mice, Figure 3c-d). NMDAR-LTD was expressed in air treated control mice 24 hours after last drinking session (67.64 \pm 0.828 percent of baseline, n = 8, six animals, Figure 3c-d). However, we observed a reduction in the magnitude of LTD as compared to naïve control animals. A one-way ANOVA revealed a significant difference in EPSC amplitude at the 40-50 min time period between air-exposed, vapor-exposed, and naïve animals (F $_{(2, 15)}$ = 466, P < 0.0001). Post hoc analysis revealed a significant difference between naïve and airexposure (****P < 0.0001, versus naïve), naïve and vapor-exposure (****P < 0.0001, versus naïve), and air-exposure and vapor-exposure ($^{\wedge\wedge\wedge}P < 0.0001$, versus airexposure). We also observed that the amount of ethanol consumed during the last 2 hour drinking session was correlated with the magnitude of LTD. Recordings from vapor exposed animals showed no correlation (P = 0.611), however recordings from air exposed mice showed a significant inverse relationship between ethanol consumption and the magnitude of LTD (Spearman's R = -0.9818, P < 0.001). These findings suggest that the amount of ethanol consumed, in the absence of vapor exposure, has a negative impact on the expression of vHipp-shell NMDAR-LTD. As previously reported CIE induced escalation in ethanol consumption results in the loss of NMDAR-LTD expression within the shell.

Ethanol consumption does not alter ventral hippocampal-accumbal NMDA receptor activity

Previous work in the lab indicates that NMDA receptor activity is enhanced twenty four hours after CIE vapor exposure as measured by NMDA/AMPA ratio recordings (Renteria et al., 2017). We examined if NMDA receptor activity was enhanced in the vHipp-shell circuit following the escalation of drinking produced by CIE vapor exposure or following 2BC consumption. We observed no change in the NMDA/AMPA ratio in D1R-MSNs from either the vapor or air treated animals ($F_{(2, 18)} = 0.1479$, P = 0.1479, Fig 5 c-d). The NMDA/AMPA ratios for both groups were consistent with those previously shown in animals that did not undergo 2 bottle choice drinking and received air (control, naïve) exposure in a single 4 day bout of CIE treatment. This finding suggests that the enhancement in NMDA receptor activity observed twenty four hours after CIE vapor exposure is no longer expressed 8 days after the last vapor exposure in the current study (2 withdrawal days and 5 drinking days).

Ethanol consumption alters Ventral hippocampal-Accumbal glutamatergic signaling

Prior work indicates that ethanol consumption and CIE vapor exposure enhances spontaneous EPSC (sEPSC) frequency 24 hours after the last drinking session (Renteria et al., 2017). In this current cohort of animals, a one-way ANOVA ($F_{(2, 14)} = 8.336$, P = 0.0041, Fig 4c-d) revealed a significant increase in sEPSC frequency (**P < 0.01, versus naïve; ^P < 0.05, versus air) in the vapor exposed group. Another one-way ANOAVA (F (2, 13) = 14.02, P = 0.0006; ***P < 0.0001 versus naïve, Fig4c-d) revealed a significant increase in sEPSC amplitude in the vapor treated group. These vapor induced alterations are present 24 hours after the last drinking session in vapor exposed animals.

In order to examine circuit specific adaptations in glutamatergic signaling, we recorded asynchronous EPSCs (asEPSC) by using blue light stimulation to evoke quantal like events from vHipp terminals in the presence of strontium. The replacement of calcium with strontium in the recording solution acts to prolong release events and results in quantal like release events occurring for a short duration following stimulation (analysis began 30ms after stimulus offset up to 400ms). Circuit specific analysis of glutamatergic signaling revealed a significant increase in asEPSC frequency in the vapor treated group compared to naïve animals (F $_{(2, 12)}$ = 4.853, *P = 0.0286; *P < 0.05 versus naïve, Fig 4a-b) suggesting that vapor exposure and an escalation in ethanol consumption leads to a presynaptic alteration in glutamatergic signaling. A one way ANOVA ($F_{(2, 12)}$ = 28.85, ****P < 0.0001) revealed a significant effect of ethanol consumption on asEPSC amplitude. Post hoc analysis indicates a significant increase in asEPSC amplitude in the air treated group as compared to naïve (**P < 0.01 versus naïve) as well as significant increase in asEPSC amplitude in the vapor exposed group as compared to naïve and air exposed animals (****P < 0.0001vs naïve, P < 0.05 vs air, Fig 4a-b). These findings suggest that ethanol consumption is enhancing postsynaptic glutamatergic function at D1R-MSNs synapses with the vHipp, with an escalation in consumption exhibiting the largest enhancement.

In light of the observed alterations in asEPSC amplitude and frequency we attempted to recapitulate the presynaptic effect by conducting paired- pulse ratio (PPR) recordings (2 pulses, 50ms interstimulus interval) which are inversely correlated with neurotransmitter release. We observed that ethanol consumption produces a decrease in
the PPR (EPSC 2 / EPSC 1) (F $_{(2, 24)}$ = 13.47, ***P = 0.001, Fig 5a-b) post hoc analysis indicates a significant reduction in PPR in both Air (**P <0.01 vs naïve) and Vapor (***P < 0.001 vs naïve) treated groups, suggesting that ethanol consumption leads to an increase in the probability of glutamate release form vHipp terminals onto D1R-MSNs of the shell. These findings together indicate that ethanol consumption is enhancing glutamatergic signaling in the vHipp-Shell circuit.

Ethanol consumption leads to the insertion of calcium permeable AMPARs into ventral hippocampus-accumbal D1R-MSN synapses

The insertion of GluA2 subunit lacking AMPA receptors which are permeable to calcium (CPARs) has been observed following exposure to and withdrawal from psychostimulants (Conrad et al., 2008b; Cull-Candy et al., 2006), opiates (Hearing et al., 2016b), and ethanol (Beckley et al., 2016; Renteria et al., 2017) The presence of these CPARs in MSNs can be observed in electrophysiological recordings by a rectification of AMPAR EPSCs generated when holding the MSN at positive holding potentials. At positive holding potentials these CPAR channels are blocked by intracellular polyamines resulting in a reduction in outward current. Prior work in our lab indicates that CIE induced escalation in ethanol consumption results in an increase in rectification of AMPAR EPSCs (Renteria et al., 2017). Electrical stimulation of all available glutamatergic inputs to D1R-MSNs exhibited rectification of AMPAR EPSCs 24 hours after the last drinking session in ethanol vapor treated animals and not in air treated animals. This change in rectification persisted for up to two weeks after the last drinking period and returned to baseline levels after three weeks.

Here we investigated whether a similar neuroadaptation occurs within the vHipp-Shell circuit following ethanol consumption. D1R-MSNs prepared from mice 24 hours after two bottle choice drinking revealed a rectification of AMPAR EPSCs at positive holding potentials and an overall decrease in the rectification index (EPSC amplitude at +40 mV/ EPSC amplitude at -80 mV) animals ($F_{(2, 25)}$ = 14.51, ****P < 0.0001, Fig 6a-b). Post hoc analysis indicates a significant reduction in the rectification index for both vapor (***P < 0.001 vs naïve) and air (***P < 0.001 vs naïve) exposed animals, suggesting that ethanol consumption results in the insertion of CPARs onto D1R-MSNs that synapse with vHipp terminals. In order to confirm that the alteration in rectification index produced by ethanol consumption is due to the insertion of CPARs, we conducted light evoked current recordings and bath applied the CPAR (GluA2 subunit lacking) selective antagonist NASPM. We observed a significant reduction in EPSC amplitudes in the presence of NASPM ($F_{(2, 72)}$ = 13.14, ****P < 0.0001, Fig 6c-d) in both air (***P < 0.001 vs naïve) and vapor (****P < 0.0001 vs naïve) exposed groups. Suggesting that the reduction in the rectification index observed after ethanol consumption is due to the insertion of CPARs.

Figure 1. A diagram of the experimental design and optical low frequency stimulation paired with membrane depolarization of D1R-MSNs induces NMDAR-LTD in vHipp-Shell circuit.



(A) Injection of AAV2-CaMKII-ChR2-eYFP or AAV2-CaMKII-eYFP into vHipp resulted in ChR2 expression in vHipp glutamatergic neurons and in the terminals within the NAc shell. D1R-MSNs were visualized by tdTomato expression. (B) Whole cell patch clamp recordings were conducted in D1R-MSNs and EPSCs were elicited by blue light stimulation of ChR2 present only in vHipp terminals within the NAc shell. (C) A pairing protocol consisting of 1 Hz light stimulation paired with depolarization to -50 mV results in LTD in D1R-MSNs receiving EPSCs only from vHipp terminals. The inclusion of the NMDAR antagonist D-APV in the bath prevents LTD expression. (D). Bar graphs representing the percentage change \pm S.E.M. for average EPSC amplitudes between the baseline (min 0-10) and post-pairing (min 40-50) time point. ****P < 0.0001 (Control n= 7 cells from 5 mice; APV n=5 cells from 5 mice)



Figure 2. Acute *in vitro* ethanol exposure abolishes the expression of NMDAR-LTD in glutamatergic plasticity of vHipp-Shell D1R-MSNs.

Escalating concentrations of ethanol applied *in vitro* in the recording bath disrupt the expression of NMDAR-LTD. Maximum inhibition of LTD expression was observed following exposure to a moderate to highly intoxicating concentration of ethanol (40 mM). In the presence of a low to moderately intoxicating concentration of ethanol (20 mM) a less then maximal inhibition of LTD expression was observed. Sample traces of averaged baseline and post-pairing EPSCs (60 seeps, 10 min) of a single representative recording from each ethanol group (Naïve n= 7 cells from 5 mice; 20mM n= 8 cells from 6 mice; 40mM n=8 cells from 7 mice). Bar graph represents percentage change of baseline \pm S.E.M. for average EPSC amplitude between baseline (min 0-10) and post-pairing (min 40-50) for each ethanol exposure group. ****P < 0.0001, ^P < 0.05.

Figure 3. CIE vapor exposure induced escalation of ethanol intake. *In vivo* ethanol consumption reduced the magnitude of glutamatergic plasticity (Air) and CIE-enhanced intake abolished glutamatergic plasticity of vHipp-Shell D1R-MSNs.



(A) the CIE exposure consisted of 3 bouts of ethanol vapor (or air control) exposure separated by 3 day withdrawal and 5 day 2BC drinking (15% ethanol vs water) periods. All electrophysiological recordings were conducted 24 hours after the last ethanol drinking period. (B) Average consumption of ethanol (g/kg/2hrs) \pm S.E.M. for each 2BC drinking period. Animals exposed to ethanol vapor exhibited an increase in 2BC drinking after each bout of vapor exposure regardless of virus injection. *P < 0.05 vs baseline, ****P < 0.0001 vs baseline, ^P < 0.05 vs air, ^P < 0.01 vs air. (C) The pairing protocol resulted in LTD in naïve animals but 24 hours after the last drinking session failed to elicit LTD in the vapor exposed animals. Air exposed animals exhibit a reduction in LTD magnitude 24 hours after the last drinking period. (D) Bar graph represents percentage change of baseline \pm S.E.M. for average EPSC amplitude between baseline (min 0-10) and post-pairing (min 40-50) for each ethanol exposure group. ****P < 0.0001 vs air. (E) Positive correlation between amount ethanol consumed during

the last session with the reduction in the magnitude of LTD observed in the air exposed animals. (Air n=8 cells from 6 mice; Vapor n=9 cells from 7 mice)



Figure 4. Ethanol experience enhances glutamatergic signaling in vHipp-Shell circuit.

(A) Representative traces of asEPSCs; light stimulation in the presence of strontium elicit quantal like asynchronous events for a brief duration only from glutamatergic input from the vHipp. Red regions represent the time window where asEPSCs are observed (30-400 ms after light pulse). (B) Ethanol experience increased asEPSC amplitude with the largest increase observed in vapor exposed animals **P < 0.01 vs naïve, ***P <0.001 vs naïve, ^P < 0.05 vs air. An increase in asEPSC amplitude was only observed in vapor exposed animals *P < 0.05 vs naïve. (C) Representative traces of spontaneous EPSCs. (D) Ethanol vapor exposure enhanced sEPSC amplitude and frequency only in vapor exposed animals **P < 0.01 vs naïve, ***P < 0.001 vs naïve. (Naïve n=10 cells from 8 mice; Air n=12 cells from 9 mice; Vapor n=13 cells from 10 mice)



Figure 5. Ethanol experience enhances presynaptic glutamatergic signaling but not NMDAR function.

(A) representative traces of paired pule (50 ms ISI) recordings. (B) Bar graphs representing paired pulse ratio (second EPSC amplitude / first EPSC amplitude). Ethanol experience reduced the paired pulse ratio with the maximum reduction in PPR observed in the vapor exposed group **P < 0.01 vs naïve, ***P < 0.001 vs naïve. (C) Representative traces of NMDAR/AMAPR ratio recordings. AMPAR component elicited at -80 mV holding potential. NMDAR component elicited at +40 holding potential and 50 ms after stimulus offset to allow for decay of any AMPAR mediated current. (D) Bar graphs representing the NMDAR/AMPAR ratio (NMDAR mediated EPSC amplitude / AMPAR mediated EPSC amplitude). No difference was observed in this ratio between the two groups. (Naïve n=10 cells from 6 mice; Air n=12 cells from 8 mice; Vapor n=14 cells from 9 mice)



Figure 6. Ethanol experience results in the insertion of CPARs into vHipp-Shell synapses

(A) Current voltage (IV) relationship of AMPAR mediated EPSCs (in the presence of D-APV) in vHipp-Shell D1R-MSNs. Twenty four hours after drinking a significant inward rectification is observed in ethanol experienced animals but not naïve animals. (B) Rectification index (EPSC amplitude at +40 mV / EPSC amplitude at -80 mV) is decreased in both vapor and air exposed groups 24 hours after drinking ***P < 0.001 vs Naïve. (C) Bath application of the CPAR selective antagonist NASPM produced a reduction in EPSC amplitudes in both air and vapor exposed animals ***P < 0.001 vs naïve, ****P < 0.0001 vs naïve. (Naïve n=9 cells from 5 mice; Air n=10 cells from 6 mice; Vapor n=13 cells from 7 animals) (D) Averaged relative amplitudes of EPSCs before and after washing on NASPM. (n=6 cells from 6 animals for all groups)

DISCUSSION

The major finding in the present study is that by assessing the individual ventral hippocampal-accumbal input we are capable of unmasking ethanol induced adaptations that are distinct from those observed when assessing "monosynaptic" adaptations. Following acute in vivo exposure to ethanol the vHipp-shell circuit also appears to have enhanced sensitivity of NMDAR-LTD to ethanol exposure. Free consumption of ethanol and binge-like ethanol exposure results in alterations in vHipp-Shell plasticity and glutamatergic neurotransmission. These changes are likely associated with the formation of ethanol dependence. A particularly interesting observation was the decrease in the magnitude of synaptic depression in D1R-MSNs receiving input solely from vHipp that was negatively correlated with the volume of ethanol consumed during the last drinking session. A similar correlation between ethanol consumption and NMDAR-LTD magnitude was observed in animals that consumed higher volumes of ethanol in a 2BC drinking paradigm very similar to the one we employed (Mangieri et al., 2017). A correlation between the volume of ethanol consumed and the magnitude of LTD was not observed in the vapor treated (binge-like ethanol) group, this finding is most likely due to a floor effect. CIE-induced enhancement in ethanol consumption abolishes the ability to elicit LTD in D1R-MSNs perhaps due to alteration in the MSN shifting the threshold for the expression of plasticity.

Furthermore, this change in vHipp-Shell plasticity following ethanol consumption was associated with alterations in presynaptic glutamate signaling from the vHipp as indicated by changes in asEPSC frequency and the PPR, suggesting enhancements in release from the vHipp following drinking and in particular binge-like (vapor) exposure. Another interesting aspect of altered glutamatergic neurotransmission in this circuit following consumption was adaptations in postsynaptic signaling as indicated by changes in asEPSC amplitude as well alterations in AMPAR subunit expression. Ethanol consumption enhanced vHipp-Shell amplitude with a more robust enhancement following binge-like exposure. We also observed the insertion of GluA2 lacking CPARs into vHipp-Shell synapses following ethanol consumption as indicated by a decrease in RI and reduction in EPSC amplitude following application of the selective antagonist NASPM.

Accumbal Plasticity as an Engram of Dependence

Alterations in accumbal plasticity are a critical neuroadaptation observed following exposure to many different drugs of abuse; and likely are critically important neuroadaptive processes underlying drug-induced behavior. These adaptations are likely critical during the early development of drug consumption and seeking. Indeed this form of plasticity appears to be altered in animals that exhibit drug induced behaviors such as sensitization to the motor enhancing effects of psychostimulants (Alcantara et al., 2011; Mao et al., 2009; Pascoli et al., 2011) or alcohol (Abrahao et al., 2014; Abrahao et al., 2013) One of the most highly reproduced forms of plasticity in the accumbens is NMDAR-LTD, which is subregion and neuronal subunit specific and is disrupted by ethanol (Jeanes et al., 2014; Renteria et al., 2017).

In the present study, we focused on recording from D1-MSNs in the shell of the NAc. Our aim was to determine input specific neural adaptations of shell D1-MSNs produced by *in vitro* and *in vivo* ethanol exposure. A recent report indicates that the vHipp input to the shell of the NAc is the most robust glutamatergic input (J. P. Britt et al., 2012). We chose to examine this dense input from the vHipp to shell to first verify that we were capable of producing NMDAR-dependent LTD of optically evoked EPSCs

in our hands, and to determine if plasticity of this isolated input onto D1-MSNs of the shell is altered by ethanol exposure.

Here we replicated our prior findings that binge-like ethanol exposure model prevents the expression of NMDAR-LTD in the shell D1R-MSNs. Our novel findings indicate that the input from the ventral hippocampus undergoes adaptations of this critical form of plasticity at much lower concentrations than observed when assessing plasticity at neurons receiving input from all available glutamatergic projections. Of particular interest is the finding that the amount of ethanol consumed correlates with the magnitude of LTD observed. This finding suggests that as animals increase their consumption there is a corresponding adaptation in plasticity within D1R-MSNs of the shell that shift these neurons away from the ability to express synaptic depression and towards a more excitable state. Prior findings indicate that a metaplastic shift occurs in D1R-MSNs 24 hours after being exposed to high concentrations of ethanol using the CIE Vapor model, a shift from synaptic depression to synaptic potentiation (Renteria et al., 2017). This same ethanol exposure that enhances the excitability and potentiation of accumbal synapses also results in a robust increase in the volitional consumption of ethanol. This is further evidence that alterations of accumbal plasticity leads towards heightened drug consumption and are likely critical for the formation of drug dependence.

Increases in ventral hippocampal-Accumbal Glutamatergic Signaling and alterations in AMPAR expression

Ethanol consumption and binge-like exposure produces enhancements in glutamatergic signaling within the vHipp-Shell circuit. We observed increases in both postsynaptic and presynaptic electrophysiological measurements of AMPAR signaling. We also observed the presence of CPARs in the synapse follow ethanol consumption. In

many brain regions AMPAR activity is largely or solely mediated through GluA2 subunit containing AMPARs; with some cells having basal CPAR activity (Conrad et al., 2008b; McGee et al., 2015; Reimers et al., 2011). CPARs are commonly enriched in GluA1 subunits and lack GluA2 subunits. This subunit composition of CPARs confers faster onset and offset kinetics as well as substantially increasing the single-channel conductance. The Calcium-permeability of these channels also likely has critical functional consequences on the synapse following their expression (Henley & Wilkinson, 2013; Liu & Cull-Candy, 2000; Wu et al., 2017). A number of types of drug exposure has been found to increase CPARs within the NAc, and predominantly within D1R-MSNs. CPAR insertion in D1R-MSNs has been reported following exposure to cocaine (Jean Terrier et al., 2016), opiates (Hearing et al., 2016b; Russell et al., 2016), and following alcohol drinking (Beckley et al., 2016) or vapor exposure (Renteria et al., 2017). Enhancements in CPAR with the NAc shell following alcohol (Beckley et al., 2016) and cocaine (James et al., 2014) exposure appears to be dependent on mTORC1 signaling. Disrupting mTORC1 signaling in the NAc suppresses ethanol intake (Neasta et al., 2010) as well as cocaine seeking (James et al., 2014). These findings suggest that insertion of CPARs in D1R-MSNs of the shell is critical for drug related behaviors. The drug-induced expression of CPARs may represent a common mechanism by which repeated drug exposure and withdrawal can regulate excitability and subsequent behavior.

Our findings would suggest that by isolating ventral hippocampal glutamatergic synapses onto NAc shell D1R-MSNs we can unmask adaptations in glutamatergic signaling that are not observed when all potential glutamatergic inputs are present during analysis. It is possible that vHipp-shell circuit has enhanced "sensitivity" to ethanol and is adapting at an earlier stage in the formation of ethanol dependence than previously observed in non-input specific recordings. This early adaptation of CPAR expression following ethanol consumption may serve to heighten excitability of D1R-MSNs and likely is influencing the change in the expression of plasticity within this circuit. By changing the subunit composition of AMPARs in the D1R-MSN it's possible that the general conductance of these synapses is heightened and subsequent input will produce a more robust effect, driving the neuron away from being able to exhibit long last synaptic depression (LTD) and towards a more potentiated state (loss of LTD < LTP). Our finding that asEPSC amplitude is enhanced in vHipp-Shell by alcohol consumption lends credence to this hypothesis. The possible change in conductance of AMPARs to alter the excitability of D1R-MSNs may also be influenced by an increase in presynaptic glutamatergic release from the vHipp as indicated by the observed increase in asEPSC frequency and paired pulse inhibition both of which suggest an increase in presynaptic release probability. It is also possible that the expression of CPARs could lead to enhanced Ca2+ flow into D1R-MSNs during "up states" which could serve to shift the threshold for NMDAR-dependent plasticity away from LTD towards LTP, with a loss of LTD expression being an intermediate stage between depression and potentiation.

Chapter 3:

Other Works in the Lab: Accumbal Plasticity as an Engram of Alcohol Use Probability

ABSTRACT

The mesocorticolimbic system is commonly referred to as the reward system of the brain and is critical for processing reward, reinforcement, motivation and goal directed behaviors. The system is composed of the nucleus accumbens (NAc) structures the shell and core which receive dopaminergic input from neurons of the ventral tegmental area (VTA); as well as glutamatergic input from the prefrontal cortex (PFC), hippocampus (particularly the ventral regions, vHipp) and the amygdala (predominantly basolateral, BLA). A growing body of evidence suggests that various types of drugs of abuse alter glutamatergic synaptic plasticity within the NAc and in particular the Shell subregion. Alterations in plasticity within dopamine D1 receptor expressing medium spiny neurons (D1R-MSNs) produced by various drugs of abuse suggests that there is significant predictive validity in using accumbal plasticity to screen genetic models, differing animal lines, or medications in order to better understand and treat alcohol abuse and dependence. In the present studies we examined viral mediated expression of a peptide that blocks expression of NMDA receptor dependent long term depression (NMDAR-LTD) and its effect on ethanol consumption to determine if preventing accumbal plasticity prevents the formation of ethanol dependence.

We also studied high drinking in the dark (HDID) mice that were selectively bred for high blood ethanol concentrations (BECs) following drinking in the dark procedures.

INTRODUCTION

The mesocorticolimbic system is commonly referred to as the reward system of the brain and is critical for processing reward, reinforcement, motivation and goal directed behaviors (Wise, 2004). The system is composed of the nucleus accumbens (NAc) structures the shell and core which receive dopaminergic input from neurons of the ventral tegmental area (VTA); as well as glutamatergic input from the prefrontal cortex (PFC), hippocampus (particularly the ventral regions, vHipp) and the amygdala (predominantly basolateral, BLA) (Sesack & Grace, 2010). In this configuration, dopamine in the NAc acts to alert an animal to the significance of certain stimuli, so that appropriate association can be made between its surroundings and its behavior.

All drugs of abuse elicit, to differing extents, an increase in extracellular dopamine within the shell of the NAc, leading to an incentive arousal state that facilitates instrumental drug relevant behaviors (Doyon et al., 2003; Imperato & Di Chiara, 1986; Weiss et al., 1993). Repeated non-contingent exposure to drugs of abuse is believed to result in maladaptive recruitment of dopamine transmission from the VTA. Increased dopamine could produce aberrant motivational behaviors typical of adduction such as compulsive responding for drugs and perseverance on drug-related stimuli at the expense of nondrug rewards. Recent hypotheses propose that mesolimbic dopamine release acts as a motivational learning signal (Spanagel & Weiss, 1999); a signal of pathological associative learning (Di Chiara, 2002); a signal that works to inform the predictability of reward-related cues previously associated with drug availability (Fiorillo et al., 2003); or a neural substrate of incentive salience (Berridge & Robinson, 2003).

Medium spiny neurons (MSNs) of the NAc function as integrators that combine the dopamine saliency signal in the context of cognitive, sensory and emotional states conveyed by the glutamatergic projections. Input from the prefrontal cortex supplies executive control; the amygdala conveys conditioned associations as well as emotional valence and affective drive; and the ventral regions of the hippocampus imparting spatial and contextual information (Ambroggi et al., 2008; Gruber et al., 2009; Ito et al., 2008; Kalivas et al., 2005; Wolf, 2002). The shell subregion of the NAc is particularly important for aspects of drug reward. With the transition to an addicted state following a ventral to dorsal loop with adaptations first occurring in the shell, then core of the NAc, and finally transitioning to the dorsal striatum (Ikemoto, 2007; Rodd-Henricks et al., 2002; Sellings & Clarke, 2003). Neuroadaptations within the accumbens are believed to be critical for the development and expression of addiction to various reinforcers including ethanol (Christian Lüscher & Malenka, 2011b). By gaining a better understanding of the synaptic adaptations that occur within this region following drug exposure we can better investigate and target novel therapeutic targets for intervention.

The most well characterized form of postsynaptic plasticity within the NAc is NMDAR-LTD (Thomas et al., 2001). This form of plasticity is induced by prolonged low-frequency stimulation (LFS, 1-3 Hz) of presynaptic terminals paired with postsynaptic membrane depolarization. This pairing protocol results in weak activation of postsynaptic NMDARs, leading to a moderate influx of calcium through the NMDARs, and a subsequent activation of calcineurin and protein phosphatase 1 (Mulkey et al., 1993). Activation of these adaptor proteins leads to the clathrin mediated internalization of GluA2 subunit containing AMPARs from the postsynaptic membrane which causes the long lasting decrease in synaptic strength (Beattie et al., 2000). The interaction of the adaptor proteins with the C-terminus of the GluA2 subunit is critical for the expression of NMDAR-LTD (Brebner et al., 2005a; Jeanes et al., 2014; Scholz et al., 2010).

Drug-induced disruptions of NMDAR-LTD in the NAc has been observed following exposure to various drugs of abuse and routs of administration including the psychostimulants cocaine (Martin et al., 2006a; Thomas et al., 2001) and amphetamine (Mao et al., 2009) as well as heroin (Shen & Kalivas, 2013) and ethanol (Abrahao et al., 2013; Jeanes et al., 2014; Jeanes et al., 2011a; Renteria et al., 2017; Renteria, Maier, et al., 2017; Spiga et al., 2014). Importantly in animals that self-administer drugs such as cocaine or ethanol, only a subset of animals show persistent drug-seeking characteristics similar to those seen in human who are substance dependent (Abrahao et al., 2013; Deroche-Gamonet, 2004). Dependent animals displayed persistent changes in behavior such as sensitization to the locomotor effects of the drug of abuse. These behavioral impairments were associated with persistent impairments in LTD which suggests that long-lasting impairments of LTD may be important for the transition from drug seeking to drug dependence.

In vitro ethanol can inhibit NMDARs in the NAc (Maldve et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2005) and blocks expression of NMDAR-LTD (Jeanes et al., 2011). Chronic intermittent *in vivo* ethanol exposure is a widely accepted binge-like model that reliably induces ethanol dependence in mice (Becker & Lopez, 2004). Animals that undergo CIE exposure exhibit a reversal in the expression of plasticity (Jeanes et al., 2011; Renteria, et al., 2017) where an induction protocol that normally produces LTD instead result in long term potentiation (LTP) in C57Bl/6J mice. Interestingly, in Swiss Webster mice exposure to CIE vapor does not elicit LTP. The Swiss Webster mice do not readily consume ethanol as compared to high consuming C57BL/6J mice. This suggests that alterations in accumbal plasticity may relate to ethanol consummatory behavior and the loss of LTD expression, or shift towards the expression of LTP following the same

induction protocol in animals, may serve as a predictor for ethanol consumption and dependence.

In the present studies we examined if a viral mediated disruption of GluA2 subunit internalization modulates CIE-enhanced ethanol intake. Two-bottle choice (2BC) drinking interspersed with bouts of CIE vapor exposure typically enhances ethanol preference and intake by approximately 50% (Renteria et al., 2017). We endeavored to determine if the loss of the ability to produce LTD by blocking GluA2 containing AMPAR internalization prevents this observed escalation in volitional ethanol intake following CIE vapor exposure. If alterations in accumbal plasticity are critical for the formation of ethanol dependence we would suspect that preventing adaptations in accumbal plasticity would disrupt CIE-enhanced ethanol intake.

In this study we also examined the predictive validity of accumbal plasticity by assessing NAc Shell plasticity in a genetic model of binge-like drinking in animals that have been selectively bred for high blood ethanol concentrations (BECs), following drinking in the dark (DID) procedures (rodent model of binge ethanol consumption). This model has been shown to produce intoxicating levels of consumption in mice (Crabbe et al., 2009; Rhodes et al., 2005). Outbred HS/NPt mice underwent DID procedures and those mice with the highest BECs were selectively bred together resulting in high drinking in the dark (HDID) mice. These HDID mice display enhanced ethanol consumption and BECs in the DID paradigm compared to progenitor HS/NPt mice (Crabbe et al., 2009). If accumbal plasticity is a predictor of ethanol consummatory behaviors and the formation of dependence we would expect to see differential alterations in HDID mice as compared to HS/NPt mice following brief ethanol exposure.

LENTIVIRAL MEDIATED DISRUPTION OF GLUA2 SUBUNIT AMPAR INTERNALIZATION MODULATES CIE-ENHANCED ETHANOL INTAKE

Stereotaxic viral injections were conducted by Daniel Kircher and Esther Maier. Electrophysiological recordings were conducted by Daniel Kircher. Behavioral experiments were conducted by Esther Maier. This work contributes to a manuscript entitled: Authors: Esther Maier, Daniel Kircher, and Richard Morrisett.

Methods

Animals

Mice were heterozygous BAC transgenic mice in which the tomato fluorophore expression was driven by dopamine D1 receptor (Drd1a-tdTomato from Jackson Laboratories) gene regulatory elements. All animals used were male. Transgenic mice were backcrossed in the C57BL/6J line. Mice were single housed after surgery. All animals were kept in a temperature and humidity controlled environment with a 12 h light/ 12 h dark cycle (lights on at 0700 h). Animals were given a minimum of 3 days of recovery from surgery prior to light reversal (lights on at 2100 h). All procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Texas at Austin.

Stereotaxic injections

5- to 6-week-old mice. Anesthesia was induced at 3% and maintained at a range of 1.5-2% isoflurane (w/v) (Animal Health International) as determined by depth of animal breathing. The animal was placed in a stereotaxic frame (Kopf) and bilateral craniotomies were performed using stereotaxic coordinates adapted from a mouse brain atlas and then refined by sham injections (for NAc Shell: anterior-posterior = +1.345; medial-lateral = \pm 0.750; dorsal-ventral (from the surface of the skull) = -5.0). Injections of virus (0.20 µl per injection site) were made using graduated pipettes (Drummond Scientific Company), broken back to a tip diameter of 10-15 µm, at an infusion rate of \approx 0.05 µl per min. Animals given one week to recover prior to two bottle choice Drinking.

Two Bottle Choice

Two bottle choice (2BC) drinking is a limited access (2 hour access) paradigm used to measure changes in volitional consumption (Griffin, 2014). Thirty minutes prior to the beginning of the dark cycle (light out 0930 hours) mice are given access to two bottles, one containing a 15% ethanol and tap water solution and the other containing tap water alone. This procedure was to accustom the mice to ethanol consumption. Prior to the drinking session, bottles and mice were weighed. After the two hours access bottles were again weighed. Bottle weights prior to and after drinking were compared to give the amount consumed (g alcohol per kg animal body weight). Animals with prior 2BC and operant self-administration experience underwent 12 days of consecutive 2BC to establish baseline consumption.

Chronic Intermittent Ethanol

Mice were exposed to CIE vapor using previously established model that has been shown to lead to increases in volitional ethanol consumption in mice (Becker & Lopez,

2004). Ethanol was volatilized by bubbling air through a flask containing 95% ethanol at a rate of 3.5 liter/min. Ethanol vapor was then combined with a separate air steam to give a total flow rate of approximately 4 liters/min. Ethanol enriched air was delivered to mice in special mouse chamber units with airtight tops (Allentown Inc., Allentown NJ). Each bout of vapor consisted of 16 hours of ethanol vapor exposure followed by 8 hours of withdrawal, repeated for 4 consecutive days. Mice were injected (i.p.) with a loading dose of ethanol (20% v/v, 1.5 g/kg) and pyrazole (68.1 mg/kg) suspended in 0.1M PBS prior to vapor exposure to achieve a blood ethanol concentration (BEC) of 150-200 mg/dl (37-47 mM). Air control mice were handled the same as ethanol exposed mice but received an injection of only pyrazole suspended in PBS. Following baseline 2BC consumption, animals were exposed to a single bout of vapor followed by a 3 day withdrawal period before 2BC consumption was assessed for 5 days (2BC:1). Animals then received a 7 day abstinence period followed by a second bout of vapor exposure and withdrawal and a second consumption assessment (2BC:2). Following drinking animals underwent a 3rd and final bout of vapor exposure and withdrawal period followed by a final consumption assessment (2BC:3).

Blood ethanol concentrations

Following the completion of each 16 hour vapor exposure, tail blood samples of approximately 5 μ l were collected upon removal from the vapor chambers each day prior to withdrawal. BECs were measured using gas chromatography with a Bruker 430-GC (Bruker Corporation, Fremont CA) equipped with a flame ionization detector and CombiPAL autosampler. For each mouse, two samples of tail blood were added to 10 ml vials containing 45 μ l supersaturated sodium chloride solution. Samples were warmed to 65°C and the solid-phase micro extraction fiber (SPME; 75 μ m CAR/PDMS, fused silica;

Supelco, Bellefonte, PA) was used to absorb ethanol vapor from each sample. The stationary phase was a capillary column (30 m x 0.53 mm x 1 µm film thickness; Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA) and helium, at a flow rate of 8.5 ml/min, was used in the mobile phase. Ethanol peaks determined by the GC were analyzed using CompassCDS Workstation software (Bruker Corporation, Fremont CA). BECs of tail blood were calibrated against ethanol peaks from prepared ethanol standards (100-400 mM). Ethanol vapor flow rates and ethanol and loading injections were adjusted to maintain mice within a BEC range of 150-200 mg/dl (37-47 mM) following each 16 hour chambering period.

Brain slice preparation

Mice were at least 14 weeks of age at the time of slice preparation. Parasagittal slices (230-240 μ m thick) containing the NAc were prepared using a Leica vibrating microtome. Mice were anesthetized by inhalation of isoflurane and the brains were rapidly removed and placed in 4°C oxygenated artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF) containing the following in (mM): 210 sucrose, 26.2 NaHCO₃, 1NaH₂PO₄, 2.5 KCl, 11 dextrose, bubbled with 95% O₂/ 5% CO₂. Slices were transferred to a non-sucrose based ACSF solution for incubation containing the following (in mM): 120 NaCl, 25 NaHCO₃, 1.23 NaH₂PO₄, 3.3 KCl, 2.4 MgCl₂, 1.8 CaCl₂, 10 dextrose, were continuously bubbled with 95% O₂/ 5% CO₂; pH 7.4, 32°C, and were maintained in this solution for at least 60 minutes prior to recording.

Patch clamp electrophysiology

Whole cell voltage clamp recordings were conducted in the nucleus accumbens shell. Cells were identified using a BX50 microscope (Olympus) mounted on a vibration

isolation table. Recordings were made in ACSF containing (in mM): 120 NaCl, 25 NaHCO₃, 1.23 NaH₂PO₄, 3.3 KCl, 0.9 MgCl₂, 2.0 CaCl₂, and 10 dextrose, bubbled with 95% O₂/ 5% CO₂. ACSF was continuously perfused at a rate of 2.0 mL/min and maintained at a temperature of 32°C. Picrotoxin (50μ M) was included in the recording ACSF to block GABA_A receptor-mediated synaptic currents. Recording electrodes (thinwall glass, WPI Instruments) were made using a Brown-Flaming model P-88 electrode puller (Sutter Instruments, San Rafael, CA) to yield resistances between 3-6 MΩ. For LTD, Paired Pulse, and sEPSC recordings, electrodes were filled with (in mM): 120 CsMeSO4, 15 CsCl, 8 NaCl, 10 HEPES, 0.2 EGTA, 10 TEA-Cl, 4 Mg-ATP, 0.3 Na-GTP, 0.1 spermine, and 5 QX-314-Cl. For all recordings input and access resistances were monitored throughout the experiments. Cells in which input and access resistance varied more than 20% were not included in analysis.

Data acquisition and analysis

Whole-cell voltage- and current- clamp recordings were conducted on NAc shell D1-MSNs that exhibited Lentiviral expression of GluA2_{3Y} or GluA2_{3A} as indicated by eGFP expression. D1-MSNs were identified by the presence of td-Tomato and peptide was identified by the presence of eGFP using fluorescent light. Excitatory postsynaptic currents (EPSCs) were acquired using an amplifier (Dagan) filtered at 1 kHz, and digitized at 10-20 kHz with a Digidata 1440B interface board using pClamp 10.6 (Axon Instruments). EPSCs were evoked with pulses of electrical stimulation using a stainless steel bipolar stimulating electrode (FHC Inc.) placed about 15-300µm from the cell body. In experiments for long term plasticity, EPSCs were evoked for at least 10 minutes every 15 seconds, to ensure a stable baseline. To induce LTD, a conditioning stimulus of 500 light pulses at 1 Hz was paired with continuous postsynaptic depolarization to -50 mV.

EPSCs were then monitored for 30 minutes after pairing. The magnitude of LTD was calculated by averaging normalized (to baseline) EPSC values from 20-30 minutes post-pairing and comparing that value to the average normalized EPSCs during the 10 minute baseline. If the average EPSCs between 20 to 30 minutes post-pairing was greater than 2 standard deviations away from the 10 minute baseline then, plasticity was observed. Data from each neuron within a treatment group was combined and represented as percent baseline values. Summary data are presented as mean \pm SEM. Data was analyzed using a one-way ANOVA and Bonferroni post hoc test or Student's t test in which statistical significance from baseline for within each group was defined as p < 0.05.

Results

Lentiviral expression of a peptide mimic of the C-terminus tail of GluA2 AMPAR subunits prevented expression of NMDAR-LTD

Animals were injected with a lentiviral vector that was designed to express a peptide that mimics the intracellular c-terminus tail of GluA2 subunits. This synthetic peptide "GluA2-3Y" was derived from the rat GluA2 carboxyl tail (⁸⁶⁹YKEGYNVYG⁸⁷⁷) and has been shown to prevent the clathrin mediated endocytosis of GluA2 AMPARs when included in patch pipettes (Brebner et al., 2005b; Jeanes et al., 2011). Virus, labeled with GFP, was injected in the shell of the NAc and D1R-MSNs infected with the peptide virus (as indicated by GFP expression) were isolated for whole cell patch clamp recordings. Control animals with no virus expression exhibited a reduction in EPSC amplitude of around 50% as compared to baseline following our pairing protocol which mirrors previous findings from our lab.

Viral mediated expression of the GluA2-3Y peptide that mimics the C-terminus tail of GluA2 subunit containing AMPARs blocked the expression of NMDAR-LTD with

no change in EPSC amplitude following our pairing protocol (**P < 0.01 GluA2-3Y vs Control, Fig 7.). We also observed a significant reduction in the magnitude of LTD in animals that were injected with a viral vector expressing the GluA2-3A (scrambled control) peptide (*P < 0.05 GluA2-3A vs Control). There was a significant difference in EPSC amplitude following pairing between the active peptide (GluA2-3Y) vs the scrambled peptide (GluA2-3A) (**P < 0.01 GluA2-3Y vs GluA2-3A, Fig 7).

Viral mediated GluA2-3Y peptide expression disrupts CIE induced escalations in ethanol consumption after a period of abstinence.

Animals injected with either the virus that expressed the active peptide (GluA2-3Y) or the scrambled peptide (GluA2-3A) exhibited similar levels of consumption in the 2BC paradigm during baseline intake (Figure 9). Animals did not exhibit a significant difference in 2BC consumption following the first bout of CIE vapor. However, following a 7 day abstinence period prior to a second bout of vapor exposure, there was a significant reduction in ethanol consumption in animals injected with the active peptide as compared to the inactive peptide (*P <0.05, GluA2-3y vs GluA2-3A). This difference in ethanol intake observed between the two groups was lost after the 3rd bout of vapor exposure.

Figure 7. Viral mediated expression of the GluA2-3Y peptide blocks NMDAR-LTD expression in D1R-MSNs of the NAc shell.



(A) Representative traces of EPSC amplitudes before and after a pairing protocol. (B). the pairing protocol resulted in LTD in control and GluA2-3A peptide groups but not in GluA2-3Y peptide group. GluA2-3A peptide animals exhibit a reduction in LTD magnitude. (C) Bar graph represents percentage change of baseline \pm S.E.M. for average EPSC amplitude between baseline (min 0-10) and post-pairing (min 40-50) for each treatment group. *P < 0.05 vs control, **P < 0.01 vs control and GluA2-3A. (Control n=8 cells from 6 mice; GluA2_{3Y} n=8 cells from 7 animals; GluA2_{3A} n=8 cells from 6 animals)

Figure 8. GluA2 c-terminus peptide mimic disrupts CIE induced enhancement in ethanol consumption after an abstinence period



(A) The CIE exposure consisted of 3 bouts of ethanol vapor (or air control) exposure separated by 3 day withdrawal and 5 day 2BC drinking (15% ethanol vs water) periods. A 7 day abstinence period occurred between the second drinking session (2BC:1) and the second bout of CIE vapor exposure. (B) Daily ethanol consumption in animals with prior drinking experience. Ethanol consumption was enhanced following the second bout of CIE vapor in the GluA2-3A but not the GluA2-3Y peptide treatment group. (C) Bar graph indicates average amount of ethanol and water consumed in each 5 day 2BC drinking period.

Discussion

Including a peptide, that mimics the intracellular tail of GluA2 AMPAR subunits, in the intracellular solution of a recording pipette during whole cell patch clamp electrophysiology, results in the loss of expression of NMDAR-LTD (Jeanes et al., 2011). See illustration 1 for a diagram of peptide action on synaptic depression in the NAc. This finding supports the hypothesis that internalization of GluA2 containing AMPARs is critical for the expression of reduced EPSC amplitude exhibited as a result of NMDARdependent LTD. In the current study we used a lentiviral vector to expresses the same peptide. Peptide expression in D1R-MSNs resulted in a loss of NMDAR-LTD suggesting that viral mediated delivery of the peptide worked to prevent LTD expression by preventing the internalization of GluA2 containing AMPARs. We also observed a change in the magnitude of LTD in D1R-MSNs that expressed the scrambled GluA2-3A peptide. This change in the magnitude could indicate that saturation of the postsynaptic density with the scrambled peptide may have, to some degree, interfered with the cellular machinery responsible for the internalization of GluA2 containing AMPARs which was not mediated by binding to the adaptor proteins.

This change in synaptic plasticity produced by the overexpression of the GluA2-3Y peptide did not alter ethanol drinking in animal models of moderate ethanol consumption such as operant self-administration (Esther Maier, unpublished findings) or during 2BC drinking (Figure 8). However, we did observe that CIE vapor exposure, a binge-like ethanol exposure model that leads to prolonged high BECs resulting in increases ethanol consumption (Figure 3), did not result in enhanced drinking after two separate vapor exposures. This finding supports the notion that AMPAR trafficking plays a critical role in alcohol reinforcement during intense levels of ethanol exposure. We also observed that the animals that received injections of the active peptide did not show large enhancement in volitional consumption after the repeated bouts of ethanol vapor similar to what has been presented above or in prior work from the lab (Renteria et al., 2017).

It is important to note that while the injection of the lentiviral vectors did result in peptide expression in D1R-MSNs, this expression only occurred in a subset of these neurons within the NAc shell. It is possible, that by preventing the expression of LTD in only a subset of shell D1R-MSNs, we are not sufficiently disrupting ethanol induced adaptations within the entire shell, which may allow for a sufficient group of D1R-MSNs to adapt in response to ethanol exposure resulting in little change in ethanol consumption in low to moderate drinking paradigms. Ideally, future techniques could allow for expression of such a peptide in all D1R-MSNs which could have a more profound impact on ethanol consumption.

Our current findings do still lend some credence to the hypothesis that there is significant predictive value in accumbal plasticity as an engram of abuse potential. Using accumbal plasticity studies to screen and validate potential medications in order to treat alcohol abuse and dependence.

EXAMINATION OF ACCUMBAL PLASTICITY IN A GENETIC MOUSE MODEL OF BINGE-LIKE DRINKING

This work supported a manuscript entitled: Alcohol-Related Gene Networks in Mice and Humans: Neuronal Plasticity in Extended Amygdala Authors: Laura B. Furguson, Lingling Zhang, Daniel M. Kircher, Shi Wang, R. Dayne Mayfield, John C. Crabbe, Richard Morrisett, R. Adron Harris, Igor Ponomarev. All electrophysiological experiments were conducted by Daniel Kircher.

Methods

Animals

Mice were HDID and HS/Npt mice, around 56 days old. Mice were single housed after surgery. All animals were kept in a temperature and humidity controlled environment with a 12 h light/ 12 h dark cycle (lights on at 0700 h). Animals were given a minimum of 3 days of recovery from surgery prior to light reversal (lights on at 2100 h). All procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Texas at Austin.

Stereotaxic Surgery for labeling D1R-MSNs

HDID and HS/Npt mice, around 56 days old, underwent bilateral injection of the fluorescent tracer cholera toxin subunit B (CTB: Alexa Fluor 555) into the VTA (from bregma, medial: lateral = \pm 0.38; anterior: posterior = -3.10). CTB is a retrograde tracer that infects neuron terminals. Resulting in labeling of MSNs that project to the VTA which are believed to be D1R-MSNs. Anesthesia was induced at 3% and maintained at 1.5% isoflurane (w/v) (Baxter AG) during the surgery. The animal was placed in a stereotaxic frame (Kopf) and craniotomies were performed using stereotaxic coordinates adapted from a mouse brain atlas (Paxinos & Watson). Animals were given 14 days of recovery prior to ethanol vapor or air exposure.

Chronic Intermittent Ethanol

Mice were exposed to CIE vapor or air (control mice) using previously established model that has been shown to lead to increases in volitional ethanol consumption in mice (Becker & Lopez, 2004). Ethanol was volatilized by bubbling air through a flask containing 95% ethanol at a rate of 3.5 liter/min. Ethanol vapor was then combined with a separate air steam to give a total flow rate of approximately 4 liters/min. Ethanol enriched air (or air alone for the control group) was delivered to mice in special mouse chamber units with airtight tops (Allentown Inc., Allentown NJ). Ethanol vapor exposure consisted of 16 hours exposure followed by an 8 hours of withdrawal, repeated for 4 consecutive days. Prior to chambering, mice received intraperitoneal injections of a loading dose of ethanol (20% v/v, 1.5 g/kg) and pyrazole (68.1 mg/kg for HDID and 34 mg/kg for HS/Npt) suspended in PBS, in order to achieve a blood ethanol concentration (BEC) of 150-200 mg/dl. Ethanol naïve mice were handled the same but were injected with a solution of only pyrazole in PBS and were exposed to air.

Blood ethanol concentrations

Following the completion of each 16 hour vapor exposure, tail blood samples of approximately 5 μ l were collected upon removal from the vapor chambers each day, prior to withdrawal. BECs were measured using gas chromatography with a Bruker 430-GC (Bruker Corporation, Fremont CA) equipped with a flame ionization detector and CombiPAL autosampler. For each mouse, two samples of tail blood were added to 10 ml vials containing 45 μ l supersaturated sodium chloride solution. Samples were warmed to 65°C and the solid-phase micro extraction fiber (SPME; 75 μ m CAR/PDMS, fused silica; Supelco, Bellefonte, PA) was used to absorb ethanol vapor from each sample. The stationary phase was a capillary column (30 m x 0.53 mm x 1 μ m film thickness; Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA) and helium, at a flow rate of 8.5 ml/min was used in the mobile phase. Ethanol peaks determined by GC were analyzed using CompassCDS Workstation software (Bruker Corporation, Fremont CA). BECs of tail blood were calibrated against ethanol peaks from prepared ethanol standards (100-400 mM). Ethanol vapor flow rates and ethanol and loading injections were adjusted to maintain mice

within a BEC range of 150-200 mg/dl (37-47 mM) following each 16 hour chambering period.

Brain slice preparation

Mice were at least 75 days old at the time of slice preparation. Parasagittal slices (230-240 μ m thick) containing the NAc were prepared using a Leica vibrating microtome. Mice were anesthetized by inhalation of isoflurane and the brains were rapidly removed and placed in 4°C oxygenated artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF) containing the following in (mM): 210 sucrose, 26.2 NaHCO₃, 1NaH₂PO₄, 2.5 KCl, 11 dextrose, bubbled with 95% O₂/ 5% CO₂. Slices were transferred to a non-sucrose based ACSF solution for incubation containing the following (in mM): 120 NaCl, 25 NaHCO₃, 1.23 NaH₂PO₄, 3.3 KCl, 2.4 MgCl₂, 1.8 CaCl₂, 10 dextrose, were continuously bubbled with 95% O₂/ 5% CO₂; pH 7.4, 32°C, and were maintained in this solution for at least 60 minutes prior to recording.

Patch clamp electrophysiology

Whole cell voltage clamp recordings were conducted in the nucleus accumbens shell. Cells were identified using a BX50 microscope (Olympus) mounted on a vibration isolation table. Recordings were made in ACSF containing (in mM): 120 NaCl, 25 NaHCO₃, 1.23 NaH₂PO₄, 3.3 KCl, 0.9 MgCl₂, 2.0 CaCl₂, and 10 dextrose, bubbled with 95% O₂/ 5% CO₂. ACSF was continuously perfused at a rate of 2.0 mL/min and maintained at a temperature of 32°C. Picrotoxin (50 μ M) was included in the recording ACSF to block GABA_A receptor-mediated synaptic currents. Recording electrodes (thinwall glass, WPI Instruments) were made using a Brown-Flaming model P-88 electrode puller (Sutter Instruments, San Rafael, CA) to yield resistances between 3-6 MΩ. For

current injection experiments, electrodes were filled with (in mM): 135 KMeSO₄, 12 NaCl, 0.5 EGTA, 10 HEPES, 2 Mg-ATP, 0.3 Tris-GTP, 260-270 mOsm (pH 7.3). For Plasticity, Paired Pulse Ratio, and sEPSC recordings, electrodes were filled with (in mM): 120 CsMeSO4, 15 CsCl, 8 NaCl, 10 HEPES, 0.2 EGTA, 10 TEA-Cl, 4 Mg-ATP, 0.3 Na-GTP, 0.1 spermine, and 5 QX-314-Cl. For all recordings input and access resistances were monitored throughout the experiments. Cells in which input and access resistance varied more than 20% were not included in analysis.

Data acquisition and analysis

Whole-cell voltage- and current- clamp recordings were conducted on NAc shell D1R-MSNs. D1R-MSNs were identified by the presence of CTB (Alexa Fluor 555) following tracer injection into the VTA that retrogradely labeled VTA-projecting D1R-MSNs. Excitatory postsynaptic currents (EPSCs) were acquired using an amplifier (Dagan) filtered at 1 kHz, and digitized at 10-20 kHz with a Digidata 1440B interface board using pClamp 10.6 (Axon Instruments). EPSCs were evoked with pulses of electrical stimulation using a stainless steel bipolar stimulating electrode (FHC Inc.) placed about 15-300µm from the cell body. In experiments for long term plasticity, EPSCs were evoked for at least 10 minutes every 15 seconds, to ensure a stable baseline. To induce LTD, a conditioning stimulus of 500 pulses at 1 Hz was paired with continuous postsynaptic depolarization to -50 mV. Light-EPSCs were then monitored for 30 minutes after pairing. The magnitude of LTD was calculated by averaging normalized (to baseline) EPSC values from 20-30 minutes post pairing and comparing that value to the average normalized EPSCs during the 10 minute baseline. If the average EPSCs between 20 to 30 minutes post-pairing was greater than 2 standard deviations away from the 10 minute baseline then plasticity was observed. Data from each neuron within a

treatment group was combined and represented as percent baseline values. Summary data is presented as mean \pm SEM. Data was analyzed using a one-way ANOVA and Bonferroni post hoc test or Student's t test in which statistical significance from baseline for within each group was defined as p < 0.05.

Results

Ethanol naïve HDID and HS/NPt mice do not differ in the passive properties of NAc Shell D1R-MSNs or basal glutamatergic signaling in the accumbens

A subset of HDID and HS/NPt animals underwent air control exposure to our CIE procedures. These animals were handled similarly to our CIE vapor exposed animals, including injections with pyrazole, except they were ethanol naïve. Electrophysiological experiments occurred 24 hours after the last sham CIE treatment. Whole cell current clamp recordings measuring the voltage response to increasing current steps (-400 - +100 pA) revealed no strain difference in excitability as measured by the number of action potential spikes observed at the different current steps ($F_{(5, 186)} = 43.53$, P = 0.9962, Fig 7). No strain difference was observed in spontaneous (sEPSC) amplitude (F _(3, 80) = 0.7308, P = 0.5367, Fig 8) or frequency (F _(3, 66) = 4.612, P = **0.0054, P = 0.978 HDID Air vs HS/NPt Air, Fig 8) between HDID and HS/NPt mice. Paired pulse ratio recordings 50ms ISI, EPSC2/EPSC1) revealed no strain difference in presynaptic glutamate signaling (F _(3, 25) = 2.258, P = 0.1063, Fig 9). These findings suggest that there is no basal difference in MSN excitability or pre or postsynaptic glutamatergic signaling between the HDID and HS/NPt strains.

CIE vapor exposure enhances excitability of NAc Shell D1R-MSNs in both HDID and HS/NPt mice

A subset of HDID and HS/NPt animals underwent at 4 day bout of CIE vapor exposure, which resulted in a daily BEC of 150-200 mg/dl, and electrophysiological recordings were conducted 24 hours after the last vapor exposure. Prior work in the lab indicates that a single 4 day bout of vapor exposure results in an enhancement in the excitability of D1R-MSNs but not in D1R-lacking MSNs (Renteria et al., 2017).Whole cell current clamp recordings measuring the voltage response to increasing current steps (-400 - +100 pA) revealed an increase in excitability following CIE vapor exposure as compared to ethanol naïve animals but no strain difference in excitability as measured by the number of action potential spikes observed at the different current steps ($F_{(15, 186)} =$ 2.353, **P = 0.0041, ****P < 0.0001 HDID Vapor vs HDID Air, ****P < 0.0001 HS/NPt Vapor vs HS/NPt Air, Fig 7). This finding recapitulates our labs prior findings using C57BL/6J mice and supports the idea that withdrawal from CIE vapor exposure increases the excitability of D1R-MSNs.

CIE vapor exposure alters accumbal glutamatergic signaling and differentially alters synaptic plasticity in HDID and HS/NPt mice

HDID and HS/NPt animals that underwent CIE vapor exposure exhibited no change in sEPSC amplitude but did exhibit an increase in sEPSC frequency 24 hours after the last vapor exposure. this finding is similar to previous work in the lab where D1R-MSNs show enhanced sEPSC Frequency, likely due to enhanced presynaptic glutamate signaling (Renteria et al., 2017). No change in the paired pulse ratio was observed in either strain following CIE vapor exposure. CIE vapor exposure differentially altered synaptic plasticity of NAc Shell D1R-MSNs 24 hours after the last exposure. HDID mice exhibited a loss of NMDAR-LTD following withdrawal from vapor exposure
similar to what was previously reported following CIE Vapor exposure in Swiss Webster mice (Jeanes et al., 2014a). Interestingly NMDAR-LTD was still observed in D1R-MSNs isolated from HS/NPt mice 24 hours after the last vapor exposure. There was a significant difference in EPSC amplitude (% baseline) in HDID and HS/NPt mice during post pairing (40-50 min, **P < 0.01, HDID vapor vs HS/NPt vapor, Figure 10). This suggests that Accumbal plasticity in HS/NPt mice is less sensitive to the effects of ethanol exposure used in this study.

Figure 9. CIE vapor exposure enhances excitability of D1R-MSNs from HDID and HS/NPt mice.



(A) D1R-MSNs from HDID mice exhibit increased firing in response to depolarizing current injections after CIE vapor exposure. Representative traces of action potential spikes and the average number of spikes observed for each current step. (B) D1R-MSNs from HS/NPt mice exhibit increased firing in response to depolarizing current injections after CIE vapor exposure. Representative traces of action potential spikes and the average number of spikes of action potential spikes and the average number of spikes of action potential spikes and the average number of spikes observed for each current step.

Figure 10. CIE vapor exposure results in differential expression in NMDAR-LTD in D1R-MSNs from HDID and HS/NPt mice.



(A) The pairing protocol resulted in LTD in naïve HDID and HS/NPt animals (B) Bar graphs represent percentage change of baseline \pm S.E.M. for average EPSC amplitude between baseline (min 0-10) and post-pairing (min 40-50) for each ethanol exposure group. (C) Twenty four hours after CIE vapor exposure D1R-MSNs from HDID mice exhibit a loss of LTD whereas D1R-MSNs from HS/NPt mice still show LTD. (D) Bar graphs represent percentage change of baseline \pm S.E.M. for average EPSC amplitude between baseline (min 0-10) and post-pairing (min 40-50) for each ethanol exposure group. **P < 0.01 HDID vs HS/NPt.



Figure 11. CIE vapor exposure does not altered paired pulse ratio of EPSCs in either HDID or HS/NPt animals.

(A) Bar graphs representing paired pulse ratio (second EPSC amplitude / first EPSC amplitude). Ethanol experience did not alter PPR in either HDID or HS/NPt mice. (B) Representative traces of paired pule (50 ms ISI) recordings.





(A) Representative traces of sEPSCs. (B) Bar graphs represent average (\pm S.E.M.) amplitude and frequency of sEPSCs in both naïve and CIE vapor exposed HDID and HS/NPt mice. **P < 0.01 vs HDID air, ^^P < 0.01 vs HS/NPt air.

Discussion

In the present study we compared electrophysiological properties of D1R-MSNs between HDID and HS/NPt mouse lines. HDID mice were selectively bread for high BECs following the drinking in the dark (DID) paradigm (animals exhibiting high BECs following DID procedures were bred together with each successive generation showing higher BECs following DID) with outbred HS/NPt mice as the progenitor line. By the eleventh generation ethanol consumption and BECs are significantly higher in HDID mice compared to HS/NPt mice (Crabbe et al., 2009). They also show increased sensitivity to ethanol and consumed modestly more ethanol in limited access 2BC paradigms compared to their progenitors(Crabbe et al., 2011; Crabbe, Harkness, et al., 2012; Crabbe, Kruse, et al., 2012). This suggests that selective breeding for high BECs selects for alleles that share common genetic control with some ethanol related responses. Our current hypothesis is that there is significant predictive value in accumbal plasticity as an engram of abuse potential. Here we aimed to use accumbal plasticity to screen the HDID and HS/NPt mouse line to determine if selectively breeding for high BECs results in alterations in accumbal plasticity.

Given the difference in ethanol consumption phenotypes between the mouse strains we expected to observe a difference in synaptic plasticity between the HDID and HS/NPt mice. We observed that a single 4 day bout of vapor exposure enhances the intrinsic excitability of D1R-MSNs from HDID and HS/NPt mice, increasing spike firing in response to depolarizing current steps, in both strains similar to what we have previously observed in C57Bl/6J mice (Renteria et al., 2017). We also overserved that vapor exposure increases the frequency of sEPSCs in both HDID and HS/NPt animals. This finding is also consistent with our prior work and suggests an enhancement in the probability of glutamate release presynaptically. This increase in observed sEPSC frequency may be the result of a rebound effect produced by the dampening of excitatory signaling during vapor exposure with the enhancement occurring during withdrawal. Similar increases in glutamate release has been observed following chronic ethanol exposure (Griffin, 2014; Roberto et al., 2004). The major finding of the current work is that following CIE vapor exposure differential alterations in synaptic plasticity was observed between the two mouse strains. We observed no change in accumbal plasticity in the outbred HS/NPt strain following vapor exposure compared to naïve HS/NPt animals. We did observe a loss of LTD in the NAc of HDID animals that underwent CIE vapor exposure. Prior work indicates that different mouse strains with different ethanol consumption profiles display different adaptations in accumbal plasticity following vapor exposure (Jeanes et al., 2014; Renteria, Buske, et al., 2017; Renteria, Maier, et al., 2017).

High drinking C57Bl/6J mice exhibit LTP following vapor exposure whereas lower drinking Swiss Webster mice exhibit only a loss of LTD after vapor exposure. HDID mice present a change in plasticity following vapor exposure whereas; HS/NPt mice display an electrophysiological phenotype that is unique from mice that drink greater quantities of ethanol. This suggests that selective breeding for high BECs does not alter accumbal CIE-induced metaplasticity. We believe that these findings do support the hypothesis that there is significant predictive value in accumbal plasticity as an engram of abuse potential. The HDID animals that have higher behavioral sensitivity to the effects of ethanol express adaptations in accumbal plasticity after ethanol exposure whereas the HS/NPt mice which are less sensitive to the behavioral effects of ethanol do not.

Chapter 4

Concluding remarks and future direction

Due to the current lack of effective pharmacotherapies for the treatment of addiction, and in particular alcohol use disorders, a greater understanding of drug induced neuroadaptations is needed. Novel targets for intervention that reverse synaptic adaptations produced by ethanol exposure could lead to more effective treatment strategies. To that end there is a fundamental need to understand how the brain's reward circuitry is altered after alcohol exposure and withdrawal. The nucleus accumbens (NAc) has a critical role in both reward processing and motivated behaviors, and is a critical hub of the brain's reward circuitry. It is vital that research identifies drug and ethanol induced neuroadaptations produced within this brain region (Lüscher & Malenka, 2011b). The findings presented here further our understanding of how repeated ethanol experience is encoded within this pivotal brain region.

The driving force of this investigation was to begin teasing apart if ethanol exposure produces input specific neuroadaptations within the nucleus accumbens. The use of state of the art tools such as optogenetics enables the isolation of individual components of the brain's reward circuitry, in order to examine how these components adapt to repeated drug exposure. Using this approach, a growing body of evidence has emerged, indicating individual glutamatergic inputs to the NAc adapt in distinct ways to repeated drug exposure and withdrawal (Britt et al., 2012; Hearing et al., 2016a; Joffe & Grueter, 2016; Pascoli et al., 2012; Pascoli et al., 2014). In order to isolate a single glutamatergic input to the NAc shell we injected a viral vector to express the light activated channelrhodopsin (ChR2) into ventral hippocampal (vHipp) neurons. This vector resulted in the insertion of ChR2 into the membrane of glutamatergic neurons that

project from the vHipp and terminates in the shell. The use of the CaMKII promotor in our viral vector specifically targets neurons that express CaMKII, which include the primary output neurons of the ventral regions of the hippocampus (ventral CA1 and ventral subiculum). Local blue light illumination of terminals present in the shell of the NAc, activates ChR2 allowing cation flow through ChR2 channels resulting in depolarization of the terminals and subsequent glutamate release selectively from vHipp terminals.

The vHipp has dense projections to the NAc (Groenewegen et al., 1987) and provides strongest projection to the shell subregion of the accumbens (Britt et al., 2012). Hippocampal input to the accumbens plays a role in gating synaptic transmission (O'Donnell & Grace, 1995) and works to shift NAc MSNs to their "upstate". The vHipp also plays an important role in reward processing (Wassum et al., 2009b) and drug seeking behaviors (Fuchs et al., 2005; Riaz et al., 2017a). Inactivation of the vHipp impairs the consolidation of contextual memory (Zhu et al., 2014) and disrupts retrieval of cue-reward memories (Riaz et al., 2017a). Selective inactivation of the ventral subiculum, one of the primary output structures of the vHipp, results in decreased context-induced relapse in ethanol consumption following punishment-imposed abstinence in rats (Marchant et al., 2016). Exposure to other drugs of abuse such as cocaine produce persistent changes in synaptic transmission in the vHipp following extended access to cocaine self-administration (Keralapurath et al., 2017). Finally, cocaine self-administration and withdrawal produces specific adaptations within the vHipp-NAc shell circuit that are specific to D1R-MSNs (Pascoli et al., 2014). Together these findings suggest that the vHipp is a good candidate input to initially target for

isolation in order to examine input specific alterations in glutamatergic signaling and plasticity following ethanol exposure.

First, we investigated whether light evoked EPSCs would exhibit NMDARdependent LTD following a pairing protocol similar to one previously employed which involved electrical stimulation of all available inputs onto D1R-MSNs in the NAc shell. We confirmed that low frequency light pulses paired with membrane depolarization reliably produced depression of light evoked EPSCa (LTD). We also confirmed that this form of plasticity is NMDAR-dependent, as indicated by the loss of LTD expression when the NMDAR antagonist D-APV was present. Next, we investigated the neuroadaptive alterations in excitatory synaptic plasticity in response to acute *in vitro* ethanol exposure. Acute ethanol, within the concentration range that we use to induce ethanol dependence *in vivo*, is capable of inhibiting NMDAR-LTD of isolated vHipp-Shell D1-MSN synapses. This form of plasticity has been shown to be disrupted by a number of drugs of abuse (Abrahao et al., 2013; Brebner et al., 2005a; Jeanes et al., 2014; Jeanes et al., 2011; Shen & Kalivas, 2012; Thomas et al., 2001) and the loss of expression of this form of plasticity has been associated with drug dependent behaviors (Abrahao et al., 2013; Brebner et al., 2005a).

The loss of LTD expression in accumbens MSNs appears to be a common feature produced by repeated exposure and withdrawal from many different classes of drugs. However, the mechanism for this loss of LTD expression may differ depending on the class of drug being assessed. For example cocaine exposure causes an initial depression of EPSCs (Huang et al., 2009; Kourrich et al., 2007b; Ortinski et al., 2012; Thomas et al., 2001) followed by a potentiation of excitatory input, and loss of LTD expression following withdrawal that is accompanied by the insertion of GluA2 lacking AMPA receptors (Britt et al., 2012; Conrad et al., 2008a; Gipson et al., 2014; Kourrich et al., 2007a; Pascoli et al., 2014; Pascoli et al., 2012). Withdrawal from nicotine selfadministration produces a similar potentiation in excitatory input (Gipson et al., 2013). Similar enhancements in excitatory signaling onto nucleus accumbens neurons, and loss of LTD expression, has also been observed following exposure to opiates (Russo et al., 2010; Shen & Kalivas, 2012; Wu et al., 2012). In contrast, acute ethanol exposure appears to suppress LTD expression by inhibiting NMDA receptors (Jeanes et al., 2011). Withdrawal from chronic ethanol exposure appears to enhance excitatory signaling onto accumbens MSNs accompanied by a loss of LTD expression, insertion of CPARs, and changes in spine morphology (Abrahao et al., 2013; Jeanes et al., 2014; Renteria et al., 2017; Spiga et al., 2014). Rebound excitation of NMDA receptors has also been observed following withdrawal from some ethanol exposure paradigms (Renteria et al., 2017).

We found that *in vitro* ethanol exposure at both low to moderate (20 mM) and moderate to highly (40 mM) intoxicating concentrations results in a loss of LTD expression in D1R-MSNs. This finding is in contrast to prior work that found that only the moderate to highly intoxicating concentration abolished LTD expression (Jeanes et al., 2011). To us this finding suggests that plasticity within the vHipp-Shell circuit is highly sensitive to ethanol exposure as we observed a loss of expression of LTD at a much lower concentration then previously reported. The expression of this form of LTD requires the activation of NR2B-containing NMDA receptors (Jeanes et al., 2011) and was blocked in the presence of the NMDA receptor antagonist D-APV. There is extensive literature that demonstrates ethanol inhibition of NMDA receptors in a number of brain regions including the NAc (Lovinger et al., 1989, 1990; Maldve et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2005), suggesting that the most likely mechanism for the loss of LTD expression following acute ethanol exposure is via the inhibition of NMDA receptors. Ethanol at a low concentration similar to the one used in our study (20 mM) is capable of reducing glutamatergic EPSPs, most likely due to effects on NMDAR receptors (Nie et al., 1993); however these findings were in young animals and to our knowledge these findings have not be replicated in adult animals. As there is no evidence that indicates ethanol in the 20 mM concentration range alters the function of NMDA receptors in adult animals it is possible, but not likely, that the loss of LTD expression in response to acute ethanol exposure is not the result of NMDA receptor inhibition.

The hypothesis that there is an unmasking of adaptations at the vHipp-shell circuit at lower concentrations or levels of ethanol exposure then has been previously observed when examining all available inputs to the NAc shell, is supported by our findings following in vivo ethanol exposure. Previously only animals that increase their ethanol intake following CIE vapor exposure exhibited enhanced glutamatergic signaling and a loss of LTD expression (Renteria et al., 2017). In contrast, the present study shows that animals expressing ChR2 in vHipp-Shell circuit that drank ethanol but did not escalate their intake following air exposure, exhibited a decrease in the magnitude of LTD at D1R-MSNs that was correlated with the volume (g/kg) of ethanol they consumed. Those animals that consumed greater amounts of ethanol following air exposure showed a greater reduction in the magnitude of LTD (smaller reduction in EPSC amplitudes postpairing) than animals that drank less. A similar finding has recently been reported where mice in an operant self-administration paradigm that consume greater quantities of ethanol exhibit reduced magnitudes of LTD (Mangieri et al., 2017). This change in the magnitude may be a first step leading towards the enhancement of D1R-MSN activity, shifting these neurons away from the ability to express synaptic depression and towards

synaptic potentiation. This shift may begin first in the vHipp-shell circuit in response to lower levels of ethanol exposure and may eventually lead to adaptations at other inputs and eventually the complete loss in expression of LTD as seen following CIE-induced escalation in intake. Glutamatergic input from the vHipp is important for gating of synaptic responses to other inputs (O'Donnell & Grace, 1995). The enhancements in presynaptic glutamate signaling that we observed following ethanol consumption in both air and vapor exposed animals may be working to drive these MSNs to a more depolarized state where other inputs can enhance the activation of the D1R-MSNs eventually leading to a complete loss of LTD expression. Since these neuronal recordings are conducted in brain slices, they give us a snapshot into the circuit specific adaptations occurring in response to different ethanol exposures. However, the functional implications of how these circuit specific adaptations are incorporated into rest of the brain's reward system and their impact on complex behaviors remains speculative, at the very least, the observed change in synaptic plasticity at this isolated portion of the circuit represents the fact that ethanol exposure and withdrawal can seriously augment information processing of the NAc and in particular processing of information relayed by the vHipp.

In the vHipp-Shell ChR2 animals, we also observed the presence of GluA2 subunit lacking calcium permeable AMPA receptors (CPARs) after drinking in both air and vapor exposed animals. The presence of CPARs was indicated by changes in rectification and alterations in EPSC amplitude in the presence of the CPAR antagonist NASPM. This change in AMPAR subunit expression may play a role in the observed change in synaptic plasticity after ethanol consumption. CPARs generally have greater single-channel conductance, and faster activation kinetics than GluA2 containing

AMPARs. In addition CPARs have been shown to be necessary for the incubation of cue induce drug seeking (Loweth et al., 2014). The presence of CPARs has also been observed in a circuit specific manner following self-administration of cocaine (Pascoli et al., 2014; Terrier et al., 2015; Terrier et al., 2016) or opiates (Hearing et al., 2016a).

The calcium-permeability of CPARs likely has important functional consequences on plasticity. As calcium entry into MSNs is a critical initiator for many forms of plasticity including NMDAR-LTD, it's possible that the incorporation of CPARs alters the volume of calcium entering D1R-MSNs and could lead to metaplastic shifts in the form of plasticity observed following afferent stimulation. According to the Artola-Brocher-Singer rule, induction of LTD or LTP depends on the ability of the postsynaptic membrane to reach sequential thresholds in order for each form of plasticity to be expressed (Artola & Singer, 1993). Increases in postsynaptic calcium levels, typically mediated by NMDARs, as a result of afferent stimulation can reach three potential "concentrations": low, resulting in LTD (Cho et al., 2001), intermediate, resulting in no plasticity, or high, leading to LTP. A CPAR-mediated increase in postsynaptic calcium levels may alter the basal concentration of calcium that enters the cell upon stimulation and likely would contribute towards a shift in the form of plasticity expressed. Future work using protein analysis techniques to examine AMPAR subunit composition would be useful to gain a better understanding of the degree to which AMPAR subunit expression is altered in the vHipp-Shell circuit following ethanol experience.

Here we observed differential expression in plasticity of vHipp-Shell D1R-MSNs from air and vapor exposed animals. The loss of LTD expression observed in the vapor exposed animals was accompanied by enhancements in asEPSC amplitude that significantly differed from those observed in the air treated group. We also observed an enhancement in asEPSC frequency that was only observed in the vapor exposed group. These increases in pre and postsynaptic glutamatergic signaling that were present in the vapor exposed animals may in part account for the observed difference between the air and vapor exposed groups in the expression of plasticity. It is also possible that the observed differences in plasticity between the air and vapor exposed animals is due to either: 1) synaptic adaptations within the vHipp-Shell circuit which we were not capable of detecting using the electrophysiological techniques we employed (i.e. increased expression of silent synapses in vapor exposed animals that is not observed in AMPA/NMDA ratios due to masking by enhanced AMPA component); or more likely, 2) is a compound effect produced by the interplay between the adaptations produced within the vHipp-Shell circuit and adaptations occurring at the other glutamatergic inputs onto the same MSNs.

Anatomical studies indicate that the input and output of dorsal and ventral hippocampus (dHipp & vHipp) are distinct (Swanson & Cowan, 1977). Spatial memory appears to depend on dHipp but not the vHipp (Moser et al., 1995) whereas, the vHipp and not dHipp, appears critical for stress responses and emotional behaviors. Lesion studies of the vHipp suggest that the loss of the vHipp decreases fear and anxiety including suppressing corticosterone in response to stressful stimuli (Kjelstrup et al., 2002). The ventral CA1, ventral subiculum, and the medial band of the lateral and medial entorhinal cortex give rise to projection to the NAc shell (Groenewegen et al., 1996; Naber & Witter, 1998). In this arrangement input from the vHipp to the NAc shell may convey memory for affective aspects of reward (Wassum et al., 2009a). Our finding of increased glutamatergic activity from the vHipp and an alteration in plasticity onto D1R-MSNs of the shell may comprise an alteration in the memory of the affective aspects of

alcohol, with the larger changes following binge-like CIE exposure potentially indicating an alteration in the animal's emotional state during withdrawal from robust ethanol experience. This conclusion is merely speculation given the reported nature of information being transmitted by the vHipp. Future work should be conducted to determine a direct relationship between the vHipp to shell circuitry and the expression of ethanol consummatory behavior.

A limitation of the present study is that we did not directly tie our observed circuit specific changes in plasticity and glutamatergic signaling with behavior. Our findings show a nice correlation between the amount of ethanol consumed and the magnitude of LTD observed in the vHipp-Shell circuit but we cannot say for certain that the change in signaling is responsible for increases in ethanol intake. Future work in the lab should aim to prove a link between synaptic adaptations and consummatory behavior. One possible approach would be to conduct experiments where animals are given 2BC access and undergo ethanol vapor exposure to enhance ethanol intake. If the adaptations in accumbal glutamatergic signaling are indeed critical for the expression of enhanced ethanol intake, pharmacological or physiological manipulations during the withdrawal periods following vapor exposure should prevent the increase in ethanol intake or even reduce the amount of ethanol consumed.

One such approach would be to infuse the CPAR antagonist NASPM directly into the NAc shell during this time point. It's possible that by blocking CPAR activity we can reduce ethanol consumption. This hypothesis is supported by the finding that cocaine seeking is significantly reduced after infusing NASPM into the NAc (Schmidt et al., 2015). Another potential approach would be to use *in vivo* optogenetics to optically induce plasticity in a particular circuit. mGluR1 activation can result in the internalization of postsynaptic CPARs. Activation of mGluRs has been shown to reduce cue induced responding for cocaine (McCutcheon et al., 2011). The involvement of mGluRs has been demonstrated in ethanol drinking behaviors (Cozzoli et al., 2012, 2014). By stimulating at 13 Hz, we could induce mGluR1 dependent LTD that can result in the insertion of CPARs, in order to examine if a CIE-induced increase in consumption is prevented by the reversal of CPAR expression. A similar approach found that *in vivo* stimulation at 13 Hz reverses cocaine-induced expression of CPARs and abolishes cue-induced cocaine seeking (Pascoli et al., 2014). If this approach were to successfully reverse the expression of CPARs and abolishes cue-induced ethanol seeking it would indicate mGluR1 as an interesting candidate for pharmacological intervention for alcohol dependence and alcohol use disorders. It could be particularly useful for future experiments to assess the ability of mGluR1 agonists to alter ethanol consummatory behavior in animals.

Additional future studies should also investigate the involvement and modulation of the other major specific inputs to the NAc in the ethanol induced modulation of plasticity including the medial prefrontal cortex, the basolateral amygdala, and the thalamus. Other studies indicate that input specific drug-induced adaptations can occur depending on which input is being assessed (Hearing et al., 2016a; Joffe & Grueter, 2016; Pascoli et al., 2014). It is critical to determine if input specific adaptations are universal for the various drugs of abuse, or if a drug like ethanol, which has a unique pharmacology, produces unique input specific adaptations following ethanol exposure. Our current findings indicate that similar overall adaptations are occurring but that the input at which they are occurring may differ depending on the drug of abuse assessed (i.e. CPAR insertion in vHipp seen here following ethanol, vs CPAR insertion in the mPFC following cocaine or opiates). Another interesting set of future experiments could involve the use of optogenetics or chemogenetics to selectively inhibit the activity of D1R-MSNs during either 2BC drinking or operant self-administration of ethanol. These studies would further support the critical nature of accumbal excitation, and in particular the activity of D1R-MSNs, in the formation of ethanol dependent consummatory behaviors. By incorporating this approach into an operant self-administration paradigm it would be possible to examine the role of this neuronal population on ethanol seeking behavior or the drive to work for access to ethanol. By optically or chemogenetically inhibiting the different inputs onto D1R-MSNs within the shell during experiments where an increasing degree of effort is required, we could gauge if different inputs to the shell are critical for the motivational aspect of ethanol responding. If in turn, we conduct cue-induced reinstatement experiments while suppressing the different inputs, we could gain information on those inputs roles in relapse-like behavior. Gaining a better understand of the circuit specific changes will hopefully allow researchers to identify novel targets for intervention that are ideally shared between various types of drugs of abuse.

References

- Abrahao, K. P., Ariwodola, O. J., Butler, T. R., Rau, A. R., Skelly, M. J., Carter, E., ... Weiner, J. L. (2013). Locomotor Sensitization to Ethanol Impairs NMDA Receptor-Dependent Synaptic Plasticity in the Nucleus Accumbens and Increases Ethanol Self-Administration. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(11), 4834–4842. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5839-11.2013
- Abrahao, K. P. ossa, Goeldner, F. O. liveira, & Souza-Formigoni, M. L. ucia O. (2014). Individual differences in ethanol locomotor sensitization are associated with dopamine D1 receptor intra-cellular signaling of DARPP-32 in the nucleus accumbens. *PloS One*, 9(2), e98296. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0098296
- Alcantara, A. A., Lim, H. Y., Floyd, C. E., Garces, J., Mendenhall, J. M., Lyons, C. L., & Berlanga, M. L. (2011). Cocaine- and morphine-induced synaptic plasticity in the nucleus accumbens. *Synapse (New York, N.Y.)*, 65(4), 309–20. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20730804
- Ambroggi, F., Ishikawa, A., Fields, H. L., & Nicola, S. M. (2008). Basolateral Amygdala Neurons Facilitate Reward-Seeking Behavior by Exciting Nucleus Accumbens Neurons. *Neuron*, 59(4), 648–661. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.07.004
- Anton, R. F., O'Malley, S. S., Ciraulo, D. A., Cisler, R. A., Couper, D., Donovan, D. M., ... COMBINE Study Research Group, for the. (2006). Combined pharmacotherapies and behavioral interventions for alcohol dependence: the COMBINE study: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, 295(17), 2003–17. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.295.17.2003
- Artola, A., & Singer, W. (1993). Long-term depression of excitatory synaptic transmission and its relationship to long-term potentiation. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 16(11), 480–7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7507622
- Assanangkornchai, S., & Srisurapanont, M. (2007). The treatment of alcohol dependence. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry*, 20(3), 222–7. https://doi.org/10.1097/YCO.0b013e3280fa837d
- Barkley-Levenson, A. M., & Crabbe, J. C. (2014). High Drinking in the Dark Mice: A genetic model of drinking to intoxication. *Alcohol*, 48(3), 217–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcohol.2013.10.007
- Beattie, E. C., Carroll, R. C., Yu, X., Morishita, W., Yasuda, H., von Zastrow, M., & Malenka, R. C. (2000). Regulation of AMPA receptor endocytosis by a signaling mechanism shared with LTD. *Nature Neuroscience*, 3(12), 1291–300. https://doi.org/10.1038/81823
- Becker, H. C. (1998). Kindling in alcohol withdrawal. Alcohol Health and Research World, 22(1), 25–33. Retrieved from

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15706729

- Becker, H. C., & Lopez, M. F. (2004). Increased ethanol drinking after repeated chronic ethanol exposure and withdrawal experience in C57BL/6 mice. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 28(12), 1829–1838. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15608599
- Beckley, J. T., Laguesse, S., Phamluong, K., Morisot, N., Wegner, S. A., & Ron, D. (2016). The First Alcohol Drink Triggers mTORC1-Dependent Synaptic Plasticity in Nucleus Accumbens Dopamine D1 Receptor Neurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 36(3), 701–13. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2254-15.2016
- Berendse, H. W., Graaf, Y. G.-D., & Groenewegen, H. J. (1992). Topographical organization and relationship with ventral striatal compartments of prefrontal corticostriatal projections in the rat. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 316(3), 314–347. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.903160305
- Berretta, N., Nisticò, R., Bernardi, G., & Mercuri, N. B. (2008). Synaptic plasticity in the basal ganglia: a similar code for physiological and pathological conditions. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 84(4), 343–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2007.12.004
- Berridge, K. C., & Kringelbach, M. L. (2013). Neuroscience of affect: Brain mechanisms of pleasure and displeasure. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 23(3), 294–303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2013.01.017
- Berridge, K. C., & Robinson, T. E. (2003). Parsing reward. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 26(9), 507–513. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-2236(03)00233-9
- Bertran-Gonzalez, J., Bosch, C., Maroteaux, M., Matamales, M., Hervé, D., Valjent, E., & Girault, J.-A. (2008). Opposing patterns of signaling activation in dopamine D1 and D2 receptor-expressing striatal neurons in response to cocaine and haloperidol. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 28(22), 5671–85. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1039-08.2008
- Besson, J., Aeby, F., Kasas, A., Lehert, P., & Potgieter, A. (1998). Combined efficacy of acamprosate and disulfiram in the treatment of alcoholism: a controlled study. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 22(3), 573–9. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9622434
- Bliss, T. V, & Lomo, T. (1973). Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the anaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. *The Journal of Physiology*, 232(2), 331–56. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4727084
- Bock, R., Shin, J. H., Kaplan, A. R., Dobi, A., Markey, E., Kramer, P. F., ... Alvarez, V. A. (2013). Strengthening the accumbal indirect pathway promotes resilience to compulsive cocaine use. *Nature Neuroscience*, 16(5), 632–8.

https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3369

- Bouchery, E. E., Harwood, H. J., Sacks, J. J., Simon, C. J., & Brewer, R. D. (2011). Economic costs of excessive alcohol consumption in the U.S., 2006. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 41(5), 516–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2011.06.045
- Bouza, C., Angeles, M., Magro, A., Muñoz, A., & Amate, J. M. (2004). Efficacy and safety of naltrexone and acamprosate in the treatment of alcohol dependence: a systematic review. *Addiction (Abingdon, England)*, 99(7), 811–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2004.00763.x
- Brebner, K., Wong, T. P., Liu, L., Liu, Y., Campsall, P., Gray, S., ... Wang, Y. T. (2005a). Nucleus accumbens long-term depression and the expression of behavioral sensitization. *Science*, *310*(5752), 1340–1343. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1116894
- Brebner, K., Wong, T. P., Liu, L., Liu, Y., Campsall, P., Gray, S., ... Wang, Y. T. (2005b). Nucleus Accumbens Long-Term Depression and the Expression of Behavioral Sensitization. *Science*, *310*(5752), 1340–1343. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1116894
- Brebner, K., Wong, T. P., Liu, L., Liu, Y., Phillips, A. G., & Wang, Y. T. (2010). Nucleus Accumbens Long-Term Depression and the Nucleus Accumbens Long-Term Depression and the Expression of Behavioral Sensitization. *Science*, *1340*(2005), 1340–1343. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1116894
- Britt, J. P., Benaliouad, F., McDevitt, R. A., Stuber, G. D., Wise, R. A., & Bonci, A. (2012). Synaptic and behavioral profile of multiple glutamatergic inputs to the nucleus accumbens. *Neuron*, 76(4), 790–803. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.09.040
- Britt, J. P., Benaliouad, F., McDevitt, R. A., Stuber, G. D., Wise, R. A., & Bonci, A. (2012). Synaptic and Behavioral Profile of Multiple Glutamatergic Inputs to the Nucleus Accumbens. *Neuron*, 76(4), 790–803. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.09.040
- Brog, J. S., Salyapongse, A., Deutch, A. Y., & Zahm, D. S. (1993). The patterns of afferent innervation of the core and shell in the "accumbens" part of the rat ventral striatum: immunohistochemical detection of retrogradely transported fluoro-gold. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 338(2), 255–78. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.903380209
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2004). Alcohol-attributable deaths and years of potential life lost--United States, 2001. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 53(37), 866–70. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15385917

- Cepeda, C., André, V. M., Yamazaki, I., Wu, N., Kleiman-Weiner, M., & Levine, M. S. (2007). Differential electrophysiological properties of dopamine D1 and D2 receptor-containing striatal medium-sized spiny neurons. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(3), 671–682. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06038.x
- Cepeda, C., Colwell, C. S., Itri, J. N., Chandler, S. H., & Levine, M. S. (1998). Dopaminergic modulation of NMDA-induced whole cell currents in neostriatal neurons in slices: contribution of calcium conductances. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 79(1), 82–94. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9425179
- Chandra, R., Lenz, J. D., Gancarz, A. M., Chaudhury, D., Schroeder, G. L., Han, M.-H., ... Lenz, J. (2013). Optogenetic inhibition of D1R containing nucleus accumbens neurons alters cocaine-mediated regulation of Tiam1. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 22(14), 50–1. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2013.00013
- Chick, J., Gough, K., Falkowski, W., Kershaw, P., Hore, B., Mehta, B., ... Torley, D. (1992). Disulfiram treatment of alcoholism. *The British Journal of Psychiatry : The Journal of Mental Science*, 161, 84–9. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1638335
- Cho, K., Aggleton, J. P., Brown, M. W., & Bashir, Z. I. (2001). An experimental test of the role of postsynaptic calcium levels in determining synaptic strength using perirhinal cortex of rat. *The Journal of Physiology*, 532(Pt 2), 459–66. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11306664
- Choi, F. Y., Ahn, S., Wang, Y. T., & Phillips, A. G. (2014). Interference with AMPA receptor endocytosis: effects on behavioural and neurochemical correlates of amphetamine sensitization in male rats. *Journal of Psychiatry & Neuroscience : JPN*, 39(3), 189–99. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3997604&tool=pmcentr ez&rendertype=abstract
- Chrzan, J. (2013). Alcohol: Social Drinking in Cultural Context. *Food, Culture and Society: An International Journal of Multidisiplinary Research*, 17(3), 521–523.
- Chu, K., Koob, G. F., Cole, M., Zorrilla, E. P., & Roberts, A. J. (2007). Dependenceinduced increases in ethanol self-administration in mice are blocked by the CRF1 receptor antagonist antalarmin and by CRF1 receptor knockout. *Pharmacology*, *Biochemistry, and Behavior*, 86(4), 813–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2007.03.009
- Cohen, E., Feinn, R., Arias, A., & Kranzler, H. R. (2007). Alcohol treatment utilization: findings from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 86(2–3), 214–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2006.06.008

- Collingridge, G. L., Olsen, R. W., Peters, J., & Spedding, M. (2009). A nomenclature for ligand-gated ion channels. *Neuropharmacology*, 56(1), 2–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2008.06.063
- Conrad, K. L., Tseng, K. Y., Uejima, J. L., Reimers, J. M., Heng, L.-J., Shaham, Y., ... Wolf, M. E. (2008a). Formation of accumbens GluR2-lacking AMPA receptors mediates incubation of cocaine craving. *Nature*, 454(7200), 118–21. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06995
- Conrad, K. L., Tseng, K. Y., Uejima, J. L., Reimers, J. M., Heng, L.-J., Shaham, Y., ... Wolf, M. E. (2008b). Formation of accumbens GluR2-lacking AMPA receptors mediates incubation of cocaine craving. *Nature*, 454(7200), 118–21. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06995
- Cooper, S., Robison, A. J., & Mazei-Robison, M. S. (2017). Reward Circuitry in Addiction. *Neurotherapeutics*, 14(3), 687–697. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-017-0525-z
- Cozzoli, D. K., Courson, J., Caruana, A. L., Miller, B. W., Greentree, D. I., Thompson, A. B., ... Szumlinski, K. K. (2012). Nucleus Accumbens mGluR5-Associated Signaling Regulates Binge Alcohol Drinking Under Drinking-in-the-Dark Procedures. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 36(9), 1623–1633. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2012.01776.x
- Cozzoli, D. K., Courson, J., Wroten, M. G., Greentree, D. I., Lum, E. N., Campbell, R. R., ... Szumlinski, K. K. (2014). Binge alcohol drinking by mice requires intact group 1 metabotropic glutamate receptor signaling within the central nucleus of the amygdala. *Neuropsychopharmacology : Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 39(2), 435–44. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2013.214
- Crabbe, J. C., Harkness, J. H., Spence, S. E., Huang, L. C., & Metten, P. (2012). Intermittent availability of ethanol does not always lead to elevated drinking in mice. *Alcohol and Alcoholism*, 47(5), 509–517. https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/ags067
- Crabbe, J. C., Kruse, L. C., Colville, A. M., Cameron, A. J., Spence, S. E., Schlumbohm, J. P., ... Metten, P. (2012). Ethanol Sensitivity in High Drinking in the Dark Selectively Bred Mice. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, *36*(7), 1162–1170. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2012.01735.x
- Crabbe, J. C., Metten, P., Rhodes, J. S., Yu, C. H., Brown, L. L., Phillips, T. J., & Finn, D. a. (2009). A Line of Mice Selected for High Blood Ethanol Concentrations Shows Drinking in the Dark to Intoxication. *Biological Psychiatry*, 65(8), 662–670. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2008.11.002
- Crabbe, J. C., Spence, S. E., Brown, L. L., & Metten, P. (2011). Alcohol preference

drinking in a mouse line selectively bred for high drinking in the dark. *Alcohol*, 45(5), 427–440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcohol.2010.12.001

- Cull-Candy, S., Kelly, L., & Farrant, M. (2006). Regulation of Ca2+-permeable AMPA receptors: synaptic plasticity and beyond. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 16(3), 288–297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2006.05.012
- Dawson, D. A., Grant, B. F., Stinson, F. S., Chou, P. S., Huang, B., & Ruan, W. J. (2005). Recovery from DSM-IV alcohol dependence: United States, 2001-2002. *Addiction (Abingdon, England)*, 100(3), 281–92. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2004.00964.x
- Day, M., Wokosin, D., Plotkin, J. L., Tian, X., & Surmeier, D. J. (2008). Neurobiology of Disease Differential Excitability and Modulation of Striatal Medium Spiny Neuron Dendrites. *The Journal of Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1840-08.2008
- Deroche-Gamonet, V. (2004). Evidence for Addiction-like Behavior in the Rat. *Science*, 305(5686), 1014–1017. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1099020
- Dhaher, R., Finn, D., Snelling, C., & Hitzemann, R. (2008). Lesions of the extended amygdala in C57BL/6J mice do not block the intermittent ethanol vapor-induced increase in ethanol consumption. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 32(2), 197–208. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2007.00566.x
- Di Chiara, G. (2002). Nucleus accumbens shell and core dopamine: differential role in behavior and addiction. *Behavioural Brain Research*, *137*(1–2), 75–114. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12445717
- Di Chiara, G., Bassareo, V., Fenu, S., De Luca, M. A., Spina, L., Cadoni, C., ... Lecca, D. (2004). Dopamine and drug addiction: the nucleus accumbens shell connection. *Neuropharmacology*, 47, 227–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2004.06.032
- Dobi, A., Seabold, G. K., Christensen, C. H., Bock, R., & Alvarez, V. A. (2011). Cocaine-Induced Plasticity in the Nucleus Accumbens Is Cell Specific and Develops without Prolonged Withdrawal. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(5), 1895–1904. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5375-10.2011
- Doyon, W. M., York, J. L., Diaz, L. M., Samson, H. H., Czachowski, C. L., & Gonzales, R. A. (2003). Dopamine activity in the nucleus accumbens during consummatory phases of oral ethanol self-administration. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 27(10), 1573–82. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ALC.0000089959.66222.B8
- Dudek, S. M., & Bear, M. F. (1992). Homosynaptic long-term depression in area CA1 of hippocampus and effects of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor blockade. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 89(10), 4363–7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1350090

- Fanselow, M. S., & Dong, H.-W. (2010). Are the Dorsal and Ventral Hippocampus Functionally Distinct Structures? *Neuron*, 65(1), 7–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2009.11.031
- Ferbinteanu, J., & McDonald, R. J. (2001). Dorsal/ventral hippocampus, fornix, and conditioned place preference. *Hippocampus*, 11(2), 187–200. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.1036
- Finn, D. A., & Crabbe, J. C. (1997). Exploring alcohol withdrawal syndrome. Alcohol Health and Research World, 21(2), 149–56. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15704352
- Fiorillo, C. D., Tobler, P. N., & Schultz, W. (2003). Discrete coding of reward probability and uncertainty by dopamine neurons. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 299(5614), 1898–902. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1077349
- Fitzpatrick, C. J., Creeden, J. F., Perrine, S. A., & Morrow, J. D. (2016). Lesions of the ventral hippocampus attenuate the acquisition but not expression of sign-tracking behavior in rats. *Hippocampus*, 26(11), 1424–1434. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.22619
- French, S. J., & Totterdell, S. (2002). Hippocampal and prefrontal cortical inputs monosynaptically converge with individual projection neurons of the nucleus accumbens. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 446(2), 151–65. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11932933
- Fuchs, R. A., Evans, K. A., Ledford, C. C., Parker, M. P., Case, J. M., Mehta, R. H., & See, R. E. (2005). The role of the dorsomedial prefrontal cortex, basolateral amygdala, and dorsal hippocampus in contextual reinstatement of cocaine seeking in rats. *Neuropsychopharmacology : Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 30(2), 296–309. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1300579
- Gipson, C. D., Kupchik, Y. M., & Kalivas, P. W. (2014). Rapid, transient synaptic plasticity in addiction. *Neuropharmacology*, 76(PART B), 276–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.04.032
- Gipson, C. D., Reissner, K. J., Kupchik, Y. M., Smith, A. C. W., Stankeviciute, N., Hensley-Simon, M. E., & Kalivas, P. W. (2013). Reinstatement of nicotine seeking is mediated by glutamatergic plasticity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(22), 9124–9. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1220591110
- Goldman, D., Oroszi, G., & Ducci, F. (2005). The genetics of addictions: uncovering the genes. *Nature Reviews. Genetics*, 6(7), 521–32. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1635
- Goto, Y., & O'Donnell, P. (2001a). Network synchrony in the nucleus accumbens in vivo. The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 21(12), 4498–504. Retrieved from

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11404437

- Goto, Y., & O'Donnell, P. (2001b). Synchronous activity in the hippocampus and nucleus accumbens in vivo. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 21(4), RC131. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11160416
- Grace, A. A., Floresco, S. B., Goto, Y., & Lodge, D. J. (2007). Regulation of firing of dopaminergic neurons and control of goal-directed behaviors. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 30(5), 220–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2007.03.003
- Griffin, W. C. (2014). Alcohol dependence and free-choice drinking in mice. *Alcohol*, 48(3), 287–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcohol.2013.11.006
- Griffin, W. C., Lopez, M. F., Yanke, A. B., Middaugh, L. D., & Becker, H. C. (2009). Repeated cycles of chronic intermittent ethanol exposure in mice increases voluntary ethanol drinking and ethanol concentrations in the nucleus accumbens. *Psychopharmacology*, 201(4), 569–580. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-008-1324-3
- Griffin Iii, W. C., Lopez, M. F., & Becker, H. C. (2009). Intensity and duration of chronic ethanol exposure is critical for subsequent escalation of voluntary ethanol drinking in mice. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 33(11), 1893–1900. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2009.01027.x
- Grimm, J. W., Hope, B. T., Wise, R. A., & Shaham, Y. (2001). Neuroadaptation. Incubation of cocaine craving after withdrawal. *Nature*, 412(6843), 141–142. https://doi.org/10.1038/35084134
- Groenewegen, H. J., Vermeulen-Van der Zee, E., te Kortschot, A., & Witter, M. P. (1987). Organization of the projections from the subiculum to the ventral striatum in the rat. A study using anterograde transport of Phaseolus vulgaris leucoagglutinin. *Neuroscience*, 23(1), 103–20. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3683859
- Groenewegen, H. J., Wright, C. I., & Beijer, A. V. (1996). The nucleus accumbens: gateway for limbic structures to reach the motor system? *Progress in Brain Research*, 107, 485–511. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8782538
- Groenewegen, H. J., Wright, C. I., Beijer, A. V, & Voorn, P. (1999). Convergence and segregation of ventral striatal inputs and outputs. *Annals of the New York Academy* of Sciences, 877, 49–63. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10415642
- Gruber, A. J., Hussain, R. J., & O'Donnell, P. (2009). The nucleus accumbens: a switchboard for goal-directed behaviors. *PloS One*, 4(4), e5062. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0005062

- Grueter, B. A., Brasnjo, G., & Malenka, R. C. (2010a). Postsynaptic TRPV1 triggers cell type-specific long-term depression in the nucleus accumbens. *Nature Neuroscience*, 13(12), 1519–1525. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2685
- Grueter, B. A., Brasnjo, G., & Malenka, R. C. (2010b). Postsynaptic TRPV1 triggers cell type–specific long-term depression in the nucleus accumbens. *Nature neurOSCIenCe*, 13(12). https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2685
- Grueter, B. A., Robison, A. J., Neve, R. L., Nestler, E. J., & Malenka, R. C. (2013). ΔFosB differentially modulates nucleus accumbens direct and indirect pathway function. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(5), 1923–8. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1221742110
- Haber, S. N., Fudge, J. L., & McFarland, N. R. (2000). Striatonigrostriatal pathways in primates form an ascending spiral from the shell to the dorsolateral striatum. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 20(6), 2369–82. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10704511
- Harwood, H. J., Fountain, D., & Fountain, G. (1999). Economic cost of alcohol and drug abuse in the United States, 1992: a report. *Addiction (Abingdon, England)*, 94(5), 631–5. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10563025
- Hearing, M. C., Jedynak, J., Ebner, S. R., Ingebretson, A., Asp, A. J., Fischer, R. A., ... Thomas, M. J. (2016a). Reversal of morphine-induced cell-type-specific synaptic plasticity in the nucleus accumbens shell blocks reinstatement. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 113(3), 757–62. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1519248113
- Hearing, M. C., Jedynak, J., Ebner, S. R., Ingebretson, A., Asp, A. J., Fischer, R. A., ... Thomas, M. J. (2016b). Reversal of morphine-induced cell-type–specific synaptic plasticity in the nucleus accumbens shell blocks reinstatement. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113(3), 757–762. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1519248113
- Henke, P. G. (1990). Hippocampal pathway to the amygdala and stress ulcer development. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 25(5), 691–5. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2289157
- Henley, J. M., & Wilkinson, K. A. (2013). AMPA receptor trafficking and the mechanisms underlying synaptic plasticity and cognitive aging. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 15(1), 11–27. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23576886
- Herman, J. P., Ostrander, M. M., Mueller, N. K., & Figueiredo, H. (2005). Limbic system mechanisms of stress regulation: hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenocortical axis. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry*, 29(8), 1201–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2005.08.006

- Hikida, T., Kimura, K., Wada, N., Funabiki, K., & Nakanishi, S. (2010). Distinct Roles of Synaptic Transmission in Direct and Indirect Striatal Pathways to Reward and Aversive Behavior. *Neuron*, 66(6), 896–907. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2010.05.011
- Hikida, T., Morita, M., & Macpherson, T. (2016). Neural mechanisms of the nucleus accumbens circuit in reward and aversive learning. *Neuroscience Research*, 108, 1– 5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neures.2016.01.004
- Hikida, T., Yawata, S., Yamaguchi, T., Danjo, T., Sasaoka, T., Wang, Y., & Nakanishi, S. (2013). Pathway-specific modulation of nucleus accumbens in reward and aversive behavior via selective transmitter receptors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(1), 342–7. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1220358110
- Hiroi, N., & Agatsuma, S. (2005). Genetic susceptibility to substance dependence. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 10(4), 336–344. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.mp.4001622
- Hoffman, A. F., Riegel, A. C., & Lupica, C. R. (2003). Functional localization of cannabinoid receptors and endogenous cannabinoid production in distinct neuron populations of the hippocampus. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 18(3), 524–34. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12911748
- Huang, Y. H., Lin, Y., Mu, P., Lee, B. R., Brown, T. E., Wayman, G., ... Dong, Y. (2009). In Vivo Cocaine Experience Generates Silent Synapses. *Neuron*, 63(1), 40– 47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2009.06.007
- Huebner, R. B., & Kantor, L. W. (2011). Advances in alcoholism treatment. Alcohol Research & Health : The Journal of the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism, 33(4), 295–9. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23580014
- Humphries, M. D., & Prescott, T. J. (2010a). The ventral basal ganglia, a selection mechanism at the crossroads of space, strategy, and reward. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 90(4), 385–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2009.11.003
- Humphries, M. D., & Prescott, T. J. (2010b). The ventral basal ganglia, a selection mechanism at the crossroads of space, strategy, and reward. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 90(4), 385–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2009.11.003
- Ikemoto, S. (2007). Dopamine reward circuitry: Two projection systems from the ventral midbrain to the nucleus accumbens–olfactory tubercle complex. *Brain Research Reviews*, 56(1), 27–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2007.05.004
- Imperato, A., & Di Chiara, G. (1986). Preferential stimulation of dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens of freely moving rats by ethanol. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 239(1), 219–28. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3761194

- Ito, R., Robbins, T. W., Pennartz, C. M., & Everitt, B. J. (2008). Functional interaction between the hippocampus and nucleus accumbens shell is necessary for the acquisition of appetitive spatial context conditioning. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 28(27), 6950–9. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1615-08.2008
- James, M. H., Quinn, R. K., Ong, L. K., Levi, E. M., Charnley, J. L., Smith, D. W., ... Dayas, C. V. (2014). mTORC1 inhibition in the nucleus accumbens "protects" against the expression of drug seeking and "relapse" and is associated with reductions in GluA1 AMPAR and CAMKIIα levels. *Neuropsychopharmacology* : *Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 39(7), 1694–702. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2014.16
- Jeanes, Z. M., Buske, T. R., & Morrisett, R. A. (2011a). In vivo chronic intermittent ethanol exposure reverses the polarity of synaptic plasticity in the nucleus accumbens shell. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 336(1), 155–64. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.110.171009
- Jeanes, Z. M., Buske, T. R., & Morrisett, R. A. (2011b). In vivo chronic intermittent ethanol exposure reverses the polarity of synaptic plasticity in the nucleus accumbens shell. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 336(1), 155–64. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.110.171009
- Jeanes, Z. M., Buske, T. R., & Morrisett, R. A. (2014a). Cell type-specific synaptic encoding of ethanol exposure in the nucleus accumbens shell. *Neuroscience*, 277, 184–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.06.063
- Jeanes, Z. M., Buske, T. R., & Morrisett, R. A. (2014b). Cell type-specific synaptic encoding of ethanol exposure in the nucleus accumbens shell. *Neuroscience*, 277, 184–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.06.063
- Joffe, M. E., & Grueter, B. A. (2016). Archival Report Cocaine Experience Enhances Thalamo-Accumbens N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptor Function. *Biological Psychiatry*, 80(9), 671–681. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.04.002
- Kalivas, P. W., Volkow, N., & Seamans, J. (2005). Unmanageable Motivation in Addiction: A Pathology in Prefrontal-Accumbens Glutamate Transmission. *Neuron*, 45(5), 647–650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2005.02.005
- Kasanetz, F., Deroche-Gamonet, V., Berson, N., Balado, E., Lafourcade, M., Manzoni, O., & Piazza, P. V. (2010a). Transition to addiction is associated with a persistent impairment in synaptic plasticity. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 328(5986), 1709–12. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1187801
- Kasanetz, F., Deroche-Gamonet, V., Berson, N., Balado, E., Lafourcade, M., Manzoni, O., & Piazza, P. V. (2010b). Transition to addiction is associated with a persistent impairment in synaptic plasticity. *Science*, 328(5986), 1709–1712.

https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1187801

- Kauer, J. A., & Malenka, R. C. (2007). Synaptic plasticity and addiction. *Nature Reviews*. *Neuroscience*, 8(11), 844–58. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2234
- Kelley, A. E., Baldo, B. A., & Pratt, W. E. (2005). A proposed hypothalamic-thalamicstriatal axis for the integration of energy balance, arousal, and food reward. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 493(1), 72–85. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.20769
- Kelley, A. E., Baldo, B. A., Pratt, W. E., & Will, M. J. (2005). Corticostriatalhypothalamic circuitry and food motivation: integration of energy, action and reward. *Physiology & Behavior*, 86(5), 773–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2005.08.066
- Keralapurath, M. M., Briggs, S. B., & Wagner, J. J. (2017). Cocaine self-administration induces changes in synaptic transmission and plasticity in ventral hippocampus. *Addiction Biology*, 22(2), 446–456. https://doi.org/10.1111/adb.12345
- Kiefer, F., Jahn, H., Tarnaske, T., Helwig, H., Briken, P., Holzbach, R., ... Wiedemann, K. (2003). Comparing and combining naltrexone and acamprosate in relapse prevention of alcoholism: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 60(1), 92–9. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12511176
- Kim, J., Park, B.-H., Lee, J. H., Park, S. K., & Kim, J.-H. (2011). Cell Type-Specific Alterations in the Nucleus Accumbens by Repeated Exposures to Cocaine. *Biological Psychiatry*, 69(11), 1026–1034. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.01.013
- Kjelstrup, K. G., Tuvnes, F. A., Steffenach, H.-A., Murison, R., Moser, E. I., & Moser, M.-B. (2002). Reduced fear expression after lesions of the ventral hippocampus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(16), 10825–10830. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.152112399
- Kjelstrup, K. G., Tuvnes, F. A., Steffenach, H.-A., Murison, R., Moser, E. I., & Moser, M.-B. (2002). Reduced fear expression after lesions of the ventral hippocampus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(16), 10825–30. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.152112399
- Koob, G. F., & Le Moal, M. (1997). Drug abuse: hedonic homeostatic dysregulation. Science (New York, N.Y.), 278(5335), 52–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9311926
- Koob, G. F., & Volkow, N. D. (2010). Neurocircuitry of addiction. Neuropsychopharmacology : Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology, 35(1), 217–238. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2009.110

- Kourrich, S., Rothwell, P. E., Klug, J. R., & Thomas, M. J. (2007a). Cocaine experience controls bidirectional synaptic plasticity in the nucleus accumbens. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 27(30), 7921– 8. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1859-07.2007
- Kourrich, S., Rothwell, P. E., Klug, J. R., & Thomas, M. J. (2007b). Cocaine experience controls bidirectional synaptic plasticity in the nucleus accumbens. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 27(30), 7921– 8. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1859-07.2007
- Kumar, S., Porcu, P., Werner, D. F., Matthews, D. B., Diaz-Granados, J. L., Helfand, R. S., & Morrow, A. L. (2009). The role of GABA(A) receptors in the acute and chronic effects of ethanol: a decade of progress. *Psychopharmacology*, 205(4), 529–64. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-009-1562-z
- Kupchik, Y. M., Brown, R. M., Heinsbroek, J. A., Lobo, M. K., Schwartz, D. J., & Kalivas, P. W. (2015). Coding the direct/indirect pathways by D1 and D2 receptors is not valid for accumbens projections. *Nature Neuroscience*, 18(9), 1230–1232. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4068
- Lasseter, H. C., Xie, X., Ramirez, D. R., & Fuchs, R. A. (2010). Sub-region specific contribution of the ventral hippocampus to drug context-induced reinstatement of cocaine-seeking behavior in rats. *Neuroscience*, *171*(3), 830–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.09.032
- Lee, B. R., & Dong, Y. (2011). Cocaine-induced metaplasticity in the nucleus accumbens: Silent synapse and beyond. *Neuropharmacology*, *61*(7), 1060–1069. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2010.12.033
- Liu, S. Q., & Cull-Candy, S. G. (2000). Synaptic activity at calcium-permeable AMPA receptors induces a switch in receptor subtype. *Nature*, 405(6785), 454–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/35013064
- Liu, X., & Weiss, F. (2003). Stimulus conditioned to foot-shock stress reinstates alcoholseeking behavior in an animal model of relapse. *Psychopharmacology*, 168(1–2), 184–191. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-002-1267-z
- Lobo, M. K., Covington, H. E., Chaudhury, D., Friedman, A. K., Sun, H., Damez-Werno, D., ... Nestler, E. J. (2010). Cell Type-Specific Loss of BDNF Signaling Mimics Optogenetic Control of Cocaine Reward. *Science*, 330(6002), 385–390. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1188472
- Lovinger, D. M., White, G., & Weight, F. F. (1989). Ethanol inhibits NMDA-activated ion current in hippocampal neurons. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 243(4899), 1721–4. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2467382
- Lovinger, D. M., White, G., & Weight, F. F. (1990). NMDA receptor-mediated synaptic excitation selectively inhibited by ethanol in hippocampal slice from adult rat. *The*

Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 10(4), 1372–9. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2158533

- Loweth, J. A., Tseng, K. Y., & Wolf, M. E. (2014). Adaptations in AMPA receptor transmission in the nucleus accumbens contributing to incubation of cocaine craving. *Neuropharmacology*, 76(PART B), 287–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.04.061
- Lu, L., Grimm, J. W., Hope, B. T., & Shaham, Y. (2004). Incubation of cocaine craving after withdrawal: a review of preclinical data. *Neuropharmacology*, 47, 214–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2004.06.027
- Lu, X. Y., Ghasemzadeh, M. B., & Kalivas, P. W. (1998). Expression of D1 receptor, D2 receptor, substance P and enkephalin messenger RNAs in the neurons projecting from the nucleus accumbens. *Neuroscience*, 82(3), 767–80. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9483534
- Lüscher, C., & Frerking, M. (2001). Restless AMPA receptors: implications for synaptic transmission and plasticity. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 24(11), 665–70. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11672812
- Lüscher, C., & Malenka, R. C. (2011a). Drug-Evoked Synaptic Plasticity in Addiction: From Molecular Changes to Circuit Remodeling. *Neuron*, 69(4), 650–663. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.01.017
- Lüscher, C., & Malenka, R. C. (2011b). Drug-Evoked Synaptic Plasticity in Addiction: From Molecular Changes to Circuit Remodeling. *Neuron*, 69(4), 650–663. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2011.01.017
- Lüscher, C., Xia, H., Beattie, E. C., Carroll, R. C., von Zastrow, M., Malenka, R. C., & Nicoll, R. A. (1999). Role of AMPA receptor cycling in synaptic transmission and plasticity. *Neuron*, 24(3), 649–58. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10595516
- MacAskill, A. F., Cassel, J. M., & Carter, A. G. (2014). Cocaine exposure reorganizes cell type- and input-specific connectivity in the nucleus accumbens. *Nature Neuroscience*, 17(9), 1198–207. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3783
- Maldve, R. E., Zhang, T. a, Ferrani-Kile, K., Schreiber, S. S., Lippmann, M. J., Snyder, G. L., ... Morrisett, R. a. (2002). DARPP-32 and regulation of the ethanol sensitivity of NMDA receptors in the nucleus accumbens. *Nature Neuroscience*, 5(7), 641–648. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn877
- Malenka, R. C. (2003). Synaptic plasticity and AMPA receptor trafficking. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1003*, 1–11. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14684431
- Mangieri, R. A., Maier, E. Y., Buske, T. R., Lasek, A. W., & Morrisett, R. A. (2017).

Anaplastic Lymphoma Kinase Is a Regulator of Alcohol Consumption and Excitatory Synaptic Plasticity in the Nucleus Accumbens Shell. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *8*, 533. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2017.00533

- Mann, K., Lehert, P., & Morgan, M. Y. (2004). The efficacy of acamprosate in the maintenance of abstinence in alcohol-dependent individuals: results of a metaanalysis. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 28(1), 51–63. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ALC.0000108656.81563.05
- Mao, L.-M., Wang, W., Chu, X.-P., Zhang, G.-C., Liu, X.-Y., Yang, Y.-J., ... Wang, J. Q. (2009). Stability of surface NMDA receptors controls synaptic and behavioral adaptations to amphetamine. *Nature Neuroscience*, *12*(5), 602–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2300
- Marchant, N. J., Campbell, E. J., Whitaker, L. R., Harvey, B. K., Kaganovsky, K., Adhikary, S., ... Shaham, Y. (2016). Role of Ventral Subiculum in Context-Induced Relapse to Alcohol Seeking after Punishment-Imposed Abstinence. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 36(11), 3281– 94. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4299-15.2016
- Maren, S., & Holt, W. G. (2004). Hippocampus and Pavlovian fear conditioning in rats: muscimol infusions into the ventral, but not dorsal, hippocampus impair the acquisition of conditional freezing to an auditory conditional stimulus. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 118(1), 97–110. https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.118.1.97
- Martin, M., Chen, B. T., Hopf, F. W., Bowers, M. S., & Bonci, A. (2006a). Cocaine selfadministration selectively abolishes LTD in the core of the nucleus accumbens. *Nature Neuroscience*, 9(7), 868–869. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1713
- Martin, M., Chen, B. T., Hopf, F. W., Bowers, M. S., & Bonci, A. (2006b). Cocaine selfadministration selectively abolishes LTD in the core of the nucleus accumbens. *Nature Neuroscience*, 9(7), 868–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1713
- Matamales, M., Bertran-Gonzalez, J., Salomon, L., Degos, B., Deniau, J.-M., Valjent, E., ... Girault, J.-A. (2009). Striatal medium-sized spiny neurons: identification by nuclear staining and study of neuronal subpopulations in BAC transgenic mice. *PloS One*, 4(3), e4770. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0004770
- McCool, B. A. (2011). Ethanol modulation of synaptic plasticity. *Neuropharmacology*, *61*(7), 1097–1108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2010.12.028
- McCutcheon, J. E., Loweth, J. A., Ford, K. A., Marinelli, M., Wolf, M. E., & Tseng, K. Y. (2011). Group I mGluR Activation Reverses Cocaine-Induced Accumulation of Calcium-Permeable AMPA Receptors in Nucleus Accumbens Synapses via a Protein Kinase C-Dependent Mechanism. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *31*(41), 14536– 14541. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3625-11.2011
- McEwen, B. S., Conrad, C. D., Kuroda, Y., Frankfurt, M., Magarinos, A. M., &

McKittrick, C. (1997). Prevention of stress-induced morphological and cognitive consequences. *European Neuropsychopharmacology : The Journal of the European College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 7 *Suppl 3*, S323-8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9405958

- McGee, T. P., Bats, C., Farrant, M., & Cull-Candy, S. G. (2015). Auxiliary Subunit GSG1L Acts to Suppress Calcium-Permeable AMPA Receptor Function. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 35(49), 16171–9. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2152-15.2015
- Meredith, G. E. (1999). The synaptic framework for chemical signaling in nucleus accumbens. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 877, 140–56. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10415648
- Mink, J. W. (1996). The basal ganglia: focused selection and inhibition of competing motor programs. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 50(4), 381–425. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9004351
- Mogenson, G. J., Jones, D. L., & Yim, C. Y. (1980). From motivation to action: functional interface between the limbic system and the motor system. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 14(2–3), 69–97. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/6999537
- Mokdad, A. H., Marks, J. S., Stroup, D. F., & Gerberding, J. L. (2004). Actual Causes of Death in the United States, 2000. JAMA, 291(10), 1238. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.291.10.1238
- Morisot, N., & Ron, D. (2017). Alcohol-dependent molecular adaptations of the NMDA receptor system. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*, 16(1), 139–148. https://doi.org/10.1111/gbb.12363
- Moser, M. B., & Moser, E. I. (1998). Functional differentiation in the hippocampus. *Hippocampus*, 8(6), 608–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-1063(1998)8:6<608::AID-HIPO3>3.0.CO;2-7
- Moser, M. B., Moser, E. I., Forrest, E., Andersen, P., & Morris, R. G. (1995). Spatial learning with a minislab in the dorsal hippocampus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 92(21), 9697–701. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7568200
- Mulkey, R. M., Herron, C. E., & Malenka, R. C. (1993). An essential role for protein phosphatases in hippocampal long-term depression. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 261(5124), 1051–5. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8394601
- Naber, P. A., & Witter, M. P. (1998). Subicular efferents are organized mostly as parallel projections: a double-labeling, retrograde-tracing study in the rat. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 393(3), 284–97. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9548550

- Neasta, J., Ben Hamida, S., Yowell, Q., Carnicella, S., & Ron, D. (2010). Role for mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 signaling in neuroadaptations underlying alcohol-related disorders. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(46), 20093–20098. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1005554107
- Nestler, E. J. (2001). Neurobiology. Total recall-the memory of addiction. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 292(5525), 2266–7. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1063024
- Neve, K. A., Seamans, J. K., & Trantham-Davidson, H. (2004). Dopamine receptor signaling. *Journal of Receptor and Signal Transduction Research*, 24(3), 165–205. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15521361
- Nicola, S. M., Surmeier, J., & Malenka, R. C. (2000). Dopaminergic modulation of neuronal excitability in the striatum and nucleus accumbens. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 23(1), 185–215. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.23.1.185
- Nicoll, R. A., & Malenka, R. C. (1999). Expression mechanisms underlying NMDA receptor-dependent long-term potentiation. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 868, 515–25. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10414328
- Nie, Z., Yuan, X., Madamba, S. G., & Siggins, G. R. (1993). Ethanol decreases glutamatergic synaptic transmission in rat nucleus accumbens in vitro: naloxone reversal. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 266(3), 1705–12. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8396641
- O'Dell, L. E., Roberts, A. J., Smith, R. T., & Koob, G. F. (2004). Enhanced alcohol selfadministration after intermittent versus continuous alcohol vapor exposure. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 28(11), 1676–82. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15547454
- O'Donnell, P., & Grace, A. A. (1995). Synaptic interactions among excitatory afferents to nucleus accumbens neurons: hippocampal gating of prefrontal cortical input. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 15(5 Pt 1), 3622–39. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7751934
- O'Donnell, P., & Grace, A. A. (1996). Dopaminergic reduction of excitability in nucleus accumbens neurons recorded in vitro. *Neuropsychopharmacology : Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 15(1), 87–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/0893-133X(95)00177-F
- O'Donnell, P., Greene, J., Pabello, N., Lewis, B. L., & Grace, A. A. (1999). Modulation of cell firing in the nucleus accumbens. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 877, 157–75. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10415649
- O'Malley, S. S., Jaffe, A. J., Chang, G., Schottenfeld, R. S., Meyer, R. E., & Rounsaville, B. (1992). Naltrexone and coping skills therapy for alcohol dependence. A

controlled study. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 49(11), 881–7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1444726

- Ortinski, P. I., Vassoler, F. M., Carlson, G. C., & Pierce, R. C. (2012). Temporally Dependent Changes in Cocaine-Induced Synaptic Plasticity in the Nucleus Accumbens Shell are Reversed by D1-Like Dopamine Receptor Stimulation. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 37(7), 1671–1682. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2012.12
- Pascoli, V., Terrier, J., Espallergues, J., Valjent, E., O'Connor, E. C., & Lüscher, C. (2014). Contrasting forms of cocaine-evoked plasticity control components of relapse. *Nature*, 509(7501), 459–64. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13257
- Pascoli, V., Turiault, M., & Luscher, C. (2012). Reversal of cocaine-evoked synaptic potentiation resets drug-induced adaptive behaviour. *Nature*, 481(7379), 71–75. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10709
- Pascoli, V., Turiault, M., & Lüscher, C. (2011). Reversal of cocaine-evoked synaptic potentiation resets drug-induced adaptive behaviour. *Nature*, 481(7379), 71–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10709
- Pascoli, V., Turiault, M., & Lüscher, C. (2012). Reversal of cocaine-evoked synaptic potentiation resets drug-induced adaptive behaviour. *Nature*, 481(7379), 71–75. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10709
- Pascoli, V., Turiault, M., Lüscher, C., & Luscher, C. (2012). Reversal of cocaine-evoked synaptic potentiation resets drug-induced adaptive behaviour. *Nature*, 481(7379), 71–75. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10709
- Pettinati, H. M., O'Brien, C. P., Rabinowitz, A. R., Wortman, S. P., Oslin, D. W., Kampman, K. M., & Dackis, C. A. (2006). The Status of Naltrexone in the Treatment of Alcohol Dependence. *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 26(6), 610–625. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.jcp.0000245566.52401.20
- Redgrave, P., Prescott, T. J., & Gurney, K. (1999). The basal ganglia: a vertebrate solution to the selection problem? *Neuroscience*, *89*(4), 1009–23. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10362291
- Redgrave, P., Vautrelle, N., & Reynolds, J. N. J. (2011). Functional properties of the basal ganglia's re-entrant loop architecture: selection and reinforcement. *Neuroscience*, 198, 138–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.07.060
- Reimers, J. M., Milovanovic, M., & Wolf, M. E. (2011). Quantitative analysis of AMPA receptor subunit composition in addiction-related brain regions. *Brain Research*, 1367, 223–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2010.10.016
- Renteria, R., Buske, T. R., & Morrisett, R. A. (2017). Long-term subregion-specific encoding of enhanced ethanol intake by D1DR medium spiny neurons of the nucleus accumbens. *Addiction Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1111/adb.12526

- Renteria, R., Maier, E. Y., Buske, T. R., & Morrisett, R. A. (2017). Selective alterations of NMDAR function and plasticity in D1 and D2 medium spiny neurons in the nucleus accumbens shell following chronic intermittent ethanol exposure. *Neuropharmacology*, *112*, 164–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2016.03.004
- Rhodes, J. S., Best, K., Belknap, J. K., Finn, D. A., & Crabbe, J. C. (2005). Evaluation of a simple model of ethanol drinking to intoxication in C57BL/6J mice. *Physiology & Behavior*, 84(1), 53–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2004.10.007
- Riaz, S., Schumacher, A., Sivagurunathan, S., Van Der Meer, M., & Ito, R. (2017a). Ventral, but not dorsal, hippocampus inactivation impairs reward memory expression and retrieval in contexts defined by proximal cues. *Hippocampus*, 27(7), 822–836. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.22734
- Riaz, S., Schumacher, A., Sivagurunathan, S., Van Der Meer, M., & Ito, R. (2017b). Ventral, but not dorsal, hippocampus inactivation impairs reward memory expression and retrieval in contexts defined by proximal cues. *Hippocampus*, 27(7), 822–836. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.22734
- Rimondini, R., Arlinde, C., Sommer, W., & Heilig, M. (2002). Long-lasting increase in voluntary ethanol consumption and transcriptional regulation in the rat brain after intermittent exposure to alcohol. *FASEB Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*, 16(1), 27–35. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.01-0593com
- Robbe, D., Alonso, G., Chaumont, S., Bockaert, J., & Manzoni, O. J. (2002). Role of p/q-Ca2+ channels in metabotropic glutamate receptor 2/3-dependent presynaptic long-term depression at nucleus accumbens synapses. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 22(11), 4346–56. https://doi.org/20026420
- Robbe, D., Kopf, M., Remaury, A., Bockaert, J., & Manzoni, O. J. (2002). Endogenous cannabinoids mediate long-term synaptic depression in the nucleus accumbens. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(12), 8384–8. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.122149199
- Robbins, T. W., & Everitt, B. J. (1996). Neurobehavioural mechanisms of reward and motivation. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 6(2), 228–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4388(96)80077-8
- Robbins, T. W., & Everitt, B. J. (2002). Limbic-striatal memory systems and drug addiction. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 78(3), 625–36. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12559840
- Roberto, M., Schweitzer, P., Madamba, S. G., Stouffer, D. G., Parsons, L. H., & Siggins, G. R. (2004). Acute and Chronic Ethanol Alter Glutamatergic Transmission in Rat
Central Amygdala: an In Vitro and In Vivo Analysis. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(7), 1594–1603. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.5077-03.2004

- Roberts, A. J., Heyser, C. J., Cole, M., Griffin, P., & Koob, G. F. (2000). Excessive ethanol drinking following a history of dependence: animal model of allostasis. *Neuropsychopharmacology : Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 22(6), 581–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0893-133X(99)00167-0
- Rodd-Henricks, Z. A., McKinzie, D. L., Li, T.-K., Murphy, J. M., & McBride, W. J. (2002). Cocaine Is Self-Administered into the Shell but Not the Core of the Nucleus Accumbens of Wistar Rats. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 303(3), 1216–1226. https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.102.038950
- Rodrigues, S. M., LeDoux, J. E., & Sapolsky, R. M. (2009). The influence of stress hormones on fear circuitry. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 32(1), 289–313. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.051508.135620
- Rogers, J. L., & See, R. E. (2007). Selective inactivation of the ventral hippocampus attenuates cue-induced and cocaine-primed reinstatement of drug-seeking in rats. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, 87(4), 688–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2007.01.003
- Rosenwasser, A. M., & Fixaris, M. C. (2013). Chronobiology of alcohol: studies in C57BL/6J and DBA/2J inbred mice. *Physiology & Behavior*, 110–111, 140–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.01.001
- Russell, S. E., Puttick, D. J., Sawyer, A. M., Potter, D. N., Mague, S., Carlezon, W. A., & Chartoff, E. H. (2016). Nucleus Accumbens AMPA Receptors Are Necessary for Morphine-Withdrawal-Induced Negative-Affective States in Rats. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 36(21), 5748–5762. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2875-12.2016
- Russo, S. J., Dietz, D. M., Dumitriu, D., Morrison, J. H., Malenka, R. C., & Nestler, E. J. (2010). The addicted synapse: mechanisms of synaptic and structural plasticity in nucleus accumbens. *Trends Neurosci*, 33(6), 267–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2010.02.002
- Russo, S. J., Dietz, D. M., Dumitriu, D., Morrison, J. H., Malenka, R. C., & Nestler, E. J. (2010). The addicted synapse: mechanisms of synaptic and structural plasticity in nucleus accumbens. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 33(6), 267–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2010.02.002
- Schmidt, H. D., McFarland, K. N., Darnell, S. B., Huizenga, M. N., Sangrey, G. R., Cha, J.-H. J., ... Sadri-Vakili, G. (2015). ADAR2-dependent GluA2 editing regulates cocaine seeking. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 20(11), 1460–6. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2014.134

- Scholz, R., Berberich, S., Rathgeber, L., Kolleker, A., Köhr, G., & Kornau, H.-C. (2010). AMPA Receptor Signaling through BRAG2 and Arf6 Critical for Long-Term Synaptic Depression. *Neuron*, 66(5), 768–780. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2010.05.003
- Scofield, M. D., Heinsbroek, J. A., Gipson, C. D., Kupchik, Y. M., Spencer, S., Smith, A. C. W., ... Kalivas, P. W. (2016). The Nucleus Accumbens: Mechanisms of Addiction across Drug Classes Reflect the Importance of Glutamate Homeostasis. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 68(3), 816–871. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.116.012484
- Selig, D. K., Hjelmstad, G. O., Herron, C., Nicoll, R. A., & Malenka, R. C. (1995). Independent mechanisms for long-term depression of AMPA and NMDA responses. *Neuron*, 15(2), 417–26. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7544143
- Sellings, L. H. L., & Clarke, P. B. S. (2003). Segregation of amphetamine reward and locomotor stimulation between nucleus accumbens medial shell and core. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 23(15), 6295–303. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12867514
- Sesack, S. R., & Grace, A. A. (2010). Cortico-Basal Ganglia reward network: microcircuitry. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 35(1), 27–47. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2009.93
- Sesack, S. R., & Grace, A. A. (2010). Cortico-Basal Ganglia reward network: microcircuitry. *Neuropsychopharmacology : Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 35(1), 27–47. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2009.93
- Shelton, K. L., & Grant, K. A. (2002). Discriminative stimulus effects of ethanol in C57BL/6J and DBA/2J inbred mice. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 26(6), 747–57. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12068241
- Shen, H., & Kalivas, P. W. (2012). Reduced LTP and LTD in prefrontal cortex synapses in the nucleus accumbens after heroin self-administration. *The International Journal* of Neuropsychopharmacology, 16(5), 1165–1167. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1461145712001071
- Shen, H., & Kalivas, P. W. (2013). Reduced LTP and LTD in prefrontal cortex synapses in the nucleus accumbens after heroin self-administration. *The International Journal* of Neuropsychopharmacology, 16(5), 1165–1167. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1461145712001071
- Sinha, R., & Li, C. S. R. (2007). Imaging stress- and cue-induced drug and alcohol craving: association with relapse and clinical implications. *Drug and Alcohol Review*, 26(1), 25–31. https://doi.org/10.1080/09595230601036960

- Smith, R. J., Lobo, M. K., Spencer, S., & Kalivas, P. W. (2013). Cocaine-induced adaptations in D1 and D2 accumbens projection neurons (a dichotomy not necessarily synonymous with direct and indirect pathways). *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 23(4), 546–552. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2013.01.026
- Sommer, W. H., Rimondini, R., Hansson, A. C., Hipskind, P. A., Gehlert, D. R., Barr, C. S., & Heilig, M. A. (2008). Upregulation of voluntary alcohol intake, behavioral sensitivity to stress, and amygdala crhr1 expression following a history of dependence. *Biological Psychiatry*, 63(2), 139–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.01.010
- Spanagel, R., & Weiss, F. (1999). The dopamine hypothesis of reward: past and current status. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 22(11), 521–7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10529820
- Spiga, S., Talani, G., Mulas, G., Licheri, V., Fois, G. R., Muggironi, G., ... Diana, M. (2014). Hampered long-term depression and thin spine loss in the nucleus accumbens of ethanol-dependent rats. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111(35), E3745-54. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1406768111
- Stockwell, J., Chen, Z., Niazi, M., Nosib, S., & Cayabyab, F. S. (2016). Protein phosphatase role in adenosine A1 receptor-induced AMPA receptor trafficking and rat hippocampal neuronal damage in hypoxia/reperfusion injury. *Neuropharmacology*, 102, 254–265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.11.018
- Stuber, G. D., Britt, J. P., & Bonci, A. (2012). Optogenetic modulation of neural circuits that underlie reward seeking. *Biol Psychiatry*, 71(12), 1061–1067. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.11.010
- Swanson, L. W., & Cowan, W. M. (1977). An autoradiographic study of the organization of the efferet connections of the hippocampal formation in the rat. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 172(1), 49–84. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901720104
- Terrier, J., Luscher, C., & Pascoli, V. (2015). Cell-Type Specific Insertion of GluA2-Lacking AMPARs with Cocaine Exposure Leading to Sensitization, Cue-Induced Seeking and Incubation of Craving. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, (1740–634X (Electronic)), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2015.345
- Terrier, J., Lüscher, C., & Pascoli, V. (2016). Cell-Type Specific Insertion of GluA2-Lacking AMPARs with Cocaine Exposure Leading to Sensitization, Cue-Induced Seeking, and Incubation of Craving. *Neuropsychopharmacology : Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 41(7), 1779–89. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2015.345
- Thiele, T. E., & Navarro, M. (2014). "Drinking in the dark" (DID) procedures: A model

of binge-like ethanol drinking in non-dependent mice. *Alcohol*, 48(3), 235–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcohol.2013.08.005

- Thomas, M. J., Beurrier, C., Bonci, a, & Malenka, R. C. (2001). Long-term depression in the nucleus accumbens: a neural correlate of behavioral sensitization to cocaine. *Nature Neuroscience*, 4(12), 1217–1223. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn757
- Thomas, M. P., & Morrisett, R. A. (2000). Dynamics of NMDAR-mediated neurotoxicity during chronic ethanol exposure and withdrawal. *Neuropharmacology*, 39(2), 218– 226. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0028-3908(99)00107-0
- Tomie, A., Grimes, K. L., & Pohorecky, L. A. (2008). Behavioral characteristics and neurobiological substrates shared by Pavlovian sign-tracking and drug abuse. *Brain Research Reviews*, 58(1), 121–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2007.12.003
- Tomie, A., & Sharma, N. (2013). Pavlovian sign-tracking model of alcohol abuse. *Current Drug Abuse Reviews*, 6(3), 201–19. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24694108
- Valdez, G. R., Roberts, A. J., Chan, K., Davis, H., Brennan, M., Zorrilla, E. P., & Koob, G. F. (2002). Increased ethanol self-administration and anxiety-like behavior during acute ethanol withdrawal and protracted abstinence: regulation by corticotropinreleasing factor. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 26(10), 1494– 501. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ALC.0000033120.51856.F0
- Valjent, E., Bertran-Gonzalez, J., Hervé, D., Fisone, G., & Girault, J.-A. (2009). Looking BAC at striatal signaling: cell-specific analysis in new transgenic mice. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 32(10), 538–547. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2009.06.005
- van Huijstee, A. N., & Mansvelder, H. D. (2015). Glutamatergic synaptic plasticity in the mesocorticolimbic system in addiction. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 8, 466. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2014.00466
- Wang, Q., Chang, L., Rowan, M. J., & Anwyl, R. (2007). Developmental dependence, the role of the kinases p38 MAPK and PKC, and the involvement of tumor necrosis factor-R1 in the induction of mGlu-5 LTD in the dentate gyrus. *Neuroscience*, 144(1), 110–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.09.011
- Wassum, K. M., Ostlund, S. B., Maidment, N. T., & Balleine, B. W. (2009a). Distinct opioid circuits determine the palatability and the desirability of rewarding events. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(30), 12512–12517. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0905874106
- Wassum, K. M., Ostlund, S. B., Maidment, N. T., & Balleine, B. W. (2009b). Distinct opioid circuits determine the palatability and the desirability of rewarding events. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(30), 12512–7. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0905874106

- Weiss, F., Lorang, M. T., Bloom, F. E., & Koob, G. F. (1993). Oral alcohol selfadministration stimulates dopamine release in the rat nucleus accumbens: genetic and motivational determinants. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 267(1), 250–8. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8229752
- West, A. R., & Grace, A. A. (2002). Opposite influences of endogenous dopamine D1 and D2 receptor activation on activity states and electrophysiological properties of striatal neurons: studies combining in vivo intracellular recordings and reverse microdialysis. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 22(1), 294–304. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11756513
- Wilson, C. J., & Groves, P. M. (1980). Fine structure and synaptic connections of the common spiny neuron of the rat neostriatum: A study employing intracellular injection of horseradish peroxidase. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 194(3), 599–615. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.901940308
- Wise, R. A. (2004). Dopamine, learning and motivation. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 5(6), 483–494. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1406
- Wolf, M. E. (2002). Addiction: Making the Connection Between Behavioral Changes and Neuronal Plasticity in Specific Pathways. *Molecular Interventions*, 2(3), 146–157. https://doi.org/10.1124/mi.2.3.146
- Wolf, M. E. (2010). Regulation of AMPA Receptor Trafficking in the Nucleus Accumbens by Dopamine and Cocaine. *Neurotoxicity Research*, 18(3–4), 393–409. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12640-010-9176-0
- Wolf, M. E., & Tseng, K. Y. (2012). Calcium-permeable AMPA receptors in the VTA and nucleus accumbens after cocaine exposure: when, how, and why? *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 5, 72. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2012.00072
- Wright, C. I., Beijer, A. V, & Groenewegen, H. J. (1996). Basal amygdaloid complex afferents to the rat nucleus accumbens are compartmentally organized. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 16(5), 1877–93. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8774456
- Wu, D., Bacaj, T., Morishita, W., Goswami, D., Arendt, K. L., Xu, W., ... Südhof, T. C. (2017). Postsynaptic synaptotagmins mediate AMPA receptor exocytosis during LTP. *Nature*, 544(7650), 316–321. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21720
- Wu, X., Shi, M., Wei, C., Yang, M., Liu, Y., Liu, Z., ... Ren, W. (2012). Potentiation of synaptic strength and intrinsic excitability in the nucleus accumbens after 10 days of morphine withdrawal. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, 90(6), 1270–83. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.23025
- Yoneyama, N., Crabbe, J. C., Ford, M. M., Murillo, A., & Finn, D. A. (2008). Voluntary

ethanol consumption in 22 inbred mouse strains. *Alcohol (Fayetteville, N.Y.)*, 42(3), 149–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcohol.2007.12.006

- Zahm, D. S., & Brog, J. S. (1992). On the significance of subterritories in the "accumbens" part of the rat ventral striatum. *Neuroscience*, 50(4), 751–67. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1448200
- Zhang, T. A., Hendricson, A. W., & Morrisett, R. A. (2005). Dual synaptic sites of D1dopaminergic regulation of ethanol sensitivity of NMDA receptors in nucleus accumbens. *Synapse*, 58(1), 30–44. https://doi.org/10.1002/syn.20181
- Zhang, X., Lee, T. H., Davidson, C., Lazarus, C., Wetsel, W. C., & Ellinwood, E. H. (2007). Reversal of Cocaine-Induced Behavioral Sensitization and Associated Phosphorylation of the NR2B and GluR1 Subunits of the NMDA and AMPA Receptors. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 32(2), 377–387. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1301101
- Zhou, L., Furuta, T., & Kaneko, T. (2003). Chemical organization of projection neurons in the rat accumbens nucleus and olfactory tubercle. *Neuroscience*, *120*(3), 783–98. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12895518
- Zhu, H., Pleil, K. E., Urban, D. J., Moy, S. S., Kash, T. L., & Roth, B. L. (2014). Chemogenetic inactivation of ventral hippocampal glutamatergic neurons disrupts consolidation of contextual fear memory. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 39(8), 1880– 1892. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2014.35